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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED (“STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk
may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of

investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will

be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for the contents
of this annual report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for

any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this annual report.

This annual report, for which the directors (“Directors”) of WLS Holdings Limited (“Company” or “WLS”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of the Stock Exchange (“GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The
Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and beliet: (1) the information contained
in this annual report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive; and (2) there are no other

matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this annual report misleading.



[ % 1B 3 75 | i 16 &

TEBFRA R 2t A M — B 2
TEMRFTFR LB > AN E ok g ﬁlﬁjﬁ’i%)&%"

B e 42 S AT PR I VR W R 2 2 0 i TR IR
WOy IS ERR G R TH] &
SRR EINT EE - B [ ENACRE
TR IE > J1oR5E 2 o [N IR e — B B ST
FLR R KA 25 ko A B E AR R e T 2
B R ] e

e R R A1 T ORI b ) A R - O R O B
% T R R T 2 A I A T 9 S )

BRAP iy B A
OUR MISSION

— 0 O B~ =

40
59
72
78
79

80
82
84
87
199
200

FRAMY i B iy
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“CIRCLE AND SQUARE” CONCEPT

In this intensely competitive world, the winners are those who take the
initiative to build a solid foundation and dedicate efforts on self improvement

and enhance business efficiencies.

WLS Holdings Limited, with excellent business acumen, takes a proactive
stance on incorporating the “Circle and Square” concept into its corporate
mission. The underlying meaning of having a “Circle” encompassing a
square symbolises the importance of offering smooth services and flexibility
to external parties, and “Square” encompassed by a circle symbolises the
requirement of cautiousness and striving after perfection. That is why
WLS shall adhere unwaveringly to its principle of perpetual emphasis and

continuous improvement on “Safety, Quality and Efficiency”.

WLS practises and preaches the theory of “Circle and Square” by integrating
flexibility into every step of its operations as well as abiding by every legal

regulation and restriction.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

#E M H =+ H 1k B B4 FE Financial Year ended 30 April
= —EFE AR

2020 2019 2018
T T T T T
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
5l
(Restated)
BEH Turnover 150,206 139,516% 179,503* 152,175
5 56 T Js 4E Loss before taxation (12,929)* (113,991)* (50,120)* (122,469)
ES/NCIESEEDN Loss for the year
JHE Ak A 4 B e 48 attributable to the owners
of the Company (13,750)* (103,134)* (46,604)* (109,788)
R EE (Al Loss per share (HK cent)
— HEAS e — basic and diluted (0.096)* (0.718)* (0.324)* (0.848)
* From continuing operations

e oA A

6 EREKRERAT WLS Holdings Limited
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JEREERRABR AR WLS Holdings Limited

I have pleasure to present the annual results of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 30 April 2021
(“Year”).

During the Year, the construction industry in Hong Kong grew steadily
following the completion of several major infrastructure projects. Despite
fierce competition for construction contracts as well as ageing workforce and
continuous labour shortage, we had been able to maintain our leading position
in the industry. A total of 28 new projects (2020: 12 new projects) were
awarded during the Year, of which the notable projects are comprehensive
development of LRT Tin Wing Stop, Tin Shui Wai, Superstructure &
Associated Works for the expansion of United Christian Hospital (Phrase II),
and residential development at 33 To Shek Street, Shatin, which are worth a

total contract sum of approximately HK$89.3 million.

During the Year, in respect of the fitting out services, we won 5 new projects,
with a total contract sum of approximately HK$6.4 million. These projects
included interior design works for the units of commercial and residential
buildings such as 20A Solaria Tower A, 19E Perth Garden, 1502 Imperial
Court, G22 Empire Centre and Lotus Villa A.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

The turnover of scaffolding, fitting out and other auxiliary services for
construction and buildings work segment increased by approximately 4.2% for
the Year.

Our money lending operations remained stable during the Year, contributing
approximately HK$51.8 million to our Group’s turnover, which is representing
an increase of approximately 15.5% as compared with the previous financial
year (“Last Year”). The profit margin of our money lending business was also
maintained at a relatively high level which has boosted the Group’s overall
gross profit margin to approximately 48.0%. Without question, this business

segment was one of the key profit drivers of the Group in the Year.

On 11 December 2019, the Company, as vendor, and an independent third
party (“Purchaser”), as purchaser, entered into a conditional sale and purchase
agreement (“SPA”), pursuant to which the Company has agreed to dispose of
the entire share capital of Bright Advantage Limited (“Bright Advantage”)
and OX Financial Group Limited (“OX Financial Group”) (“Disposal”).
Bright Advantage and OX Financial Group respectively own the entire
issued share capital of OX Financial Securities Limited (“OX Securities”), a
company licensed to carry out type 1 (dealing in securities) regulated activity
under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (“SFO”), and OX Financial Assets Management Limited (“OX
Assets Management”), a company licensed to conduct type 4 (advising on
securities) and type 9 (asset management) regulated activities under the SFO.
In view of unfavourable market sentiment, it is believed that our strategy of
broadening business portfolio through developing the business of securities
brokerage and margin financing operations would be even more challenging,
and adjusting the overall corporate strategy to concentrating on our principal
businesses through the Disposal would be more beneficial to the Group as a
whole. Pursuant to the SPA, completion of the Disposal is conditional upon,
among other matters, the approval of the Securities and Futures Commission
(“SFC”) for the Purchaser (and his nominees (if any)) to become substantial
shareholder(s) of OX Financial Group and Bright Advantage under the SFO
having been obtained. As at the date of this report, such approval has been
obtained and the Disposal has been completed on 17 December 2020. Details
of the Disposal are set out in the announcements of the Company dated 11
December 2019 and 17 December 2020. Each of Bright Advantage, OX
Financial Group, OX Securities and OX Assets Management has ceased to
be a subsidiary of the Company and the Group has ceased its business in
the segment of securities brokerage and margin financing since the date of

completion of the Disposal.
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EEZERARAET WLS Holdings Limited

Our assets management business declined for the Year. This business segment
generated revenue of approximately HK$1.8 million, representing a decrease
of approximately 9.1% as compared with the Last Year due to the outbreak of
coronavirus disease 2019 (“COVID-19”) and the tightening control of fund

transfer from China to Hong Kong.

Looking ahead, the Group is prudently optimistic about its prospects for the
coming year, at the same time cautious of the economic uncertainties brought
by the outbreak of COVID-19 for the Year. The COVID-19 pandemic has
created uncertainties to the global economy, which may affect the business
operations and financial conditions of the Group in the foreseeable future.
Nonetheless, we expect 2021 to be a busy time for the construction industry.
Unfortunately, it is foreseeable that there will continuously be a shortage of
about 10,000 to 15,000 skilled workers in the construction industry. To cope
with these challenges, we will continue to promote the use of the “Pik Lik”
brand scaffolding system to help improve overall efficiency while boosting the

revenue and market share of our scaffolding segment.

In view of the COVID-19 pandemic, we will review our business strategies
and plans from time to time and flexibly adjust to the conditions in times of

economic uncertainties.

In conclusion, on behalf of the board (“Board”) of the Directors, I wish to
thank our management team and all staff members for their dedication, hard
work and commitment to the prosperity of our Group. I also extend special
gratitude to our business partners and shareholders as well for their dedicated

support over the past year.

So Yu Shing

Chairman

29 July 2021
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OVERVIEW

During the year ended 30 April 2021 (“Year”), the Group recorded an increase
in the Group’s total revenue for the Year from continuing operations of
approximately HK$150.2 million, representing an increase of approximately
7.7% as compared with the year ended 30 April 2020 (“Last Year”). Net
loss attributable to the owners of the Company for the Year from continuing
operations was approximately HK$13.8 million, representing a significant

decrease of approximately 86.6% as compared with Last Year.

The operations and reportable segments for the Year were presented as (i)
scaffolding, fitting out and other auxiliary services for construction and
buildings work, (ii) money lending business, (iii) securities investment
business, and (iv) assets management business. During the Year, the Group
also reclassified the operating results of the segment of securities brokerage
and margin financing as discontinued operation in the consolidated financial

statements of the Group.

The detailed business and financial review of each business segment is stated

below.
BUSINESS REVIEW

Scaffolding, Fitting out and Other Auxiliary Services for
Construction and Buildings Work

The scaffolding, fitting out and other auxiliary services for construction
and buildings work was the largest business segment for the Year. This
segment includes scaffolding services, fitting out services and other auxiliary
services for construction and buildings work. For the Year, revenue from
this segment was approximately HK$96.6 million, representing an increase
of approximately HK$3.9 million as compared with Last Year (Last Year:
approximately HK$92.7 million), which was due to the Group lower the
construction contract price to bid more new construction contracts and has
awarded a total of 28 new construction contracts during the Year (Last Year:

12 new construction contracts).
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EEZERARAET WLS Holdings Limited

Scaffolding Services

In recent years, a number of large-scale infrastructure projects have been
carried out by the HKSAR to boost the construction industry and well-being
of the society. For this purpose, a multi-pronged strategy has been adopted by
the government to maintain a steady and sustainable land supply with the aim

to meet the continuing housing needs.

On the other hand, in the past few years, the entire scaffolding industry
encountered the major difficulty of shortage in supply of skilled workers
and experienced personnel. Such shortage resulted in rising labour costs and
diminishing profit margins throughout the industry, which further intensified
competition within the scaffolding sector. However, it is worth mentioning
that the Group’s patented scaffolding system, which is known as “Pik-Lik”,
has played a crucial role in saving manpower and enhancing efficiency in the

industry.

Leveraging the widespread recognition of the impeccable quality of services
and the strong relationships nurtured with clientele, the Group receives
positive feedback and prominent business support and takes pride in being one
of the leading scaffolding service providers in Hong Kong. During the Year,
the Group provided scaffolding services to 65 ongoing projects, 21 of which

were completed on schedule and 28 new contracts were awarded.
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Project portfolio of scaffolding services (as of 30 April 2021)

Residential Development of 34-38 Belcher’s Street

Repairment and Maintenance works at House 12, 63 Deep Water Bay
Road

Repairment and Maintenance works at House 12, 8 Severn Road, The
Peak

Additional & Alteration Works at House 8, Mount Nicholson Road
Commercial Development at 98 How Ming Street, Kwun Tong
Commercial Development at YLTL532, Tung Tau Industrial Area, Yuen
Long

Comprehensive Hotel Development at Lai Ying Street, Cheung Sha Wan
Comprehensive Redevelopment at 138 Carpenter Road, Kowloon
Comprehensive Redevelopment at 62C Robinson Road & 6 Seymour
Terrace

Enhanced Security Measures works at Yuen Long Yoho Mall I & 11
Industrial Development at Tsuen Wan

Comprehensive Development of Jockey Club One Health Tower for City
University of Hong Kong

Comprehensive Development of LRT Tin Wing Stop Tin Shui Wai
Additional and Alternation Works at Millennium City 6 392 Kwun Tong
Road

Property Development at Tung Chau Street and 1-5 Kweilin Street
Public Housing Development at Tsing Hung Road, Tsing Yi

Public Housing Development of Lei Yue Mun Phase 4 at Yan Wing
Street, Yau Tong

Redevelopment of Nissin Food Factory Silo System, 19, 21-23 Dai
Shing Street, Tai Po

Redevelopment of Island School

Redevelopment of Khalsa Diwan Hong Kong (Sikh Temple)

Residential Development at 195 Prince Edward Road West
Residential Development at 33 To Shek Street, Shatin
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EEZERARAET WLS Holdings Limited

o Residential Development at Lohas Park (Phrase 10)
. Residential Development at No 3 Off Anderson Road, Kwun Tong
. Residential Redevelopment at No 233-235 Prince Edward Road West

. Residential Development at Parc Inverness — House E
. Residential Development at Reclamation Street/Shan Tung Street, Mong
Kok

. Residential Development at Wong Ma Kok

. Residential Development at Yau Tong Inland Lot No. 44

3 Residential Development of Church Facilities, Residential Care Home
& Senior Hostel at 17A & B Ventris Road

. Public Housing Development of On Muk Street Phase 1, Shek Mun

. Superstructure & Associated Works for the expansion of United
Christian Hospital (Phrase II)

. Repairment and Maintenance work at World Trade Center

D Repair, Maintenance, Alteration and Addition work at Yuen Long Yoho
Mall I & 11

Fitting out Services

For the fitting out services, the Group mainly provided fitting out services
to commercial institutions and luxury residence end-users during the Year.
The Group has also extended its scope of services to include ceiling work
and to date, it has been receiving encouraging feedback from its clients.
The competition of fitting out services is keen. The Group will continue to

proactively acquire new contracts.
Other Auxiliary Services for Construction and Buildings Work

For other auxiliary services for construction and buildings work, the Group
mainly provided gondolas, parapet railings and access equipment installation
and maintenance services. The Group has been actively cultivating its
gondolas rental business over the past several years and has gained positive
‘worth-of-mouth’ in the market. This has enabled the Group to secure a stable

number of new contracts despite the competitive local market.
Money Lending Business

Under the economic impacts from the outbreak of COVID-19 during the Year,
there is an increasing trend for more corporations and individuals to obtain
loans for financing to reduce the cash-flow pressure on them and lessen such
local economic impacts of the outbreak. With relatively attractive interest
returns on short-term and long-term loans during the Year, the Group recorded

an increase of the revenue in this segment during the Year.
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Leveraging on the management’s extensive network, several short-term and
long-term loan agreements have been secured during the Year. The business
segment recorded an increase of revenue during the year and the Group
recorded a turnover of approximately HK$51.8 million for the Year (Last
Year: approximately HK$44.8 million). The principal amount of the loans
granted ranged from HK$0.2 million to HK$25 million with interest rates
ranging from 7.0% to 40.5% per annum during the Year. As at 30 April 2021,
approximately 70% of the Group’s net loan and interest receivables were
unsecured. The remaining loan were secured by listed companies shares,
properties in Hong Kong or guarantors. Further details of the loan and interest
receivables are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements in

this report.

All loans and loan agreements under the Group’s money lending business have
been granted and approved in compliance with the Money Lending Guidelines
(“Guidelines”) and the Money Lending Procedure Manual (“Procedure
Manual”) of the Group. The Guidelines provide the policies to be observed by
the Group for its money lending business. The objective for the money lending
business is to earn interest income to generate profits for the Group whilst
avoiding incurrence of bad debts. The Guidelines also provide references or
specific requirements for setting of interest rates of the loan, the tenure of the
loan and the credit assessment and approval process of each loan. Each loan
application will be considered and approved by the Board on case by case
basis. The Board will usually take into account of the applicant’s creditability,
reputation, financial status, the value of the security, the applicant’s past
repayment record with the Group, and the proposed tenure, principal amount
and interest rate of the loan to consider whether a loan application shall be

approved and whether a security/guarantee is needed or adequate for a loan.

The Procedure Manual provides the procedures to be observed by the Group
for its money lending business. In brief, the intending borrower first fills in
an application form or the intending borrower communicates in person with
the officer of Gold Medal Hong Kong Limited (“Gold Medal”) (an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group and a licensed money lender in Hong
Kong under the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), and which is responsible for operating the money lending business
of the Group). The officer will then collect documents from the intending
borrower for client identification and verification, and has to confirm/enquire
if the borrower is a connected person of the Group as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules (“GEM Listing Rules”). The application form will then be
reviewed and/or approved by any one director of Gold Medal. The senior
management will draft the loan documents in accordance with the terms
specified in the approved application form. The draft loan documents together
with the Memorandum for Credit Analysis prepared by the responsible officer
of the loan application will be passed to the Board for final approval. Once the
loan is approved and granted, the responsible officer has to report the status
of the loan repayment monthly and immediately report to the Directors if any

default repayment is noted.
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EEZERARAET WLS Holdings Limited

Securities Investment Business

In order to capture possible returns from the financial market, the Group has
formed the investment committee in year 2015/2016 and continued investing
in Hong Kong-listed securities during the Year. Due diligence was conducted
on every contemplated investment and each investment was taken into serious
consideration to ensure quality risk control and maximise shareholders’

benefits.

The Group recorded a net gain of approximately HK$17.6 million (Last Year:
net loss of approximately HK$17.8 million) for its investment portfolio for the
Year, which was mainly due to the upward trend of the stock market in Hong
Kong. The Group foresees that the global economy will be getting better in
year 2021/2022 as a result of the vaccine coming out for COVID-19 pandemic.
The investment committee will continue to monitor the Group’s investment

portfolio closely in order to maximum shareholders’ returns.

Assets Management Business

Following the acquisition of the entire issued share capital of Blue Pool
Ventures Limited (“Blue Pool”), the holding company of Mass Fidelity
Asset Management Limited (“Mass Fidelity”), a licensed insurance broker
and registered MPF Corporate Intermediary in Hong Kong, the Group had
commenced the business of assets management in March 2018. For the Year,
the assets management business recorded a turnover of approximately HK$1.8
million (Last Year: HK$2.0 million) due to the outbreak of the COVID-19 and
the tightening control of fund transfer from China to Hong Kong.

Disposal of OX Securities and OX Assets Management

On 11 December 2019, the Company as vendor entered into a sale and
purchase agreement (the “SPA”) in respect of the Disposal with Mr. Tsang
Pui Lan Patrick, an independent third party (i.e. the Purchaser), as purchaser,
pursuant to which the Company conditionally agreed to (i) sell the entire
issued share capital of Bright Advantage Limited (“Bright Advantage™) and
OX Financial Group Limited (“OX Financial Group”), each a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company; and (ii) assign the benefit of the loans owing
by each of Bright Advantage and OX Financial Group to the Company as at
completion of the SPA, to the Purchaser at a consideration as determined in

accordance with the terms of the SPA (the “Disposal”).
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Bright Advantage and OX Financial Group respectively own the entire
issued share capital of OX Financial Securities Limited (“OX Securities”), a
company licensed to carry out type 1 (dealing in securities) regulated activity
under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong)(“SFO”), and OX Financial Assets Management Limited (“OX Assets
Management”), a company licensed to conduct type 4 (advising on securities)

and type 9 (asset management) regulated activities under the SFO.

The completion of the Disposal is conditional upon completion of the
conditions precedent as stated in the SPA being satisfied (or being waived)
on or before the long stop date, which is the date falling on expiry of 12
calendar months after the date of the SPA, or such later date as the Purchaser
and the Company may agree in writing. The aforesaid conditions precedent
require, among other matters, the approval of the SFC for the Purchaser (and
his nominees (if any)) to become substantial shareholder(s) of OX Financial
Group and Bright Advantage under the SFO having been obtained. As at the
date of this report, such approval has been obtained and the Disposal has been
completed on 17 December 2020. Details of the Disposal are set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 11 December 2019 and 17 December
2020.

Each of Bright Advantage, OX Financial Group, OX Securities and OX Assets
Management has ceased to be a subsidiary of the Company and the Group
has ceased its business in the segment of securities brokerage and margin

financing since the date of completion of the Disposal.

The operating results of the segment of securities brokerage and margin
financing was reclassified as discontinued operation during the Year which are

set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements in this report.
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EEZERARAET WLS Holdings Limited

IMPACT CAUSED BY THE OUTBREAK OF
COVID-19

Our business operations and financial conditions are affected by the outbreak
of COVID-19 during the Year. Below are the relevant analyses for our two
largest business segments — scaffolding, fitting out and other auxiliary services

for construction and buildings work and money lending:

Scaffolding, Fitting Out and Other Auxiliary Services for
Construction and Buildings Work:

During the Year, since the operation of the Government of HKSAR has been
limited by various measures for prevention of the spread of COVID-19, the
number of new construction projects and contracts approved by the relevant
government department has decreased. The delivery process of construction
materials imported from mainland China was also delayed by the outbreak
of COVID-19 and enhanced border control for prevention of disease. In
addition, less workers are available in the market due to travel restrictions,
which further slowed down the progress of existing construction projects.
Competition within the construction industry has become even more intense

during the Year as there are less new projects in the market.

In order to lower the affects by the COVID-19 as above, the Group has
reviewed and flexibly adjusted the business strategies, which is to lower the
construction contract price to bid more new construction contracts during the
Year. The Group has awarded a total of 28 new construction contracts during
the Year (Last Year: 12 new construction contracts) and it leads the revenue
from this segment increased by approximately HK$3.9 million as compared
with Last Year.

Money Lending:

Under the economic impacts of COVID-19, there is an increasing trend for
more corporations and individuals to obtain loans for financing to reduce
the cash-flow pressure on them and lessen such impacts. Hence, our money
lending business recorded a increase in revenue during the Year. On the other
hand, due to difficulties in repayment by customers caused by the economic
impacts of COVID-19, there was a recognition of impairment losses arising
from expected credit losses and write-off on loan receivable in the amount
of approximately HK$54.4 million and HK$6.2 million respectively for the
Year. Despite such difficulties, the Group will continue putting efforts in the
collection procedure of loans receivable. For details of our money lending
business, please refer to the section headed “Management Discussion and

Analysis — Business Review — Money Lending Business” in this report.
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BUSINESS OUTLOOK

As we entered calendar year 2020/2021, the outbreak of COVID-19 together
with the challenges posed by the political unrest in Hong Kong during the
Year mean a double blow to the Hong Kong economy and further contribute to

a downward trend in the Hong Kong property market.

The impacts of COVID-19 have caused pressure worldwide and dampened
the development of various industries, with no exception for the scaffolding
industry. In the past decade, the scaffolding industry has become increasingly
competitive. On the one hand, the costs have become high together with
rising labour costs, but productivity has suffered decline. In the face of a
phenomenon of ageing workers, young generation unwilling to join the
industry due to hard labour work and higher requirement of technological
qualifications, which has affected recruitment of talents in the industry, and
with heavier government regulations, without favourable factors such as
labour imports, the carrying capacity of the industry may be challenged. These

reflect a lack of confidence in the prospect of the scaffolding industry.

On the other hand, in response to demand from market development, many
contractors have adopted the use of iron scaffolds instead of bamboo scaffolds
nowadays. The general higher durability of iron scaffolds and the possibility
of calculating load bearing capacity have shortened the time for training of
workers. Hence, bamboo scaffolds may be eliminated in Hong Kong in the
future. According to recent trend, modern iron scaffolds have been adopted
by the industry, especially for high-end shopping malls which are aware of
exterior appearance. Therefore, the future direction of the scaffolding business

will be led by the adoption of mixed scaffolds and iron scaffolds.
The Group has been actively seeking profitable projects over the past several

years in order to diversify its business portfolio and eventually mitigate risks

from the competitive construction market.
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EEZERARAET WLS Holdings Limited

After a few years of serious efforts to develop its money lending operations,
the money lending business has generated stable income for the Year. Despite
difficulties in repayment by customers during the Year, the Group will continue
putting efforts in the collection procedure of loans receivable. The Group’s
Guidelines and Procedure Manual for the money lending business were issued
with an aim to comply with the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) and other relevant laws and the licensing conditions and
guidelines and other publications as issued by the Companies Registry from
time to time. The Group will continue to update the Guidelines and Procedure

Manual to ensure stricter compliance with the aforementioned.

During the Year, Mass Fidelity, a licensed insurance broker and registered
MPF Corporate Intermediary in Hong Kong principally engaged in assets
management, has recorded a decrease in revenue, due to the outbreak of the
COVID-19 and the tightening control of fund transfer from China to Hong
Kong.

Looking ahead to 2020/2021, in view of present economic uncertainty and
difficulties, the Group is reviewing its existing assets structure and business
strategies and may make adjustment to our existing assets structure, with the
aim to consolidate our resources, so as to be flexibly prepared for uncertainties
in the future. Meanwhile, in order to enhance our competitiveness, the Group
will look for opportunities to revitalise the scaffolding business to keep
up with the recent development and trend in the industry, in particular the
declining use of bamboo scaffolds. At the same time, the Group will continue
focusing on those business segments that generate higher profit margins and
show ample growth potential such as money lending operations. The Group
will strictly adhere to its cost control policy, and swiftly adjust business
strategies of its scaffolding business in response to ever-changing market

dynamics in order to generate better financial returns for shareholders.

Finally, we will actively explore all suitable investment opportunities to
diversify the Group’s business horizons and will work hard to strengthen
overall business development. The Group’s business strategy is in line with
the general direction of the government’s overall strategic development plans
for property construction, infrastructure investment and financial market

development.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW AND ANALYSIS

During the Year, the Group recorded a turnover of approximately HK$150.2
million (Last Year: approximately HK$139.5 million), representing an increase
of approximately 7.7% as compared with that of Last Year. The Company
recorded a net loss attributable to its owners from continuing operations
of approximately HK$13.8 million for the Year (Last Year: approximately
HK$103.1 million). The significant decrease in net loss was mainly due to (i)
the additional government subsidy in respect of COVID-19 of approximately
HK$4.7 million; (ii) one-off gain on disposal of the subsidiaries of
approximately HK$12.3 million; (iii) a significant increase in the fair value
gain incurred in the Group’s securities investment portfolios by approximately
HK$35.4 million while the fair value loss incurred in the Group’s securities
investment portfolios of approximately HK$17.8 million was recorded for
Last Year.; and (iv) no impairment loss recognised in respect of goodwill
and intangible asset during the Year when compared to the impairment loss
recognised in respect of goodwill and intangible asset of HK$35.0 million in
Last Year.

The increase in turnover was mainly due to the revenue increased in generated
from the segments of scaffolding, fitting out and other auxiliary services for

construction and buildings work and money lending during the Year.

For the Year, gross profit of the Group increased by approximately 22.4%
to approximately HK$72.0 million as compared with Last Year (Last Year:
approximately HK$58.8 million) and gross profit margin increased to
approximately 48.0% (Last Year: approximately 42.1%). Gross profit margin
of the Group increased mainly because a comparatively more sharing of the
Group’s revenue for the Year came from its money lending business, which

had a relatively high profit margin.

During the Year, the operating and administrative expenses decreased from
approximately HK$44.0 million in the Last Year to approximately HK$42.7
million due to the decrease in the patent expenses by approximately HK$1.2
million compared with Last Year (Last Year: approximately HK$1.2 million).
Finance costs slightly decreased by approximately HK$20,000 compared with
Last Year (Last Year: approximately HK$9.8 million). The Group continued
to adopt its policy of vigilant cost control for the ensuing periods. Funds
generated from financing activities strengthened the working capital of the
Group in anticipation of further investment and diversification opportunities in

the future.
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EEZERARAET WLS Holdings Limited

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
GEARING RATIO

During the Year, the Group financed its operations by banking facilities,
finance leases provided by banks, loan from a financial institution and

proceeds from issue of coupon bonds.

As at 30 April 2021, the Group’s equity attributable to the owners of the
Company, current assets, net current assets and total assets were approximately
HK$521.4 million (30 April 2020: approximately HK$537.6 million),
approximately HK$416.6 million (30 April 2020: approximately HK$333.4
million), approximately HK$214.9 million (30 April 2020: approximately
HKS$130.1 million) and approximately HK$711.1 million (30 April 2020:
approximately HK$732.1 million) respectively.

As at 30 April 2021, the Group’s bank borrowings and bank overdrafts were
approximately HK$47.9 million (30 April 2020: approximately HK$45.1
million) and approximately HK$21.8 million (30 April 2020: approximately
HK$19.4 million) respectively. As at 30 April 2021, the Group’s other loan
and other borrowings was HK$80 million (30 April 2020: HK$82.0 million).
The lease liabilities was approximately HK$4.1 million (30 April 2020:
HK$9.2 million). As at 30 April 2021, other loan and other borrowings
included (i) a 3-year 8.5% coupon unlisted straight bond of HK$20 million
issued by Gold Medal, on 28 October 2019; (ii) a 5-year 8% coupon bond of
HK$42 million issued by Gold Medal, on 31 October 2020; and (iii) the surety
bond of HK$18 million was issued on 16 September 2020 was with no interest

bearing.

As at 30 April 2021, the Group’s bank balances and cash in general accounts
amounted to approximately HK$44.1 million (30 April 2020: approximately
HK$78.3 million). As at 30 April 2021, the Group’s gearing ratio (total debts
divided by equity attributable to the owners of the Company then multiplied
by 100%) was approximately 28.8% (30 April 2020: approximately 27.5%).
For calculating the gearing ratios, total debts of the Group included bank
borrowings and bank overdrafts, other loan and other borrowings and lease

liabilities.
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As at 30 April 2021, most of the Group’s bank balances and cash, bank
borrowings, bank overdrafts and other borrowings were denominated in Hong
Kong dollars. All the bank borrowings and bank overdrafts bore interest at
variable market rates ranging from 1.64% to 5.25% per annum (2020: 3.34%
to 5.25% per annum) and were repayable on demand or within one year. The
lease liabilities had an average lease term ranging from one to three years
(30 April 2020: two to four years) and all such leases had interest rates fixed at
the contract date and fixed repayment bases. The other borrowings represented
(i) the coupon bond issued in 2019 bearing interest at 8.5% per annum and
the coupon bond issued in 2020 bearing interest at 8% per annum, which will
mature on the third and fifth anniversary date of the issue date, respectively.
Both of the coupon bonds were secured by the Company’s corporate guarantee
and the bondholder may request early redemption of the bond after one year
of the issuance date of the bond; (ii) the surety bond issued in 2020 with no
interest bearing which will mature on the second anniversary date of the issue
date.

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT OF LOAN AND
INTEREST RECEIVABLES AS AT 30 APRIL 2021

As detailed in notes 4, 24, and 47 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Directors assessed the provision for impairment of loan and interest
receivables based on the estimation of expected credit loss (“ECL”) under
a “three-stage” model. In developing the loss allowance of loan and interest
receivables, the Directors use judgement in making the assumptions about the
probability of default and loss given default with reference to the historical
delinquency ratio of loans portfolio, repayment record, collateral values and

current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors.
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As at 30 April 2021, the Group’s net loan and interest receivables amounted
to approximately HK$472.2 million (2020: approximately HK$462.4 million).
Allowance for credit losses of loan and interest receivables under the ECL
model amounted to approximately HK$126.2 million (2020: approximately
HK$74.0 million) and net impairment loss arising from ECL for the amount
of approximately HK$54.4 million (2020: approximately HK$57.1 million).
Loan and interest receivables from a debtor with gross carrying amount of
approximately HK$6.2 million has been written off in full as at 30 April 2021,
which was due to the bankruptcy of a debtor during the Year. The Group has
commenced legal action against such debtor after default in repayment and in
January 2021, a judgement was granted in favour of the Group. Subsequently,
such debtor was declared bankrupt and the legal procedure to recover the loan

is still in process as at the date of this report.

Estimation of recoverability of loan and interest receivables

The Group assesses provision for impairment of loan and interest receivables
based on an estimate of the recoverability of these receivables. Provisions
are applied to loan and interest receivables where events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the balances may not be collectible. The
identification of impairment of loan and interest receivables under HKFRS 9
requires the use of estimates and judgement. Where the expectation is different
from the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying value of
receivables and provision for impairment losses in the period in which such
estimate has been changed. The Group uses judgement in making assumptions
and selecting the inputs to its ECL calculation, based on the Group’s past
history, existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at
the end of each reporting period. Further details of credit risk and impairment
assessment of the loan and interest receivables are disclosed in note 47 to the

consolidated financial statements.
Credit risk and impairment assessment
The impairment losses recognised for the year ended 30 April 2021 is the sum

of the impairment loss from impairment assessment on principal and interest

calculated respectively as follows:

AR 4 2Z W AR BT Al Impairment assessment on principal
Outstanding amount of X probability of default X loss given default X forward looking factor
principal as at 30 April 2021
ATEC—ENA=1THE x A X R R R X HIT O 1 TR 2%

ENCE P ok

EEZERARAET WLS Holdings Limited
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Impairment assessment on interest:

probability of default

ey
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X loss given default X forward looking factor
EAHI R HiJ I 1R %

The probability of default of each loan is determined on a case by
case basis based on each borrower’s repayment record, including but
not limited to the scheduled settlement date, actual settlement date,
settled and unsettled amount, number of past due days of the relevant
loan. As at 30 April 2021, the probability of default is derived from
the repayment record of the borrowers as at 30 April 2021 taking the
average figure of the following calculation for each loan as at 30 April
2021:

(Settled amount X number of +  (Unsettled amount x number of

days past due of the settled days past due of the unsettled
amount up to 30 April 2021/360

days/outstanding amount as at

amount)/360 days/outstanding
amount as at the scheduled

payment date the scheduled payment date

The loss given default of each loan represents the percentage of the loan
expected to be defaulted in the future, taking into account of the market

value of any security/guarantee provided for the relevant loan.

The forward looking factor of 1.02 is determined with reference to the
calculation by an independent valuer for the impairment assessment
under ECL model of loans receivable for the year ended 30 April 2021.

SHARE CAPITAL

The Company did not issue any shares or debentures during the Year.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the Year
(Last Year: nil).
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EEZERARAET WLS Holdings Limited

SEGMENT INFORMATION
Operating segments

The Group is organised into four operating segments — (i) scaffolding, fitting
out and other auxiliary services for construction and buildings work; (ii)
money lending business; (iii) securities investment business and (iv) assets

management business.
Geographical segments

Customers of all four segments of the Group are situated in Hong Kong.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 8 February 2021, WLS (BVI) Limited (“WLS (BVI)”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into the conditional sale and purchase
agreement (“S&P Agreement”) with Sun Wui Property Development Limited
(the “Buyer”), pursuant to which the WLS (BVI) conditionally agreed to sell
and assign the benefit of, 100,000 ordinary shares in the issued and fully
paid-up share capital of Wui Loong Holdings Company Limited (“Wui Loong
Holdings™), a wholly-owned subsidiary of WLS (BVI), (the “Sale Shares”),
and the Buyer agreed to purchase and take the assignment of, the Sale Shares

at the Consideration of approximately HK$75.9 million.

As the Buyer is ultimately beneficially owned by Mr. So Yu Shing, the
chairman of the Board and an executive Director, and Lai Yuen Mei, Rebecca,
an executive Director, the Buyer is therefore a connected person of the
Company under the GEM Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Disposal also
constitutes a connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules and is subject to the reporting, announcement, circular
and Independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

The S&P Agreement was in effect to dispose of the property of all those
11,438 equal undivided 750,000th shares of Aberdeen Inland Lot No. 423,
including 11 office units on the 10th floor of Southmark, No.11 Yip Hing
Street, Wong Chuk Hang, Hong Kong held by the Wui Loong Holdings (“the
Property”) through the disposal of the Sale Shares.
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The special general meeting of the Company was held on 23 April 2021 and
the Disposal has been completed on 31 May 2021. Details of the transaction
are set out in the announcements and circular of the Company dated
8 February 2021, 31 March 2021 and 31 May 2021. After completion of the
Disposal, Wui Loong Holdings has ceased to be a subsidiary of WLS (BVI).

Save as disclosed above and the Disposal disclosed under the paragraphs
headed “Disposal of OX Securities and OX Assets Management” in the
“Management Discussion and Analysis” section above, the Group did not have

disposal of subsidiaries during the Year.

INVESTMENTS

As at 30 April 2021, the equity instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) of the Group amounted to approximately
HK$9.9 million, representing approximately 1.4% of the Group’s audited total
assets as at 30 April 2021 and financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL”) of the Group amounted to approximately HK$64.6 million
representing approximately 9.1% of the Group’s total assets as at 30 April
2021.

These investments mainly include equity securities of 34 companies listed in
Hong Kong and 1 unlisted investment funds. None of these investments in the
portfolio at FVTOCI and FVTPL has a value of 5% or more of the Group’s
audited total assets as at 30 April 2021.

The Directors expect that the upward trend of the stock market in Hong Kong
would be continued in 2021 and 2022 which may motivate the performance
of the Group’s securities investments. Looking forward, the Board believes
that the performance of the securities investments of the Group will also be
dependent on the financial and operating performance of investee companies
and market sentiment which are affected by factors such as interest rate
movements, the political unrest in Hong Kong, the outbreak of COVID-19 and
performance of the macro economy. In order to mitigate the associated risk,
the Group will continuously remain cautious in the allocation of resources
and the identification and capture of appropriate securities investment
opportunities. It will review its investment strategy regularly and take

appropriate actions whenever necessary in response to changes in the market.
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EEZERARAET WLS Holdings Limited

DETAILS OF FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

On 21 September 2020, the Company entered into a non-legally binding
memorandum of understanding (“MOU”) with potential vendor (the “Potential
Vendor”) for the proposed acquisition part of the registered capital in % j}
Wiz 7 il 5 4E [ 45 PR A A (the “Target Company”) from the Potential Vendor.
The Target Company is a company incorporated in the People’s Republic
of China and its principal activities are: (i) the provision of corporate
consultancy services; (ii) research and development of the new infrastructure
technology; (iii) operation and management of the big data platform; and (iv)
operation and development of the social platform. Details are set out in the

announcement of the Company dated 21 September 2020.

On 28 April 2021, the Company entered into a strategic cooperation agreement
(the “Strategic Cooperation Agreement”) with Dowin Financial Holdings
Group Limited, an internationally leading financial system platform service
provider. According to the Strategic Cooperation Agreement, both parties have
reached a preliminary cooperation to jointly invest, establish a company for or
by other cooperation manner in trust, insurance, fund, wealth management and
other business and capital in relation to technology finance at an appropriate
time. Both parties will develop a comprehensive strategic cooperation based
on the principle of long-term strategic cooperation, including but not limited
to equity investment, debt investment and other investments. Both parties will
continue to expand the scope of cooperation according to market conditions
and may hold senior management meetings from time to time to discuss the
mode, direction and progress of the cooperation and other matters relating
to the cooperation projects. Details are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 28 April 2021.

The Group is still in the course of negotiation on the detailed terms of the
proposed acquisition and the future plan as above and it may or may not lead
to the entering into of the formal agreement. The proposed acquisition and
the future plan contemplated thereunder may or may not proceed. Further

announcement will be made by the Company as and when appropriate.

Save as the aforesaid and disclosed in the paragraphs headed “Business
Outlook” above, the Group does not have any future plans for material

investments or capital assets as at the date of this report.
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 30 April 2021, the Group has pledged the following assets as security

for the general banking facilities granted to the Group:

R4 TR TR

2021 2020

T# T THs T

HK$°000 HK$°000

wEwE Investment properties - 48,900

TS+ b Leasehold land and buildings - 6,210

JAEE o T K Trade receivables 15,054 17,738

GHREE Contract assets 813 509
O3B By AR AR Assets classified as held for sale

—EYE — Investment properties 44,400 -

— & b R A — Leasehold land and buildings 5,981 =
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In addition, the Group’s Right-of-use assets of motor vehicles for the amount

of HK$995,000 are secured by the lessor’s charge over the right-of-use assets.
TREASURY POLICY

The Group consistently employs a prudent treasury policy during its
development and generally finances its operations and business development
with internally generated resources and equity and/or debt financing activities.
The Group also adopts flexible and prudent fiscal policies to effectively
manage the Group’s assets and liabilities and strengthen the Group’s financial

position.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE AND INTEREST RATE
EXPOSURE

Most of the assets and liabilities of the Group are denominated in Hong Kong
dollars. The Group did not use any financial instrument for hedging purpose
during the Year, and did not have any outstanding hedging instrument as at
30 April 2021. When appropriate, for example at times when interest rate
or exchange rate are uncertain or volatile, the Group will consider the use
of hedging instruments including interest rate swap and foreign currency
forward contract to manage the Group’s exposures to interest rate and foreign

exchange rate fluctuations.
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EEZERARAET WLS Holdings Limited

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Directors are aware that the Group is exposed to various risks, including
risks which are specific to the Group or the industries in which the Group
operates. The Directors have established a policy to ensure that significant
risks which may adversely affect the Group are identified, reported, monitored,
and managed on a continuous basis. Details of the risk management and
control systems of the Group are set out in the paragraphs headed “Risk
Management and Internal Control” in the “Corporate Governance Report”
section of this report. The Group has identified the following risks that
are considered to be significant to the Group and which may adversely
and/or materially affect the Group’s businesses, financial conditions, results of

operations and growth prospects as at the date of this report:
(a) Labour shortage

The Group’s scaffolding business and fitting out services business are
labour-intensive. In the event that there is a significant increase in the
costs and demand of labour and the Group has to retain its labour by
increasing their wages, the Group’s staff costs and/or subcontracting
costs will increase thereby lower the profitability. Further, if the Group
or the Group’s subcontractors fail to retain the Group’s existing labour
and/or recruit sufficient labour on a timely manner to cope with the need
of the Group’s existing or future projects, the Group may not be able
to complete the projects on schedule and within budget. The Group’s

operations and profitability may be adversely affected.

In order to alleviate such risk, the Group is committed to providing our
employees with a safe, pleasant and healthy working environment and

competitive remuneration package with a view to retaining our labour.

(b) Failure to bid new contract

The Group’s scaffolding business relies on successful tenders of
contracts for scaffolding works and/or associated works. Given the non-
recurring nature of these contract awards and that the Group does not
have long-term commitment with its customers, the number of contracts
awarded to the Group may vary from year to year. Upon completion
of the contracts on hand, the Group’s financial performance may be
adversely affected if the Group is unable to secure new tenders or obtain
new contract awards with comparable contract sums or at all. In order
to alleviate such risk, the Group believes that it can leverage on the
existing relationship with the major customers to further develop new

business opportunities in the future.
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(d)

(e)

Competition

The industries in which the Group operates are highly competitive,
for example, the scaffolding industry and the money-lending industry.
Areas of competition include contract price, production costs, marketing
campaign, customer services and interest rates for money lending. If
the Group does not respond timely to cope with the market conditions,
it may adversely affect the consumer demand for the Group’s services
and products, the reputation of the Group and the Group’s financial

performance.
Financial

The Group is exposed to financial risks, including credit, interest rate,
currency, liquidity and other price risks. In addition, the Group’s equity
instruments at FVTOCI and financial assets at FVTPL are measured at
fair value at the end of each reporting period. Therefore, the Group is
exposed to equity security price risk due to the fluctuation of fair value
of equity instruments at FVTOCI and financial assets at FVTPL.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between shareholder return and a sound
capital position. Adjustments are made, when necessary, to maintain an

optimal capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

Technology

The Group relies on information technology systems and networks,
including internet and third-party hosted services for the Group’s
operation, inventory management and financial reporting. Any material
disruption or slowdown of information technology systems, such as
a disruption or slowdown caused by failure to successfully upgrade
the Group’s systems, system failures, viruses or cyber attacks could
cause a loss of data or operation interruption. Therefore, the Group will
continuously monitor and update, if necessary, relevant information
technology systems and networks so as to reduce failure and keep up

with the development of technology.
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EEZERARAET WLS Holdings Limited

(f) Employees

The Group’s success and ability to grow depends largely on its ability
to attract, train, retain, and motivate highly skilled and qualified
managerial, workers, marketing, administrative, operating, and technical
personnel. The loss of key personnel could materially and adversely

affect the Group’s prospects and operations.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At 30 April 2021, the Group did not have any material contingent liabilities
(30 April 2020: nil).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 30 April 2021, the total number of full-time employees of the Group was
81 (30 April 2020: 90). Total staff costs (including Directors’ emoluments)
amounted to approximately HK$40.1 million for the Year (Last Year:
approximately HK$44.3 million). Employees were remunerated according
to their performance and working experience during the Year. In addition
to basic salaries and contribution to the mandatory provident fund scheme,
staff benefits include performance bonus, medical scheme, share options and
training. Further details of the share option scheme of the Company are set out
in the paragraphs headed “Share Option Scheme” in the “Directors’ Report”

section and in note 41 to the consolidated financial statements in this report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, there was no purchase, sale or redemption by the Company,

or any of its subsidiaries, of the Company’s listed securities.
EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

On 4 June 2021, the Company issued a 6.5% coupon bond in the principal
amount of HK$20 million which will mature on the second anniversary date
of the issue date and the bondholder may request early redemption of the bond

after three months of the issuance date of the bond.

Save as the aforesaid and the Disposal disclosed under the paragraphs headed
“Disposal of Subsidiaries” section above, there is no important event affecting

the Group which have occurred since 30 April 2021.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee of the Board (“Audit
Committee”) with written terms of reference that clearly establish the Audit
Committee’s authority and duties. The Audit Committee comprised three
independent non-executive Directors as at the date of this report, namely
Mr. Law Man Sang, Mr. Lo Ka Ki and Ms. Lam Wai Yu.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review the Company’s
annual reports and accounts, interim reports and quarterly reports and to
provide advice and comments thereon to the Board. The Audit Committee is
also responsible for reviewing and supervising the financial reporting process

and risk management and internal control systems of the Group.

Four Audit Committee meetings were held during the Year.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the consolidated financial statements of

the Group for the Year.
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Dr. So Yu Shing ( & ¥ i) (“Dr. So”), aged 69, is the chairman of the Group
(“Chairman”), an executive Director with effect from 23 July 2001 and a
director of a number of subsidiaries of the Company. Dr. So joined the Group
in September 1991. He holds a bachelor of arts degree from the University
of Hong Kong and a master of science degree in engineering business
management from the University of Warwick in the United Kingdom. In
2009, he acquired a doctorate degree in building and construction from the
City University of Hong Kong. Furthermore, Dr. So possesses the Registered
Safety Officer qualification. Dr. So served in the Labour Department of
the Hong Kong Government before joining Wui Loong Scaffolding Works
Company Limited (“Wui Loong Scaffolding”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, on 17 September 1991.
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Ms. Lai Yuen Mei, Rebecca ( 2 %i %) (“Ms. Lai”), aged 66, is an executive
Director with effect from 6 August 2001 and a director of a number of
subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Lai joined the Group in March 1988 and
has been actively involved in the management of the Group. She had been
engaged in the teaching profession for over 18 years before joining Wui Loong
Scaffolding in 1988.
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Mr. Kong Kam Wang (VL##%!) (“Mr. Kong™), aged 64, is the chief executive
officer of the Company (“Chief Executive Officer”), an executive Director and
a director of a number of subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Kong graduated
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 1981 with a bachelor’s
degree in business management with honours. Mr. Kong also obtained an
executive master of business administration degree (EMBA) from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong. He has over 20 years of experience in the banking
industry and has held senior management positions specialising in corporate
banking as well as retail banking in a number of banks in Hong Kong and
the PRC. Before joining the Company in March 2002 and being appointed
as an executive Director in June 2002, Mr. Kong was the Vice President
and Zone Manager of First Pacific Bank Limited. In 1994, Mr. Kong was
assigned by First Pacific Bank Limited as representative to set up a Shenzhen
representative office in the PRC. During that period, Mr. Kong established
close relationships with various PRC Government bureaus and other foreign
financial institutions whilst stationed in the Shenzhen representative office.
Mr. Kong was an independent non-executive director of KNK Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 8039), a company whose shares are listed on GEM,
from 21 November 2016 to 28 August 2019.

EEZERARAET WLS Holdings Limited
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Mr. So Wang Chun, Edmond ( # % #£) (“Mr. Edmond So”), aged 32, joined
the Group in 2012 as a finance manager in charge of the corporate finance matters
of the Group and has been appointed as an executive Director with effect from
17 March 2014. Mr. Edmond So is also a director of a number of subsidiaries
of the Company. Mr. Edmond So is involved in the management of scaffolding
business of the Group. He graduated from the University of Southern California in
the United States of America with a bachelor of arts degree in sociology. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Edmond So gained experience in corporate finance, initial
public offerings and other financial advisory services by working for a year in a
corporate advisory firm which provides advisory services to the PRC and Hong
Kong based companies.
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Mr. Tse Fung Chun (#f ¥ %) (“Mr. Tse”), aged 32, joined the Group in
August 2020. He is an executive Director, the company secretary of the
Company (“Company Secretary”), the compliance officer of the Company and
a director of a number of subsidiaries of the Company. He is responsible for
overseeing and monitoring corporate exercises and accounting and finance
functions of the Group. He obtained a Bachelor’s degree in Accounting from
University of Queensland in Australia in 2011. Mr. Tse is a certified public
accountant of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKCPA”) and CPA Australia and a chartered management accountant
of the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants. He has over nine
years of experience in auditing, accounting and corporate governance.

Mr. Tse is currently the company secretary and the authorised representative
of Trendzon Holdings Group Limited, formerly known as Pipeline
Engineering Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1865), a company whose shares
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, since 18 June 2021.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lo Ka Ki (EEXKEL) (“Mr. Lo™), aged 42, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director with effect from 26 February 2018. Mr. Lo has obtained
his master degree of professional accounting from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in October 2009. He is a practising member of the HKICPA and a fellow
member of the ACCA. Mr. Lo has over 11 years of experience in audit and business
advisory services and is currently the managing director of a CPA practice. Mr. Lo
has previously worked as an auditor at RSM Nelson Wheeler (currently known as
RSM Hong Kong) (“RSM”) from December 2005 to June 2007, a senior accountant
at LifeTec Enterprise Limited and a qualified accountant at Paradise Entertainment
Limited (Stock Code: 1180), a company whose shares are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, from June 2007 to July 2009 and an audit senior and later on
a manager at RSM from December 2009 to November 2014.

Mr. Lo is currently an independent non-executive director of China Smarter Energy
Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1004), a company whose shares are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, since 25 April 2021, Mr. Lo was an
independent non-executive director of Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd. (Stock
Code: 2182), a company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, from February 2018 to May 2019.
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Mr. Law Man Sang ( & 3C 4 ) (“Mr. Law”), aged 58, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director with effect from 1 December 2014. He
has joined KGI Asia Limited, a licensed corporation under the SFO, since
December 2004 and is currently the executive director of such company.
Since June 2005, he has been acting as a responsible officer of KGI Asia
Limited in relation to Type 1 (dealing in securities) regulated activity under
the SFO. Since September 2009, he has been acting as a responsible officer
of KGI Futures (Hong Kong) Limited in relation to Type 2 (dealing in futures
contracts) regulated activity under the SFO. Since March 2013, he has been
acting as a responsible officer of KGI Asia Limited in relation to Type 4
(advising on securities) regulated activity under the SFO and of KGI Futures
(Hong Kong) Limited in relation to Type 5 (advising on futures contracts)
regulated activity under the SFO. Since February 2019, he has been acting as
a responsible officer of KGI Asset Management Limited in relation to Type 9
(asset management) regulated activity under the SFO. Mr. Law has extensive
experience in financial service management and actively participates in
various social and community organisations in both Hong Kong and the PRC.

EEZERARAET WLS Holdings Limited
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Ms. Lam Wai Yu (%2 W) (“Ms. Lam™), aged 55, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director with effect from 27 June 2017. She has
over 17 years of experience in the logistic industry. Ms. Lam was the general
manager of Harper Shipping Limited from 12 May 1998 to 31 December
2020, a Hong Kong private company which is principally engaged in shipping
business, and is mainly responsible for supervising business operation as well
as screening projects in the PRC, Hong Kong and other countries.
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CHANGES IN EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS

Further to the disclosures above, the emoluments of the following Directors
have been changed as follows:

HHELA B B
Name of Directors Details of Changes
R g T AR R 1 L BLAS 20 W) R RT B IR B G 40 A AR 2 AR 4 493,218,000 T (b 4R

Dr. So Yu Shing

ey

Ryt

=

Ms. Lai Yuen Mei, Rebecca

1L 75 5Bk

Mr. Kong Kam Wang

Mr. So Wang Chun, Edmond

HoA T 4N =+ HEARERE S E

2 3l 3 — 2P A )

3,243,000 7C)
total emoluments for the Year pursuant to the service contract signed between Dr. So and the
Company was approximately HK$3,218,000 (Last Year: HK$3,243,000).

R AR B Lo 4 BLAC % ) ST B MR B B A > AR A BE 2 B < #1,886,000 T (1 4F
1,906,500%: 7T )

total emoluments for the Year pursuant to the service contract signed between Ms. Lai and
the Company was approximately HK$1,886,000 (Last Year: HK$1,906,500).

HR 48 VL % A B
1,027,200 ¢ )
total emoluments for the Year pursuant to the service contract signed between Mr. Kong and
the Company was approximately HK$1,047,200 (Last Year: HK$1,027,200).

AR 2N T HERT WY IR S A A R AR 2 R 4B £1,047,200% 5T ( B4R

R A% 85 7
768,000% 7T )
total emoluments for the Year pursuant to the service contract signed between Mr. Edmond
So and the Company was approximately HK$768,900 (Last Year: HK$768,000).

Jod: BN B BT IR & 40 A4 B 2 H8 T 4 £9768,90035 7T ( F4F

There is no further change in emoluments of the Directors since 30 April 2021
up to the date of this annual report.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Mok Yiu Cheung, Dennis ( 5L #) (“Mr. Mok™), aged 62, is the
chief operation officer of the Company. Mr. Mok joined the Group in 2018.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Mok worked for a number of well-known
property developers and public listed construction companies. Mr. Mok holds
a bachelor degree with honours in Management Studies from the University
of Hong Kong as well as a Postgraduate Diploma in Mediation from HKU
SPACE. Having over 32 years of experience in the building and construction
industry, Mr. Mok has developed substantial expertise in all aspects of
construction and contractual management in Hong Kong, Macau & PRC.
Mr. Mok is a Chartered Construction Manager, a member of Hong Kong
Institute of Construction Managers and a member of the Chartered Institute of
Arbitrators, member of Hong Kong Management Association and Affiliated
member of Chartered Institute of Building Services Engineer.
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Mr. So Wang Bon, Edward ( # % #8) (“Mr. Edward So”), aged 40, joined
the Group in 2000 as a director of Wui Loong Scaffolding. Mr. Edward So was
an executive Director from March 2011 to March 2014. He graduated from the
Oxford Brookes University in the United Kingdom with a bachelor of science
degree in business administration and information technology. He also holds
a master of science degree in engineering business management from the
University of Warwick in the United Kingdom.
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Ms. Yeung Wai Yan, Flora (#5 % %) (“Ms. Yeung”), aged 37, is the financial
controller of the Company. Ms. Yeung joined the Group in October 2015.
She holds a bachelor degree in accounting and finance from The University
of Hong Kong. Ms. Yeung is a certified public accountant of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and CPA (Australia)
and an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries
(“HKICS”). Ms. Yeung had over 15 years’ experience in auditing, accounting

and financial management.
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Mr. So Yu Fai, David ( # %) (“Mr. David So™), aged 62, joined the Group
in 2006 as a director of Skylon International Limited (“Skylon International”),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company carrying out gondolas rental
business. Mr. David So has a bachelor degree with honours in buildings
economics from a university in the United Kingdom and a master degree
in project management from a university in Australia. He is a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors, the Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors and the Chartered Institute of Building. He had served on a number
of committees of these professional bodies over the last 24 years and has
an in-depth knowledge of professional matters related to a wide variety
of construction standards and ethics. In addition to his wide experience in
construction works, he also worked for the Australian Federal Government as

an administration officer for several years.
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Ms. Li Wan Yee, Patricia (Z=i#H 58) (“Ms. Li”), aged 39, is the general
manager of Skylon International. She also assists in handling of company
secretarial matters. Ms. Li joined the Group in January 2016. She holds a
bachelor’s degree in accounting and finance from the University of Melbourne
in Australia. She is a certified public accountant of the CPA Australia and a
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries (HKICS) and
the Hong Kong Business Accountants Association (HKBAA). She had over 17
years’ experience in accounting management, audit and corporate secretarial

practice.
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For the information of the shareholders of the Company, Dr. So Yu Shing,
the Chairman and an executive Director, is the spouse of Ms. Lai Yuen Mei,
Rebecca, an executive Director. Dr. So and Ms. Lai are the parents of Mr. So
Wang Bon, Edward, a member of the senior management of the Group and
Mr. So Wang Chun, Edmond, an executive Director. Mr. So Wang Bon,
Edward is the spouse of Ms. Li Wan Yee, Patricia, a member of the senior
management of the Group. Dr. So is also the brother of Mr. So Yu Fai, Daivd,

a member of the senior management of the Group.

No Director is a director or employee of a company which has an interest
in the share capital of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions in Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.
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EEZERARAET WLS Holdings Limited

INTRODUCTION

The Board and the management of the Company are committed to establishing
good corporate governance practices and procedures. The maintenance of high
standard of business ethics and corporate governance practices has always
been one of the Company’s goals. The Company believes that good corporate
governance provides a framework that is essential for effective management,
successful business growth and a healthy corporate culture, thereby leading to

the enhancement of shareholders’ value.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The corporate governance principles of the Company emphasise a quality
Board, sound internal controls, transparency and accountability to all
shareholders. By applying rigorous corporate governance practices, the
Company believes that its accountability and transparency will be improved
thereby instilling confidence to the shareholders of the Company and the
public. Throughout the Year, the Company has complied with the code
provisions in the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) set out in
Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.

The Board has continued to monitor and review the Company’s progress
in respect of corporate governance practices to ensure compliance with the
CG Code. Meetings were held throughout the Year and where appropriate,
internal circulars and other guidance notes were issued to Directors and
senior management of the Company to ensure awareness of issues regarding

corporate governance practices.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition

The Board, which comprised eight Directors as at the date of this corporate
governance report, is collectively responsible for supervising the management
of the business and affairs of the Company and the Group. Biographical
details of the Chairman and the other Directors and their relationships are set
out in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management Profiles” of this
annual report. All Directors devoted sufficient time and attention to the affairs
of the Company and the Group during the Year.

As at the date of this corporate governance report, the Board had five executive
Directors, namely Dr. So Yu Shing (Chairman), Mr. Kong Kam Wang (Chief
Executive Officer), Ms. Lai Yuen Mei, Rebecca, Mr. So Wang Chun, Edmond
and Mr. Tse Fung Chun and three independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Law Man Sang, Mr. Lo Ka Ki and Ms. Lam Wai Yu. Ms. Lai Yuen Mei,
Rebecca is the spouse of Dr. So Yu Shing and Mr. So Wang Chun, Edmond, is the
son of Dr. So Yu Shing and Ms. Lai Yuen Mei Rebecca.

The presence of three independent non-executive Directors is considered by
the Board to be a reasonable balance between executive and non-executive
Directors. The Board is of the opinion that such balance can provide adequate
checks and balances for safeguarding the interests of the shareholders and the
Company. The independent non-executive Directors provide to the Company
a wide range of expertise and experience so that independent judgement can
be effectively exercised and the interests of all shareholders will be taken
into account. They are also responsible for participating in Board meetings,
dealing with potential conflicts of interest, serving on the Audit Committee,
the remuneration committee of the Board (“Remuneration Committee”)
and the nomination committee of the Board (“Nomination Committee”),
scrutinising the Company and the Group’s performance and reporting. They
provide their valuable skills, expertise and experience to the Board and the
committees of the Board on which they serve so that the management process

can be critically reviewed and controlled.

During the Year and as at the date of this corporate governance report, at
least one of the independent non-executive Directors has the appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise, and the Company has received from each independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his/her independence and the Company
considers such Directors to be independent in accordance with Rule 5.09 of
the GEM Listing Rules.
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EEZERARAET WLS Holdings Limited

Board Diversity

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development, the
Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element.
The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (“Board Diversity Policy”)
with effect from 1 September 2013. All Board appointments have been and
will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against

objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Nomination and selection of candidates for Board membership by the
Nomination Committee have been and will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills and knowledge. The
Nomination Committee is of the opinion that a balanced diversity of the
Board has been achieved during the Year and as at the date of this corporate

governance report.
Board Meetings

Board meetings are held at least four times every year. At least 14 days’
notices of regular Board meetings are given to all Directors and all Directors
will be all given an opportunity to include matters in the agenda for discussion
at Board meetings. The company secretary of the Company (“Company
Secretary”) assists the Chairman in preparing the agenda for the meetings
and ensures that all applicable rules and regulations in connection with
the meetings are observed and complied with. The finalised agenda and
accompanying board papers are then sent to all Directors at least three days

prior to the date of Board meetings.
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During the Year, 11 Board meetings were held and the following is an

FHFGEORTET attendance record of the meetings by each Director:
R ¥e
A AR B AT I
o A8 (WRE)
Number of
meetings attended/
Total number of
meetings held R
during the Year Attendance
LS Attendees (Note) percentage
PATESR Executive Directors
TR TG So Yu Shing 11/11 100%
itk Lai Yuen Mei, Rebecca 11/11 100%
VL8R Kong Kam Wang 11/11 100%
TR o So Wang Chun, Edmond /11 100%
dER N - F FENHLH Tse Fung Chun (appointed on 7 August 2020)

HZAT) 9/9 100%
Brig g ( —F —F44/\H Lt HEE) Yuen Chun Fai (resigned on 7 August 2020) 212 100%
BT E S Independent Non-executive Directors
7RO Law Man Sang 11/11 100%
RN Lam Wai Yu 11/11 100%
JiE 2% Lo Ka Ki 11/11 100%
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Note: Attendances of the Directors during the Year were counted with reference to the number of
such meeting(s) held during their respective tenures.

During the regular meetings of the Board held during the Year, the Directors
discussed and formulated the overall strategies of the Company and the Group,
monitored financial performances, discussed the annual and interim results,
set annual budgets, and discussed and decided on other significant matters.
The execution of daily operational matters is delegated to the management of
the Group.

The Company Secretary records the proceedings of each Board meeting
in detail by keeping minutes, including the record of all resolutions of the
Board together with concerns raised and dissenting views expressed (if any)
during the meeting. Drafts of Board minutes are circulated to all Directors for
comment and approval as soon as practicable after the meeting. All minutes
are open for inspection at any reasonable time on request by any Director.

All Directors have access to relevant and timely information at all times as
the Chairman ensures that the management will supply the Board and its
committees with all relevant information in a timely manner. They may make
further enquiries if it is in their opinion necessary or appropriate to request
for further information. They also have unrestricted access to the advice and
services of the Company Secretary, who is held responsible for providing
Directors with board papers and related materials and ensuring that all proper
Board procedures and all applicable laws and regulations are followed and
complied with. If considered necessary and appropriate by the Directors, they
may retain independent professional advisers at the Company’s expense.
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In case where a conflict of interest may arise involving a substantial
shareholder of the Company or a Director, such matter will be discussed in
a physical meeting and will not be dealt with by way of written resolutions.
Independent non-executive Directors with no conflict of interest will be

present at such meetings dealing with the conflict issue.

The Board committees, including the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee, have all adopted the applicable

practices and procedures used in Board meetings for all committee meetings.
Shareholders’ Meetings

The annual general meeting and other general meetings of the Company
are the primary forum for communication between the Company and
its shareholders and opportunities for shareholders’ participation. All
shareholders are encouraged to attend the general meetings or to appoint
proxy(ies) to attend and vote at such meetings on their behalf if they are

unable to attend the meetings.

During the Year, the Company has held two general meetings, being the
annual general meeting on 9 October 2020 (2020 AGM”) and the special
general meeting on 23 April 2021 (the “SGM”). The attendance record of each

Director at the general meeting are as follows:

LY SN R/e
A S FERATHY

JBe 3K &
Number of general
meetings attended/

Number of general R
meetings held Attendance
& Attendees during the Year percentage
PATESR Executive Directors
R Tl So Yu Shing 172 50%
B2 Ui 1l Lai Yuen Mei, Rebecca 1/2 50%
VL8R % Kong Kam Wang 2/2 100%
o o So Wang Chun, Edmond 172 50%
#Ed (R ZFZFHENAHLH  Tse Fung Chun 2/2 100%
AT (appointed on 7 August 2020)
BLEcnE (A _Z _F4/N\HELH  Yuen Chun Fai 0/0 AN N/A
BEAT) (resigned on 7 August 2020)
B IE AT E S Independent Non-executive Directors
i B Law Man Sang 1/2 50%
ARE Lam Wai Yu 2/2 100%
i R B Lo Ka Ki 22 100%

EEZERARAET WLS Holdings Limited
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The Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer

The Chairman, Dr. So Yu Shing, is responsible for the Company’s and the
Group’s overall strategy and business development. The Chairman determines
the broad strategic direction of the Group in consultation with other Directors
and is responsible for the macro top-level decisions with regard to the overall

business directions of the Company and the Group.

Mr. Kong Kam Wang is the Chief Executive Officer. The Chief Executive
Officer has the authority and responsibility for running the Company’s
business and implementing the strategies of the Company and the Group.
The Chief Executive Officer, with the support of the executive Directors, is
responsible for the strategic planning of the different business functions and

the day-to-day management and operations of the Company and the Group.
The Company Secretary

With effect from 7 August 2020, Mr. Yuen Chun Fai has resigned as the
Company Secretary of the Company and Mr. Tse Fung Chun has been
appointed as the Company Secretary of the Company to fill the vacancy
arising from the resignation of Mr. Yuen Chun Fai. Details of the above change
of company secretary can be referred to the Company’s announcement dated
7 August 2020. In compliance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules, the
Company Secretary had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional

training during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed Director will receive a formal, comprehensive and
tailor-made induction training on the first occasion of his appointment to
ensure that he has a proper understanding of the Company’s operations
and business and is fully aware of the Director’s responsibilities under the
statues and common law, the GEM Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory
requirements and the Company’s business and governance policies. The
Company Secretary and the compliance officer of the Company will
continuously update all Directors on the latest developments regarding the
GEM Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure
compliance of the same by all Directors. During the year ended 30 April 2021,
the Directors had participated in continuous professional developments and
received training conducted by the Company’s Hong Kong legal advisers in

respect of their duties and responsibilities as a director of a listed company.
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The Company will from time to time provide briefings to all Directors to
refresh their knowledge and skills in relation to their duties and responsibilities
as part of their continuous professional development. All Directors are also
encouraged to attend relevant training courses provided by legal advisers
and/or any appropriated institutions at the Company’s expense and they have
been requested to provide the Company with their training records. According
to the training records maintained by the Company, the trainings received by
the each of the Directors (including Directors’ induction training) for the year

ended 30 April 2021 and up to the date of this annual report are summarised

as follows:

] bt

Type of

HHEEA Name of Directors trainings
HATHEF Executive Directors

R T AL So Yu Shing B

B2 Ui fix Lai Yuen Mei, Rebecca B

LR Kong Kam Wang B

T 7 AfE So Wang Chun, Edmond B

HER (R ZE_FFENA L AR Tse Fung Chun (appointed on 7 August 2020) A,B

BriR i (i — & —F4ENH L HEAE) Yuen Chun Fai (resigned on 7 August 2020) AB
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Law Man Sang B
Lam Wai Yu B
Lo Ka Ki AB
A: attending seminars/conferences/forums/training sessions
B: reading newspapers/journals and updates relating to the economy, general

business, corporate governance and directors’ duties and responsibilities
Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted procedures governing Directors’ securities
transactions on terms no less exacting than the required standard of dealings
set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Specific enquiries
have been made of all Directors and confirmations have been obtained from
all Directors that they have complied with the required standard of dealings in
the GEM Listing Rules and the Company’s procedures governing Directors’
securities transactions during the Year. Relevant employees, who are likely
to be in possession of inside information of the Company or securities of
the Company, are also subject to compliance with guidelines on no less
exacting terms than those set out in the GEM Listing Rules. No incident of

non-compliance was noted by the Company during the Year.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established in 2006. The chairman of the
committee is Mr. Law Man Sang, an independent non-executive Director.
Other members of this committee include Ms. Lam Wai Yu and Mr. Lo Ka Ki,
both being independent non-executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for formulating and recommending
to the Board on the remuneration policy, making recommendation to the
Board on remuneration packages of the Directors and senior management
of the Group, as well as reviewing and making recommendation on the
Company’s share option scheme, bonus structure, provident fund and other
compensation-related issues. This committee consults with the Chairman on
its proposals and recommendations and has access to independent professional
advice if necessary. The Remuneration Committee is also provided with other
resources enabling it to discharge its duties.

The specific terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are posted
on websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange. The Remuneration
Committee meets at least once a year.

During the Year, two Remuneration Committee meetings were held. At the
meeting, the Remuneration Committee reviewed matters relating to the
remuneration packages of Directors and senior management of the Group. The

following is an attendance record of the meeting by each committee member:

W aSRE

A AE BB ATHY

ok A (B L)

Number of

meetings attended
Total number of R
meetings held during Attendance
s & Attendees the Year (Note) percentage
B Law Man Sang 2/2 100%
ME N Lam Wai Yu 2/2 100%
JiE 5% Lo Ka Ki 212 100%

W © 45 070 % L LR 2
H T AR SCAE P 7 47
Z R R

Note: Attendance of the members of the Remuneration Committee during the Year was counted with

reference to the number of such meeting(s) held during their respective tenures.
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EEZERARAET WLS Holdings Limited

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established in 2012. The chairman of the
committee is Dr. So Yu Shing, the Chairman and an executive Director. Other
members of this committee include Ms. Lam Wai Yu and Mr. Lo Ka Ki, both

being independent non-executive Directors.

The duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the structure, size
and composition of the Board at least annually, making recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s and
the Group’s corporate strategy, identifying individuals suitably qualified to
become members of the Board and selecting individuals to be nominated for
directorship, assessing the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors in accordance with, among others, the factors set out in Rule 5.09
of the GEM Listing Rules, subject to any amendments as may be made by the
Stock Exchange from time to time, and making recommendations to the Board
on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning

for the Directors, in particular the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.

The Nomination Committee has adopted a director nomination policy
(“Director Nomination Policy”) on 31 December 2018 which came into effect
on 1 January 2019, which serves to improve the transparency of the process
and criteria in selecting and recommending candidates as Directors for the
Board’s approval from time to time and at any time to appoint any person
as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board.
The Directors and the Nomination Committee will consider and nominate
candidates, according to the Director Nomination Policy based on objective
criteria such as the appropriate qualifications, ability and perspectives
that would enable them to effectively fulfill their potential roles and
responsibilities as Directors, with due regard to the benefits of diversity and
measurable objectives including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
education background as set out in the Board Diversity Policy, to the Board

for approval.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee has reviewed and believes that the
current composition of the Board reflects an achievement of full consideration
of factors of Board diversity. The Board Diversity Policy will be reviewed on

a regular basis to ensure its continued effectiveness.
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Shareholders may also propose a person for election as Director at the general
meetings of the Company pursuant to the bye-laws of the Company (“Bye-
laws”). The procedures for shareholders to nominate directors are posted on

the website of the Company.

The specific terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are posted on
the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange. The Nomination
Committee meets at least once a year. During the Year, the Nomination
Committee held two meetings to nominate candidates for directorships and
review the composition of the Board. The attendance record of the meeting by

each committee member is as follows:

iR 3e (yd

A% A JE B AT Y

o wi AR B (B RE)

Number of

meetings attended
Total number of &
meetings held during Attendance
iy Attendees the Year (Note) percentage
WR TG A So Yu Shing 22 100%
ARE Lam Wai Yu 212 100%
i R B Lo Ka Ki 212 100%

BERE : 2548 41 & B & 0B R AR I 2
J R B ARAR HAT R T AT 2 8
il UCBGRT 5

3 R AL AR ) R BB AT

HEPATHEECHAR AR SLRE AL S
FEIR = BAR TR B BB —Tr
16] 3f 75 8% i x> =8 A 3 T > B0 = A
A#raeEfa@amaesnt.

BB IFERTER —FEZER R R
B b — (A A 2 A 0 1k ke

%7 F/AR I IR RO TR R VA
VAT ) B = 4R HAE B OB AR R
i 4B S0 F AR AT o ARAR A WA A > VL
B 5 ST A R 5 S A RObR R e 1 A B
N R AT Y B RO AR B e AR S
A A% A0 B E AT

Note: Attendance of the members of the Nomination Committee during the Year was counted with

reference to the number of such meeting(s) held during their respective tenures.

Term of Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
the Company for an initial term of three years, thereafter continuous until
terminated by either party giving to the other not less than three months’
notice in writing, or by payment of three months’ salary in lieu of such notice.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has been appointed for a
term of one year unless terminated by one month’s notice in writing.

All Directors, including the executive and independent non-executive
Directors, would retire from office by rotation and are subject to re-election
at the annual general meeting once every three years pursuant to the Bye-
laws. In accordance with provision 84 of the Bye-laws, Mr. Kong Kam Wang,
Mr. So Wang Chun, Edmond and Ms. Lam Wai Yu will retire by rotation
at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, would offer

themselves for re-election.
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EEZERARAET WLS Holdings Limited

Audit Committee and Accountability

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and comprehensive
assessment of the performance and prospects of the Company and the Group.
The Board is also responsible for preparing the accounts of the Company,
which shall give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group
on a going-concern basis, and other inside information announcements
and other financial disclosures. The management of the Group provides all
relevant information and records to the Board enabling it to conduct the above
assessment and to prepare the accounts and other financial disclosures.

During the Year, the Audit Committee reviewed the quarterly reports for the
three months ended 31 July 2020 and for the nine months ended 31 January
2021, the interim report for the six months ended 31 October 2020 and
the annual report for the year ended 30 April 2020. The Audit Committee
also reviewed the Group’s risk management and internal control systems,
accounting principles, practices and compliance.

The Audit Committee, established in 2001, is chaired by Mr. Lo Ka Ki, an
independent non-executive Director and the other members of this committee
include Mr. Law Man Sang and Ms. Lam Wai Yu, both being independent

non-executive Directors.

No existing member of the Audit Committee is a former partner of the existing

auditing firm of the Company.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with their review of the independence of
the auditors of the Company, the audit process and the standard of reports

aforesaid. This annual report has been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee’s primary duties include ensuring that the Company’s
financial statements, annual, interim and quarterly reports and the auditor’s
report present a true and balanced assessment of the Company’s and the
Group’s financial position; reviewing the Company’s and the Group’s
financial control, internal control and risk management systems; and reviewing
the Company’s financial and accounting policies and practices. Other duties
of the Audit Committee are set out in its specific terms of reference which are
posted on the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange. The Audit
Committee is provided with sufficient resources enabling it to discharge its

duties.
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During the Year, the Audit Committee held four meetings to carry out its
primary duties as mentioned above. The attendance record of the meetings by

each committee member is as follows:

W aERE

A AE PR ATHY

1wk A (B sE)

Number of

meetings attended
Total number of R
meetings held during Attendance
s & Attendees the Year (Note) percentage
B Law Man Sang 4/4 100%
ME N Lam Wai Yu 4/4 100%
i % I Lo Ka Ki 4/4 100%

B« 4 R A AR 2
T B M AT AT 2
BT o

KEREEBCELEZREGNA TR TR
s DN EFTaR A HMESS
BTITZAGERIFHR -FREZAEGNER
FLL 3R P4 A0 A e e A6 R i ZE T A Ul A ARAR
FETRATHULTRRBEETELLZEEN
A - DL - HE RS sk 2

EHERG G MHRERN T

T R R SE L AR AR S MBS R R AT
Sl 7 e PR AR R 15 7 L S o T Y R i AR )

AN ) A% B L ) AR G S R R RIS 2
R AT I B 2 W] O AR AR IR BT
77 2 S B A

FrEgE
AR AR R AN F A L

B TR T M A A A A TR A A
o BB R I PR AN AR R S

Note: Attendance of the members of the Audit Committee during the Year was counted with reference to

the number of such meeting(s) held during their respective tenures.

The Company Secretary keeps full minutes of all Audit Committee meetings
in line with practices of the Board meetings and other Board committee
meetings. Draft and final versions of Audit Committee meeting minutes are
circulated to all members of the Audit Committee for comments, approval and

record as soon as practicable after each meeting.

Directors’ responsibility in preparing consolidated financial
statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the consolidated
financial statements and ensuring that the preparation of the accounts is in

accordance with statutory requirements and applicable standards.

The statement of the auditors of the Company in relation to their reporting
responsibilities for the consolidated financial statements is set out in the

Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 72 to 77 of this annual report.

Going Concern

The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, consider that the Company
has adequate resources to continue its operational existence for the foreseeable

future and for this reason, it is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in

preparing the consolidated financial statements.
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EEZERARAET WLS Holdings Limited

Corporate Governance Function

No corporate governance committee has been established and the Board
is responsible for performing the corporate governance functions such as
determining, developing and reviewing the Company’s policies, practices
on corporate governance, training and continuous professional development
of Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, etc. During the Year,
the Board has developed and reviewed the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and made recommendations to the Board; reviewed
and monitored the training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management; reviewed and monitored the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
developed, reviewed and monitored the code of conduct and compliance
manual applicable to employees and Directors; and reviewed the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this corporate governance
report.

Auditors’ Remuneration

The aggregate remuneration in respect of audit services provided by D &
PARTNERS CPA LIMITED to the Group during the Year was approximately
HK$650,000 (Last Year: approximately HK$870,000) and non-audit service
(including but not limited to professional advice on a proposed disposal of
subsidiary companies) amounted to approximately HK$40,000 (Last Year:
approximately HK$170,000).

Delegation by the Board

The Board is responsible for making decisions in relation to the overall
strategic development of the Group’s business. All Directors have formal
service contracts or letters of appointment setting out key terms and conditions
regarding their appointments. Due to the diversity and volume of the Group’s
business, responsibility in relation to the daily operations and execution of the
strategic business plans are delegated to management of the Group.

All Board committees, namely the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee, have specific terms of reference
clearly defining the authorities and responsibilities of the respective
committees. All Board committees are required by their terms of reference to
report to the Board in relation to their decisions, findings or recommendations,
and in certain specific situations, to seek the Board’s approval before taking

any actions.

The Board reviews, on a yearly basis, all delegations by the Board to different
Board committees to ensure that such delegations are appropriate and they
continue to be beneficial to the Company and its shareholders (“Shareholders”™)

as a whole.



EHRAEHEANR AR

ARFCHEBEEFHORE/ANFERE
WME K EREMAREHEER LERARR
Rl DR R AR REE - B —F —F4EN
H B HAR 1 = T —— 445 H AR -

B e R i B £

AN TR G AR R W > 0 B 1 R
0N BN R IR 5 5 A TR EORE o BN O R A
T 325 TRCHCE AR SR T ) B R R T AE £ TS

B S o

A A BRSO g B A — B B A B R
i M B DA AR B o S R K
ZWHEH R R BN S BE AR R BB K E
UG fif 25 B SR ) A fo] 2 R o

A AL T IR RN 2 BB A BB A AR
SR R RO AR iR R R R
HEINEFT - _F L FERAAFRE
b TR R TR N ) SRR R DR

Jie R AR ek A R SR AR A
DATHE AR A 2% ) 78 A do £ 10 £ 26 430 W R - AR
I5#) 28 LR TP SR AT S RO 4 R g RN i
RIRIE T 45 I3 5 3 bR 1R 51 B P 48 22 i T R
AR IRE R R P R AR AT B
KreEHG M A EEEFHFEE T ARAR
e AR R A% BRI 3 R . A RO 4R
DR DA IB] 35 BB B > i BT A PR sl 58 3 DA A
507 AR B  TAR2S w09 A A A T R
DREEEERARAF ZBEEREEAR
VAR P A S oy B

AN T IR B R AR B - ) B A DA
i e 28 bR (A e ) BEL B R O - R
B 7 ECHG A A R AR B AR 3t
A ) B B Y AE 4B Y B RELAE AR Y
[u] JE o

R EE RN
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance

Insurance cover has been taken out for Directors’ and officers’ liability to
provide adequate cover, as determined by the Board, in respect of the Board
members and senior management of the Company as from June 2010 and

renewed annually in June since 2011.
Shareholder Relations

The Company is committed to maintaining a high level of transparency and
employs a policy of open and timely disclosure of relevant information to
its shareholders. The commitment to fair disclosure and comprehensive
and transparent reporting of the Group’s activities can be reflected in many

aspects.

The annual general meeting of the Company provides a useful forum for the
Shareholders to exchange views with the Board. A majority of the Directors
made an effort to attend the Company’s general meeting so that they may

answer any questions from the Shareholders.

The Chairman was also actively involved in organising, and personally chaired
the 2020 AGM during the Year in order to ensure that Shareholders’ views
were being communicated to the Board. A separate resolution was proposed

by the Chairman in respect of each separate issue at the 2020 AGM.

The proceedings of the annual general meeting are reviewed by the Board
from time to time to ensure the Company conforms to the best practices
regarding corporate governance. The relevant circular, which was circulated
to all Shareholders at least 21 days prior to the holding of the annual general
meeting, sets out the details in relation to each resolution proposed, voting
procedures and other relevant information. Members of the Board and D &
PARTNERS CPA LIMITED, the auditors of the Company, attended the 2020
AGM to answer questions of the Shareholders and all the resolutions were put
to vote by poll and Tricor Tengis Limited, the Company’s Hong Kong branch
share registrar and transfer office, was engaged as scrutineer to ensure that all

votes were properly counted.

The Company also communicates with the Shareholders through its annual,
interim and quarterly reports and by means of announcement and circular
if and when necessary. The Directors, the Company Secretary or other
appropriate members of the senior management also respond promptly to

inquiries from Shareholders and potential investors of the Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene general meetings

Subject to the Bye-laws, the GEM Listing Rules and the applicable laws and
regulations, Shareholders may convene general meetings of the Company in
accordance with the following procedures:

1. Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company as at the date of deposit of the requisition (“Requisitionists”)
may require the Board to convene a general meeting of the Company by
depositing written requisitions at the principal office of the Company
in Hong Kong at Rooms 1001-1006, 10th Floor, Tower A, Southmark,
No. 11 Yip Hing Street, Wong Chuk Hang, Aberdeen, Hong Kong
specifying the business to be transacted in such meeting and signed by
the Requisitionists. Such meeting shall be held within two months after

the deposit of such requisition; and

2. if the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting, the Requisitionists
themselves may do so in accordance with the provisions of Section
74(3) of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

Procedures for sending enquiries to the Board

The Company established a shareholders’ communication policy which had
been uploaded to the Company’s website (http://www.wls.com.hk) and details
of communication with the Board could be found in the policy.

Shareholders may also send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the Company Secretary by post to the principal office
of the Company in Hong Kong at Rooms 1001-1006, 10th Floor, Tower A,
Southmark, No. 11 Yip Hing Street, Wong Chuk Hang, Aberdeen, Hong Kong.

Investor relations

The Company is committed to a policy of open and timely disclosure
of corporate information to the Shareholders and potential investors.
The Company updates Shareholders on its latest business developments
and financial performance through its annual, interim and quarterly
reports, notices, announcements and circulars. The Company’s website
(www.wls.com.hk) provides a communication platform to the public and the
Shareholders.

To strengthen its relationship with investors, the Company regularly meets
with analysts and holds interviews with reporters and columnists of the press

and other economic journals.
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Procedures for putting forward proposals at a general meeting

Pursuant to the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, (i) shareholders representing
not less than one-twentieth of the total voting rights of all shareholders
having a right to vote at the general meeting; or (ii) not less than one hundred
shareholders, can submit a written requisition stating the resolution which is
intended to be moved at a general meeting, or to submit a statement of not
more than one thousand words with respect to the matter referred to in any

proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at that meeting.

Such written requisition shall be made to the Board or the Company Secretary
at the Company’s head office and principal place of business at Rooms
1001-1006, 10th Floor, Tower A, Southmark, No. 11 Yip Hing Street, Wong
Chuk Hang, Aberdeen, Hong Kong, specifying the shareholding information
of the Shareholder, his/her/its contact details and the proposal he/she/it intends
to put forward at a general meeting in the manner as mentioned above together

with supporting documents.
Constitutional documents

During the Year, there was no significant change in the Company’s

memorandum of continuance and the Bye-laws.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is its duty to monitor the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group on an ongoing basis and review their
effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable

and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

During the Year, the Board, through the Audit Committee, conducted an annual
review on the effectiveness of both the design and implementation of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group, covering all material
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls, with a
view to ensuring that resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programme and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions are adequate. In this respect, the Audit Committee will

communicate any material issues to the Board.
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EEZERARAET WLS Holdings Limited

During the Year, the Group appointed Corporate Governance Professionals
Limited (“CGPL ”) to:

. assist in identifying and assessing the risks of the Group through a

series of workshops and interviews; and

O independently perform internal control review and assess effectiveness

of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems.

The results of the independent review and assessment conducted by CGPL
were reported to the Audit Committee and the Board. Moreover, improvements
in internal control and risk management measures as recommended by CGPL
to enhance the risk management and internal control systems of the Group
and mitigate risks of the Group were adopted by the Board. Based on the
findings and recommendations of CGPL as well as the comments of the
Audit Committee, the Board considered that the internal control and risk

management systems of the Group are effective and adequate.

The Group has established internal control procedures for the handling and
dissemination of inside information in order to comply with Chapter 17 of
the GEM Listing Rules as well as Part XIVA of the SFO. The internal control
mechanism includes information flow and reporting processes, confidentiality

arrangements, disclosure procedures and staff training arrangements, etc.
Our Enterprise Risk Management Framework

The Group has established its enterprise risk management framework in
2016. While the Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that sound and
effective internal controls are maintained, management is responsible for
designing and implementing an internal control system to manage all kinds of

risks faced by the Group.

Through the risk identification and assessment processes, risks are identified,
assessed, prioritised and allocated treatments. The risk management
framework follows the COSO Enterprise Risk Management — Integrated
Framework, which allows the Board and management to manage the risks of
the Group effectively. The Board receives regular reports through the Audit

Committee which oversees risk management and internal audit functions.
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Principal Risks

During the Year, the following principal risks of the Group were identified and

classified into strategic risks, operational risks, financial risks and compliance

B - risks.

JeEL o 48 45 F: 22 Jal b

Risk Areas Principal Risks

SR S L Bt e T AR R~ R A IE S TN R B R T A e B — 9 A B BR REAR

Strategic Risks

i

o T By

Operational Risks

S5 J i

Financial Risks

a5 HLE B

Compliance Risks

SR SRR e R T S Y SR
Competitor landscape, risk of failure to meet customers’ expectation, risk
of over concentration of customer bases and risk of failure to maintain a

competitive edge in terms of construction innovation and process improvement

BHE B A2 248 5] BB IR R~ AT B - B O T M DR B Y
B~ AMER N T HR M 58 R SRR ~ A M RV A S TR SR

N F1d b~ BT o3 6 B VR TE N B 45 R TR B R e R ) R AT o€
FO i~ A AR I T T S A AR K

Insufficient safety guidelines and trainings to employees, risk of technology
breakdown, loss of business opportunity, risk of information leakage, risk of
burglary/stealing of resources by outside parties, poor quality of equipment
and resources, concentration of decision maker, decline in manpower, risk of
having new subcontractors and potential injury, risk of failure to complete
work before deadline, increase in operating costs and delay in repayment of
loans

U R R R~ A R B~ A B TR B K ) R LB

Liquidity risk, credit risk, foreign exchange rate risk and interest rate risk

B~ Al R T B AR A A1) B AN LR R R i A 4 A L B
Risk of non-compliance of ordinances related to safety, health and

environment and risk of legal disputes
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EEZERARAET WLS Holdings Limited

Our Risk Control Mechanism

The Group adopts a “three lines of defence” corporate governance structure
with operational management and controls performed by management of the
operational department, coupled with risk management monitoring carried out
by the finance and compliance team and independent internal audit outsourced
to and conducted by CGPL. The Group maintains a risk register to keep
track of all identified major risks of the Group. The risk register provides
the Board, the Audit Committee, and management with a profile of the
Group’s major risks and records management’s action taken to mitigate the
relevant risks. Each risk is evaluated at least annually based on its likelihood
of occurrence and potential impact upon the Group. The risk register is
updated by management as the risk owners with addition of new risks and/or
removal of existing risks, if applicable, at least annually, after the annual risk
evaluation has been performed. This review process can ensure that the Group
proactively manages the risks faced by it in the sense that all risk owners have
access to the risk register and are aware of and alert to those risks in their area

of responsibility so that they can take follow-up action in an efficient manner.

The risk management activities of the Group are performed by management
on an ongoing process. The effectiveness of the risk management framework
will be evaluated at least annually, and periodic management meeting is held
to update the progress of risk monitoring efforts. Management is committed
to ensure that risk management forms part of the daily business operation
processes in order to align risk management with corporate goals in an

effective manner.

The Company will continue to engage external independent professionals to
review the Group’s systems of internal controls and risk management annually
and further enhance the Group’s internal control and risk management systems

as appropriate.

There is currently no internal audit function within the Group. The Directors
have reviewed the need for an internal audit function and are of the view that
in light of the size, nature and complexity of the business of the Group, it
would be more cost effective to appoint external independent professionals
to perform internal audit function for the Group in order to meet its needs.
Nevertheless, the Directors will continue to review at least annually the need

for an internal audit function.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial
statements for the Year. All cross-references mentioned in this directors’ report

form part of this directors’ report.
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of
its principal subsidiaries and associates are set out in notes 49 and 22, to the

consolidated financial statements respectively.
RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income on pages 78 to 79 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend for the Year (Last

Year: nil).
BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the Year is set out in the sections headed
“Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this
annual report. Description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group and the likely future development of the Group can be found in the

“Management Discussion and Analysis” section of this annual report.
Relationships with Employees, Suppliers and Customers

The Group understands that employees are valuable assets. The Group
provides competitive remuneration package to attract and motivate its
employees. The Group regularly reviews the remuneration package of
employees and makes necessary adjustments to conform to the market

standard.

The Group’s business is built on a customer-oriented culture. The Group also
understands that it is important to maintain good relationship with its suppliers
and customers to accomplish its immediate and long-term goals. To maintain
its market competitiveness within the industry, the Group aims at delivering
constantly high quality service to its customers. During the Year, there was no
material and significant dispute between the Group and its suppliers and/or

customers.
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EEZERARAET WLS Holdings Limited

According to the credit rating of different customers, the Group allows an
average credit period from 30 days to 90 days to customers. In extending
credit terms to customers, the Group will carefully assess each of their
creditworthiness and financial standing. Management will also closely monitor
all outstanding debts and review their collectability periodically.

The largest customer of the Group is Sanfield Building Contractors Limited
(“SBCL”), which contributed to approximately 36% of the Group’s turnover
for the Year.

The credit terms given to SBCL accord with the payment terms stipulated in
the relevant tenders or contracts entered into between the Group and SBCL
which are in line with those granted to other customers of the Group. The
subsequent settlement of trade receivables from SBCL is on track with its
settlement history and there is no provision made during the Year.

Environmental Policy and Performance

The Group is committed to environment protection and sustainable
development through promoting and adopting green practices in its business
activities. One of the essential goals of the Group is to organise construction
operations in the most environmental-friendly manner while keeping energy
consumption at minimum. One example is the use and promotion of the
Metal-Bamboo Matrix System Scaffold (MBMSS) since 1999, which can
reduce construction waste. In addition, initiatives within the Group include,
but not limited to, waste reduction by double side printing and separating
recyclable paper, green procurement by avoiding single-use disposable
items and using office equipment with Energy Label issued by the Electrical
and Mechanical Services Department of the Hong Kong Government, and
energy reduction by switching off idle electronic appliances. The Group
will continually review its green practices to integrate environmental, health
and safety management and compliance considerations into operational
processes. By promoting green awareness amongst, and maintaining dialogue
with, employees and business partners, the Group is determined to improve
the environmental performance of its daily business operations towards
establishing a sustainable environment. The Directors are not aware of
any material non-compliance with the applicable environmental laws and
regulations during the Year. Further information on the Group’s environmental
policy and performance will be set out in the environmental, social and
governance report of the Group to be published within three months after the

date of this annual report.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The investment properties of the Group were revalued at 30 April 2021. A
fair value loss on investment properties of HK$4.5 million was recorded in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
for the Year. Details of the movements in investment properties of the Group
during the Year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements

and the schedule of properties on page 200 of this annual report.

The investment properties were sold on 31 May 2021. For the detail
information, please refer to the section headed “Disposal of Subsidiaries” in

the “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this report.
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group

during the Year are set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.
DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders as at

the end of reporting year were as follows:

R TR R

WH=+H WH=+H

30 April 2021 30 April 2020

F#oc T

HK$’000 HK$’000

e A7yt A Share premium 560,230 560,230
EHE R Contributed surplus 191,087 191,087
Ny i Accumulated losses (852,990) (832,139)
T A ot £ Share option reserve 1,379 2,801
(100,294) (78,021)

EHRE IRk (TAF%]D L
Lo w0 RN 2 BBR T o A 4w AL AE B ROR
b DR ] B A B (38 R IA B E ) Tl IR AR
H 23U o SR - ik DLEL S R UR A 1 B R A
0 IR A BOAR 2 B R RE S L B B AR O
BOREE T B EERR AR MARU
BB YR A B S A R o

Subject to the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (“Companies Act”) and the
Bye-laws, the Company may in general meeting make a distribution to its
shareholders out of any contributed surplus (as ascertained in accordance with
the Companies Act) but no dividend shall be paid or distribution shall be made
out of contributed surplus if to do so would render the Company unable to pay
its liabilities as they become due or the realisable value of its assets would

thereby become less than its liabilities.
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DIRECTORS

The Board comprises the following Directors during the Year and up to the

date of this directors’ report:
Executive Directors

Dr. So Yu Shing (Chairman)

Mr. Kong Kam Wang (Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Lai Yuen Mei, Rebecca

Mr. So Wang Chun, Edmond

Mr. Tse Fung Chun (appointed on 7 August 2020)
Mr. Yuen Chun Fai (resigned on 7 August 2020)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Law Man Sang
Ms. Lam Wai Yu
Mr. Lo Ka Ki

The Company has received from each independent non-executive Director
an annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of
the GEM Listing Rules and the Company considers all of the independent

non-executive Directors as independent.

In accordance with provision 84 of the Bye-laws, Mr. Kong Kam Wang,
Mr. So Wang Chun, Edmond and Ms. Lam Wai Yu will retire by rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting and being eligible, will offer themselves

for re-election thereat.
DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company for an initial term of three years. All the such service contracts are
continuous until terminated by either party giving to the other not less than
three months’ notice in writing, or by payment of three months’ salary in lieu

of such notice.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors is appointed for a term of
one year unless terminated by one month’s notice in writing. All Directors
are subject to the provisions of retirement and rotation of directors under the

Bye-laws.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within one year without

payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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By B A8 97 2 HE 4 INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

R EZ—FEMH =Z+H o AL A EE AT As at 30 April 2021, the interests of the Directors and the chief executive of

AR O A o A B HORR T s T (O 6 LR the Company in shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company

Fe WA B AR 55 XV B ) 2 B~ A B I A0y % i or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO as

Z5 v HE A ZE AR PR A 5 T A 1R R ) BR324 R recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or
BROR B e SR 98 GEM I it K R 25 460k as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Tl 2 2 S HEAT AE Gy W R E A N ZE N A required standard of dealings by the Directors as referred to in Rule 5.46 of

O R B A B 2 HERR AT

the GEM Listing Rules were as follows:

A2 ) Jie Ay e A B By 2 0 Long positions in shares and underlying shares of the Company
[/ S
WWH=+H
AL T B#AT
JBe A 2 W5 4 4 b
Jit 5 HH R Approximate
Ji 35 38 it 8 H J 4 8 H percentage of the
Number of Number of issued share capital
HREA B4 ordinary underlying of the Company
Name of Director Capacity shares held shares held as at 30 April 2021
R Tl P SEE L DN 3,320,000
Dr. So Yu Shing Beneficial owner
B RE SR (K GE () 3,320,000
Interest of spouse (note (a))
6,640,000 0.05%
Rtk + [ Ek XN 3,320,000
Beneficial owner
Ms. Lai Yuen Mei, Rebecca BB HE £ (B 5E (a)) 3,320,000
Interest of spouse (note (a))
6,640,000 0.05%
AR e B A A 1,778,000 0.01%
Mr. Kong Kam Wang Beneficial owner
R e Hada A 800,000 0.01%

Mr. So Wang Chun, Edmond

Beneficial owner
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Notes:

(a) Ms. Lai Yuen Mei, Rebecca is the spouse of Dr. So Yu Shing.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or the chief executive of the
Company had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations as at 30 April
2021.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the Year, the following Directors had interests in the following
business which were considered to compete or likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group (other than those business
where the Directors were appointed as directors to represent the interests of

the Company and/or the Group):

SHLAC 4R T 36 5 M 0Bt T
T RE A 5 T 2 R AR

Name of entity which were

considered to compete or

HREA likely to compete with ot 2 HE % 1 &
Name of Director the business of the Group Description of competing business Nature of interests
#E S LA R 5 an U AR ) o KL AL WATER

Law Man Sang KGI Asia Limited

MREFER LN LR T EFeH B
T A O S e PR AS SR T AT AE S
SEJR LB S T S IR AR R A A R DT B
J 3

BR DL E P74 88 AL IR AR AR A
B F A B R R A LA 3
T | 4 LA 4 o) S 5 A T B M A
SCBRAE AT w2 4 N T B A B2 1 A AE BT RE A TE
AT ] A 1] 45 7 €

EEZERARAET WLS Holdings Limited

Securities brokerage Executive director

As the Board is independent of the boards of directors of the above-mentioned
entities and each of the above Directors cannot control the Board, the Group is
therefore capable of carrying its business independently of and at arm’s length

from the businesses of these entities.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any business and
interest of the Directors or their respective close associates that competed
or might compete with the business of the Group and any other conflict of
interests which any such person had or might have with the Group during the

Year.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save for details of the share option scheme as disclosed below and in note 41
to the consolidated financial statements, during the Year, none of the Directors
(including their spouses and children under the age of 18) had any interest in
or was granted any right to subscribe for the shares in, or debentures of, the

Company or its associated corporations, or had exercised any such right.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND
OTHERS’ INTERESTS IN THE SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 30 April 2021, the Directors and the chief executive of the Company
were not aware of any person (other than the Directors or chief executive of
the Company whose interests were disclosed above) who had an interest in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register

required to be kept pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

TRANSACTION, ARRANGEMENT OR
CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 45 in notes to the consolidated financial statements
and in paragraph headed “Related parties disclosures” in this report, (i) there
is no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance subsisting during
or at the end of the Year in which a Director or an entity connected with a
Director is or was materially interested, either directly or indirectly; (ii) no
other contract of significance was entered into by, and/or subsisted between
the Company or any of its subsidiaries with the controlling shareholder or any
of its subsidiaries during the Year; and (iii) no other contract of significance in
relation to provision of services to the company or any of its subsidiaries by

the controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries during the Year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Directors confirm that the material related party transactions as disclosed
in note 45 in notes to the consolidated financial statements fall under the
definition of “connected transaction” or “continuing connected transaction”
(as the case may be) in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Directors
confirm that the Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, the aggregate amount of turnover attributable to the Group’s
five largest customers accounted for approximately 51% of the Group’s
total turnover and the turnover attributable to the Group’s largest customer

accounted for approximately 36% of the Group’s total turnover.

The aggregate amount of purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 50% of the Group’s total purchases
and the purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier accounted for
approximately 19% of the Group’s total purchases.

At no time during the Year did a Director, a close associate of a Director or a
shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) have an interest in any
of the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme adopted by the Company on 25 November 2001
was terminated by an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of the
Company at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 30 August
2011. Upon termination of this share option scheme, no further share options
under this scheme could be granted, but the provisions of this share option
scheme will remain in full force and effect to the extent necessary to give

effect to the exercise of those share options granted prior to its termination.

Under the terms of the Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company on
30 August 2011 (the “Option Scheme”), for the primary purpose of providing
incentive to directors, eligible employees and consultants, the Board may,
at its absolute discretion, offer full-time employees of the Company or any
of its subsidiaries, including executive, non-executive and independent
non-executive directors of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any
consultants or advisors of any member of the Group, to take up options to
subscribe for shares of the Company. The maximum aggregate number of
shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company must not, exceed 30% of the issued share capital of
the Company from time to time.The life of the Option Scheme was effective
until 29 August 2021.
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The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued on the exercise of
options granted under the Option Scheme or any other share option schemes
of the Company and its subsidiaries (including both exercised and outstanding
options) to a grantee in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the total
issued share capital of the Company in issue, unless separately approved by
the shareholders of the Company in general meeting with such grantee and
his associates abstaining from voting, and the number and terms (including
the subscription price) of the options to be granted to such person must be
fixed before the shareholders’ approval. A nominal consideration of HK$1 is

payable on acceptance of each grant.

The subscription price may be determined by the Board, provided that it shall
not be less than the highest of (a) the closing price of the Company’s shares
on GEM as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date
of offer of the options; (b) the average of the closing prices of the Company’s
shares on GEM as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of offer of the options;
and (c) the nominal value of the shares on the date of offer provided that in
the event of fractional prices, the subscription price per share shall be rounded

upwards to the nearest whole cent.

An option may be exercised in whole or in part in accordance with the terms
of the Option Scheme at any time during a period to be notified by the Board
to each grantee which shall not be more than 10 years from the date on which
the offer of the grant of the options is made in accordance with the terms of
the Option Scheme. There is no general requirement on the minimum period
for which an option must be held before an option can be exercised under the

terms of the Option Scheme.

In accordance with the terms of share-based arrangement, options issued prior
to or during the financial year ended 30 April 2021 are fully vested before the

date of exercisable period.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Group must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number
of shares in issue as at 9 October 2020, being the date of approval of the
refreshment of 10% general scheme limit under the Option Scheme by
the shareholders of the Company (i.e. 1,436,710,107 shares, representing
approximately 10% of the total number of shares in issue as at the date of this

annual report).
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Details of movements in the Company’s share options for the year ended
30 April 2021 are as follows:

i i HE
Number of share options
REBZRE [
frfEMm R HA—H WA=+H
Bt A (LHERRMA) Tt i AT B R LLP) EPRESH R ATRE AT
Outstanding
Exercise  Outstanding Granted Lapsed Cancelled Exercised as at
Exercisable period price per at 1 May during during during during 30 April
Date of grant (both dates inclusive) share 2020 the year the year the year the year 2021
B
w
Bl
Executive Director:
BB I (B3 ZECRE CECEECAAHE 00212 143,671,010 - (143,671,010) - - -
-AZt=0 ZEZ-%A\AfA
Yuen Chun Fai (Note) 23 January 2020 6 February 2020 to
5 August 2021
fEA e 23 CECEEZAARE 0.0212 143,671,010 - - - - 143,671,010
—AZ+=H ZZFZ-%A\A%H
Employee 23 January 2020 6 February 2020 to
5 August 2021
287,342,020 - (143,671,010 - - 143,671,010
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A i g HRE RS 0 I G 51 3 A A A 1 L 44
H# B L5
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B R M 5E41 -

15 o i HE
HRAR 24 A0 )T B S
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EEZERARAET WLS Holdings Limited

Note: A total of 143,671,010 share options granted to Mr. Yuen Chun Fai, an executive
director of the Company with the effect to 7 August 2020, were lapsed on the
date of termination of his employment in accordance with the terms of the Share

Option Scheme.

Further details of the share option scheme of the Company are set out in note

41 to the consolidated financial statements.
PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws or the laws
of Bermuda which would oblige the Company to offer new shares of the

Company on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is determined by the

Remuneration Committee on the basis of merit, qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the Company are
recommended by the Remuneration Committee and approved by the Board,
having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual performance and

comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to Directors
and eligible employees. Details of the scheme are set out above and in note 41

to the consolidated financial statements.
REMUNERATION OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the Corporate Governance Code set out
in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules, the remuneration of the senior

management of the Company for the Year by band is as follows:

N

Number of individuals

% £1,000,000% ¢
HEHERMNE R A m A L2
FEAR IR 45 A BB R B RELL -

5 A Rl B B

AR BE 5 AR N T AN R A AT AT R4 A R B
BORERI A E R ENER -

JiE PN ST

AR5 A AS A R S5 AT A B AR B PR T AT H AR A

F AL o> B A 2 R R R EE T AR A ]
T A A B — LA AL o AT A

B E - B O el i A

ACAEJE > A ) B AT o] A 2 ) AR T
B O [l AR 2 R AT T R

Nil to HK$1,000,000 5

Further particulars in relation to Directors’ remuneration and the five
individuals with highest emoluments are set out in note 11 to the consolidated

financial statements.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the Year, the Company was not aware of any non-compliance with any

relevant laws and regulations that had a significant impact on it.
SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue
of this annual report, the Company has maintained a sufficient public float

throughout the Year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SHARES

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,

sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the Year and up to the date of this annual report, permitted indemnity
provision (as defined in section 9 of the Companies (Directors’ Report)
Regulation (Chapter 622D of the Laws of Hong Kong)) was and is being in

force for the benefit of the Directors.
MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

During the Year, the cooperation agreement dated 1 January 2017 entered
into between Mass Fidelity Asset Management Limited (“Mass Fidelity”),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company principally engaged in assets
management, and GET Consulting Company Limited (“GET Consulting”) was
in force. Pursuant to such cooperation agreement, Mass Fidelity has engaged
GET Consulting to provide management services on the daily operation and
accounting and finance matters of Mass Fidelity. Such cooperation agreement
did not have a fixed term and no Director was interested in such cooperation

agreement.

Save as aforesaid, no other contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or in existence during the year ended 30 April
2021.

ISSUE OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES

During the Year, in order to raise funds to carry on and further develop the
money lending business of the Group, Gold Medal Hong Kong Limited (“Gold
Medal”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, issued (i)
the 8.5% coupon unlisted straight bond in the principal amount of HK$20
million on 28 October 2019 and the 8.0% coupon unlisted straight bond in the
principal amount of HK$42 million on 31 October 2020, which will mature
on the third and fifth anniversary date of the issue date, respectively. Both of
the coupon bonds were secured by the Company’s corporate guarantee and
the bondholder may request early redemption of the bond after one year of the
issuance date of the bond; (ii) the surety bond issued in 2020 with no interest

bearing which will mature on the second anniversary date of the issue date.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries issue

any shares or debentures during the Year.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for details of the share option scheme as disclosed above and in note
41 to the consolidated financial statements, no equity-linked agreement (as
defined in section 6 of the Companies (Directors’ Report) Regulation (Chapter
622D of the Laws of Hong Kong)) was entered into by the Company during

the Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the Year amounted
to HK$6,000 (Last Year: HK$89,000).

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
There has been no change in auditors of the Company in the three years
preceding the date of this annual report. A resolution will be proposed at

the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to re-appoint D &
PARTNERS CPA LIMITED as the independent auditors of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
So Yu Shing

Chairman

29 July 2021
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To the Shareholders of WLS Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with limited
liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of WLS Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages
78 to 198, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 30 April 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,

including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 April 2021, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance

with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for

our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion

thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
Key audit matter
Impairment assessment of loan and interest receivables

We identified the estimated impairment of loan and interest receivables arising
from the money lending business as a key audit matter due to significance of
the carrying amount and significant estimation required by the management on

assessing the impairment of loan and interest receivables.

As detailed in notes 4, 24 and 47 to the consolidated financial statements,
management assessed the provision for impairment of loan and interest
receivables based on the estimation of expected credit loss (“ECL”) under
a “three-stage” model. In developing the loss allowance of loan and interest
receivables, management use judgement in making the assumptions about the
probability of default and loss given default with reference to the historical
delinquency ratio of loans portfolio, repayment record, collateral values and

current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors.

As at 30 April 2021, the Group’s net loan and interest receivables amounted
to approximately HK$472,175,000 (2020: HK$462,442,000). Allowance
for credit losses of loan and interest receivables under the ECL model
amounted to approximately HK$126,226,000 (2020: HK$74,047,000) and net
impairment loss arising from ECL for the amount of HK$54,420,000 (2020:
HK$57,146,000).

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment of loan and interest

receivables arising from the money lending business included:

. Understanding, evaluating and validating the control over impairment
assessment of loan and interest receivables, which related to
management’s identification of events that triggered the significant
increase in credit risk of loan and interest receivables and events of
default;
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O Carrying out procedures, on a sample basis, to test the existence and
accuracy of the aging of loan and interest receivables as at the reporting
date;

. Reviewing the valuation methodology and approach adopted by

management in the ECL assessment;

O Evaluating the appropriateness of the key assumptions, such as
delinquency ratio and collateral values used in assessing the ECL based

on the historical data as well as market economic data; and

. Testing the integrity of information used by management to develop the
impairment assessment of loan and interest receivables as at year-end

by checking the historical settlement records on a sample basis.
OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report but
does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report

thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we

are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the

Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s

financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section
90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the

contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on

the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

By AR AR 7 s 5 s YE IE AT SR R AR b > 3
TR T HE R R T R - judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
A IR - also:

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
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EEZERARAET WLS Holdings Limited

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or

the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by

the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we

identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,

related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matters or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s

report is Lau, Ming Tak Simeon.

D & PARTNERS CPA LIMITED
Certified Public Accountants

Lau Ming Tak Simeon
Practising Certiticate Number: PO7579

Hong Kong, 29 July 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

BE—T——4FpH=+HIFFZ Forthe year ended 30 April 2021

SEOH CECER
2021 2020
B 5T T# T THs T
NOTES HK$’000 HK$°000
FERE Continuing operations
I 5 Revenue 5 150,206 139,516
BB A Cost of sales (78,164) (80,759)
EF) Gross profit 72,042 58,757
HoApth g A Other income 6,647 2,215
Huh gz & () Other gains and (losses) 8 (47,356) (78,194)
HERATEHE Operating and administrative expenses (42,680) (43,996)
BEMEZ N THES) Fair value changes on investment
properties (4,500) (8,080)
HEWE- B K2 i Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment 829 81
W W E B 2 ORI TR Loss on write-off of property,
plant and equipment (391) (25)
T T B TR E R Impairment loss recognised in respect of
A 5 1R goodwill and intangible asset - (34,954)
th B B A W) 2 AR Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 32 12,255 =
il R A Finance costs 9 (9,775) (9,795)
¥ i i fes 48 Loss before taxation (12,929) (113,991)
i IH Taxation 10 (6) 8,986
AR BE AR H RS Y 1R Loss for the year from continuing
operations 12 (12,935) (105,005)
b Discontinued operation
AR AR H # LR 58 1 s 1R Loss for the year from discontinued
operation 13 (3,153) (5,754)
A B R Loss for the year (16,088) (110,759)
EN/NCIER DN X Loss for the year attributable to
A 1 owners of the Company:
— R B R — from continuing operations (13,750) (103,134)
— R H KRS — from discontinued operation (3,153) (5,754)
(16,903) (108,888)
IE P I HE 25 ME A A 4F i Profit (loss) for the year attributable to
i A (fE1E) - non-controlling interests:
— K H RS — from continuing operations 815 (1,871)
(16,088) (110,759)
HE o A AR R E KR From continuing and discontinued
operations
A 1 e 15— FE AR R f Loss per share — basic and diluted 15 (HK$0.118 cent #fill) (HKS$0.758 cent # ll)

PERS: Fit 1
5 JBOMe 18— LA %

78 EE#ZBRARAR WLS Holdings Limited

From continuing operations

Loss per share — basic and diluted

(HK$0.096 cent i fill) (HKS0.718 cent # 1)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

BE—FT——4FH=+HIFFZ  For the year ended 30 April 2021

SETS . CECRE
2021 2020
T# 5t T
HK$°000 HK$’000
A AT BE ) 4R Loss for the year (16,088) (110,759)
HoAth 2 Y (S2H) ¢ Other comprehensive income (expense):
A EEH A E R 19 H - Item that will not be reclassitied to profit or loss:
FiE N T 7 N A 2 T i 25 Fair value gain (loss) on equity instruments
(M A FEFA KM AT LA 1) at fair value through other

2 THZ N F(EI s (B5H8)  comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) 627 (2,323)
Hh S P (EL R A H A A T Disposal of equity instruments at FVTOCI

Weii 2 R T A 33 -
AAEEEHAD A E A (Sl o Other comprehensive income (expense)

05 B IE for the year, net of taxation 660 (2,323)
AR B AT S AL Total comprehensive expense for the year (15,428) (113,082)
EN/NEIER T SN/ g oy Total comprehensive expense for the year

A TH 3 AR attributable to owners of the Company:

—K H R — from continuing operations (13,090) (105,457)

—2 3 #& LR — from discontinued operation (3,153) (5,754)

(16,243) (111,211)
I 72 T ME 45 EAG 2 T UL %% (1) Total comprehensive income (expense) attributable
AR to non-controlling interests:
—7R A FR A E — from continuing operations 815 (1,871)
(15,428) (113,082)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

REFZ—FPMA=+H At30Apri 2021

ST CECEE
2021 2020
B 5E T#5t TH#T
NOTES HK$’000 HK$°000
I I By & E Non-current assets
wEwE Investment properties 16 - 48,900
L ENN N Property, plant and equipment 17 4,284 11,130
i M Right-of-use assets 18 3,315 7,585
RS Goodwill 19 - =
Y & Intangible asset 20 - -
RBE AR KA /AT Z MR Interests in associates and a joint venture 22 - -
T O AE wh A H At 2 T i #i Equity instruments at FVTOCI
Z M4 TR 23 9,852 9,255
JARE g £ K % A Loan and interest receivables 24 266,429 311,224
1’% S I At IR i 3T Deposits and other receivables 25 791 755
SE B T Deferred tax assets 38 9,793 9,874
294,464 398,723
W B & Current assets
JAEE e 5 K % A Loan and interest receivables 24 205,746 151,218
T R ~ é?& Prepayments, deposits and
Al R ik I other receivables 25 13,796 7,938
JRE i B 3K Trade receivables 26 25,662 27,206
AHRERE Contract assets 27 9,970 7,997
pesy Inventories 28 1,226 451
AT EFA B ([#A Financial assets at fair value through
FEAIERLE ) 2 4 g E profit or loss (“FVTPL”) 29 64,643 22,686
JE ?E ] Bt TH Tax recoverable 13 13
ik Bl e —FrtRF Bank balances and cash — trust account 30 2 2
ﬁﬁﬁnu R - —RIEF Bank balances and cash — general accounts 30 44,053 78,298
365,111 295,809
SRR TR B E Assets classified as held for sale 31 51,490 37,587
416,601 333,396
i B £ 1% Current liabilities
JRE AR TR 39 B JEL At 1R AT 25 1 Trade and other payables 33 31,072 28,249
A AR Contract liabilities 34 6,767 9,097
iEN= =K Lease liabilities 35 3,809 5,084
JREASH £ ] 48 3 T Retention monies payables 3,411 1,642
& ﬁ%ﬁIE Tax payable 648 648
RAT (& Bank borrowings 36 47,859 45,113
HoAth 85 &ﬁﬂﬂ S Other loan and other borrowings 37 80,000 82,000
RITIE L Bank overdrafts 36 21,812 19,396
195,378 191,229
O3 By R A Liabilities associated with assets
B2 afE classified as held for sale 31 6,305 12,035
201,683 203,264
B & A Net current assets 214,918 130,132
HE E W B AL Total assets less current liabilities 509,382 528,855

EEZERARAET WLS Holdings Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

REZF=Z—FMA=1+H At30April 2021

SR CECRE
2021 2020
B 5 T#5t T# T
NOTES HK$’000 HK$°000
I it B £ 4% Non-current liabilities
L A i Lease liabilities 35 305 4,141
R A B JH £ i Deferred tax liabilities 38 189 365
494 4,506
7 B WA Net assets 508,888 524,349
A K ik Capital and reserves
Jili@S Share capital 39 143,670 143,670
it 4 Reserves 377,683 393,959
BN/ E Ny Equity attributable to the owners
of the Company 521,353 537,629
I 72 1 HE £ Non-controlling interests (12,465) (13,280)
HE %5 4841 Total equity 508,888 524,349
HI8E198H Z FHENR - —F L The consolidated financial statements on pages 78 to 198 were approved and

H T JUH R g e A AR HE T3 I LA

AN LR E

authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 July 2021 and are signed

on its behalf by:

SO YU SHING
HH

Director

TSE FUNG CHUN
#HH

Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HE=—ZT=——F/mA=1HIFF/Z Forthe year ended 30 April 2021

EYNSEZIN 11
Attributable to the owners of the Company
fAFE
AL
WA RBEE  EEEE 0BG WREGRE AmUaRE  ZHER B REE  ERAE
Share Non-
Share Share  Contributed Merger option FVIOCI  Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium surplus reserve feserve feserve losses Total interests equity
Ti T T T Tk Fitn Fitn Titn Titn Tibx
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
(W) (B (Mo
(Note a) (Note b) (Note¢)
REZE-NELA-H At 1 May 2019 143,670 560,230 191,087 m 7,280 (36,043) (222,407) 646,039 (11,409) 634,630
KEEER Loss for the year - - - - - - (108888)  (108.88) (1871 (1107%9)
ATEF AR E A 2 EE Fair value loss on equity instruments
THZATEER at FVTOCI - - - - - (2323) - 233) - 23)
FEERHT AR Total comprehensive expense for the year - - - - - Q33)  (108888) (111,201 (1870 (113,08)
FERR Mk 5 e 30 Recogition of equity-settled share-based
payment - - - - 2,801 - - 2,801 - 2801
TR Lapse of share options - - - - (7,280) - 7,280 - - -
RZ-ZENAZAA At 30 April 2020 143,670 560,230 191,087 m 2801 (38,366) (324,015) 537,629 (13,280) 54349
AR AEL
Attributable to the owners of the Company
¥
AL
Rk RBEE  KSER  A0RE BRERE 2ERERE  AHER A% RERES  EGER
Share Non-
Share Share  Contributed Merger option FVIOCI ~ Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium surplus reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
Titn Titn Titn Ti#n Ti#n Ti#n Ti#n T T#% T#%
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
(3ta) (3tb) (Hfike)
(Note a) (Note b) (Note¢)
REEZFELA-H At 1 May 2020 143,670 560,230 191,087 M 2801 (38,366) (324,015) 537,629 (13,280) 524,349
AERER Loss for the year - - - - - - (16,903) (16,903) 815 (16,088)
BATEF AL AN 2R Fair value loss on equity instruments
THZAFHEER al FVTOCE - - - - - 621 - 621 - 61
HERATEAL AT REL Disposal of equity instruments at FVTOCI
[ 5:ai:) - - - - - B (3 - - -
REERE T HAE Total comprehensive expense for the year - - - - - 660 (16,936) (16,276) 815 (15,461)
LIPS Lapse of share options - - - - (1422) - 1422 - - -
REBZ-ENAZAR At 30 April 2021 143,670 560,230 191,087 M 1379 (37,106) (339,529) 521,353 (12,465) 508,888

EREERAR AR WLS Holdings Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (Continued)

it :

(a) AR EAE BRI AR RO % — 4
N N BT 2 R AR g b
Al el 6 R R I i R D
VR R AR WA A M i R R o

(b) AW ARG A S W O AT 2 AR
M{E R BUR AL IR =T % —F+—H
S ERETZEEEANEANE AR
AT A I (E 2 22

() AR P U FBOHE ARG 95 75 A B L H I B4R
Hh A AR 1 R AT Y M S 2 (R

Notes:

(a)

(b)

()

BE—FT——4FH=+HIFFZ  For the year ended 30 April 2021

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the amount transferred
from share premium amount upon the cancellation of the entire amount
standing to the credit of the share premium account as at 28 August
2014 pursuant to a special resolution passed by the shareholders at an
extraordinary general meeting held on that date.

The merger reserve of the Group represents the difference between the
nominal amount of the share capital issued by the Company in exchange
for the nominal value for the issued share capital of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to the Group’s reorganisation on 23 November 2001.

The share option reserve of the Group represents the fair value of share
options granted at the relevant grant dates and outstanding as at end of
the reporting period.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BE—T——4FpH=+HIFFZ Forthe year ended 30 April 2021

SESE CECFE
2021 2020
T#x Tk
HK$°000 HK$’000
REEH Operating activities
W B i s 4R Loss before taxation (16,082) (119,745)
BT 54 AR A Adjustments for:
R A Interest income (100) (1,380)
il AR Finance costs 9,917 9,861
g Depreciation 6,246 8,104
BEMEZ AT EER Fair value loss on investment properties 4,500 8,080
AT EFIABEZ EMERE2Z Fair value (gain) loss on financial assets
RFE (st e 1R at FVTPL (18,059) 16,785
HEHEATEFABEZ Loss on disposal of financial assets
EEE 2 EH at FVTPL 483 1,008
I3 R Bt 2 R 1R Loss on write-off of property, plant and equipment 391 25
HEWE  RE R 2 Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (829) (81)
JB A& 2 AR S Share-based payment expenses - 2,801
R e 5 B LB 2 IR Write-off of loan and interest receivables 6,218 =
JRE WA B K 2 W Write-off of trade receivables - 1,707
JRE ST 2 2 R 4 [l Reversal of write-off of trade receivables - (1,099)
B HTE B 2 R A [ Reversal of write-off of contract assets - (200)
= W REAST R R 2 R Write-off of long-aged trade payables - (40)
7 2 e T 2 W R Impairment loss of goodwill and intangible asset - 34,954
il PP AE O B M AR Impairment loss of right-of-use assets - 2,038
JRE S 3 e ) B 22 S8 e 4R B Net impairment loss of loan and interest receivables 54,420 57,146
JRE A B O 1 M 1 R Net impairment loss of trade receivables 3,649 832
AHEEZBHEEETH Net impairment loss of contract assets 213 (23)
th 65 I A wD R g Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (12,255) =
B 0201978 R 9 5 493 AR 1 AH 48 k4 COVID-19-related rent concession received (90) =
HETE A Sundry income 8) _
REEESBBHMZ8E Operating cash flows before movements
BEws in working capital 38,614 20,773

EEZERARAET WLS Holdings Limited



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

AE T -——FWA=+HIFFE

Bl iR ()

For the year ended 30 April 2021

SESE . CECFE
2021 2020
T#x Tk
HK$°000 HK$’000
JRE i £ 3K B R B 8 Increase in loan and interest receivables (70,371) (58,511)
FEAT AR - e K HAl Decrease in prepayments, deposits and
JRE Wi T ek D other receivables 6,664 667
JREMC R 2 (38 m) 3 (Increase) decrease in trade receivables (2,105) 12,946
B HE RN Increase in contract assets (2,186) (2,578)
17 &1 m Increase in inventories (775) (94)
WA EFIARGEZ &M EE (Increase) decrease in financial assets at FVTPL
() k> (24,381) 283
RITEEGEB WD —FitIEF Decrease in bank balances and cash — trust account - 3,372
JRE AT W 9 e L A B A5 5 I 14 Increase in trade and other payables 3,028 3,582
EHIEE (B 8 (Decrease) increase in contract liabilities (2,330) 4,442
JRE AP 1] 45 3 TEE 0 (k) Increase (decrease) in retention monies payables 1,769 (975)
SEW5 T Bl Cash used in operations (52,073) (16,093)
A A o A £ L Hong Kong Profits Tax paid - (591)
REEBEMABRSFH Net cash used in operating activities (52,073) (16,684)
REEH Investing activities
U 0 2 R BGR A Purchase of property, plant and equipment (1,819) (2,271)
O B 4% 4 Placement of rental deposit - (523)
el /N I W N R (g Proceeds from disposal of equity instruments
Z MR TH 13 5KI8 at FVTOCI 66 =
i B e AT R A HAh 2 T R 85 2 Purchase of equity instruments at FVTOCI
s TH (36) =
WY S A T A EOE Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 829 55
4 Y B 2 ) O A R VR A Net proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries 1,534 -
WA B — [T A J 2 ) B A A Y Net cash inflow from acquisition additional interest
HERAFH of a subsidiary - 233
B R S Interest received 100 1,320
BEEHENS (R B &FH Net cash generated from (used in) investing activities 674 (1,186)
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Ao By B U R (A
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

BE—T——4FpH=+HIFFZ Forthe year ended 30 April 2021

TR R CRE
2021 2020
Tt T T
HK$’000 HK$’000
g Financing activities
s RITEE New bank borrowings raised 40,326 37,580
MR AT A Z HoA B Proceeds from other loan and other borrowings,

HoA A 65 2 B 153 3K E net of issue cost 70,000 20,000
BEMEARE Repayment of lease liabilities (6,613) (3,210)
3 HL At 0 3 I HL A £ £ Repayment of other loan and other borrowings (66,000) (8,000)
EATFE Interest paid (9,440) (8,774)
18 7 BRAT 1 Repayment of bank borrowings (37,580) (26,999)
B (B ) Bl & 58 Net cash (used in) generated from financing activities 9,307) 10,597
Bla BB &SI H WA 5§ Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (60,706) (7,273)
RENZHE KRB EEMHEH Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of

the year 82,974 90,247

RERZBERB&EHEH Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 22,268 82,974
Ble BB &SI H S Analysis of cash and cash equivalents

RE R R From continuing operations:

WATH B R B & —— RIRF Bank balances and cash — general accounts 44,053 78,298

W|ATBE XL Bank overdrafts (21,812) (19,396)

22,241 58,902

DR EER BRI I LB S Bank balances and cash classified a held for sale 27 24,072

22,268 82,974

EEZERARAET WLS Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. —k$HE

AR S A B B By 5 B ST S — P R il
A E R A R T H R B 5C P
GEM LTl A% 24 W) 5 it 3 = B 1% /i Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11,
Bermuda ° A8 /A ® s A0 M S R K B E A ¥
b B A Ve A T A AT BT S A 1 5% R T S
5 A EE1041001-1006% o

AN ERIEF T L@ Rl TREM
B 5 2 KGR T L At I AR B S RS
B~ 8 R A S R B -

PR A MBS IR T LT ([T ]) B
BN AN TR RE R o

2. JE W AT A B ek
SO (T 7 8 B 5 i o e U0 1)
B JL B HT A

TP A A JBE o ) 2R 28 A vl B o
EURC SN

AR AR AR SR U T e A i
N (TN g ) B 2 & i W5
i ME QA E A S HE RIS 5B RT A LT &
o B B A YE B BT A B R A S S
RG> ZFEEITAR _F _FFEHLA—H
B2 A% B s 2 A T TR 9 o A 2

FHETEAR AT RS  ERZER
HERSE8%E (BRI A)

Tl MO 3 (BT A) KB EHR
FHMB R EQAFN B IR
Bt 2 H 5 30%E K 7 v A

HERIZRTHE (BRTA)

BEAN > A BB R A s PRS0 o R
WleME BT A —FE - —FEANA=ZTHZEN
201976k 1R 75 =7 97 A B AH 48 A

BT SOt Ab > T A 4 BE R 7 i U S i A
e [ A5 VB AR A SR AR BB T A B A U B S
o HE QG BT A A G B AR 4R [ AR AR B SO A
L2 BB AR UL B R B KB W% 4 A
B i 3R T R 48 R A B R B

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
and continued in Bermuda with limited liability and its shares are listed on
GEM of the Stock Exchange. The registered office of the Company is located
at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda. The head
office and the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong is
located at Rooms 1001-1006, 10th Floor, Tower A, Southmark, No. 11 Yip
Hing Street, Wong Chuk Hang, Aberdeen, Hong Kong.

The principal activities of the Group are the provision of scaffolding, fitting
out and other auxiliary services for construction and buildings work, money
lending business, securities investment business and assets management

business.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars

(“HK$”), which is also the functional currency of the Company.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the
current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the Amendments to References
to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards and the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are mandatorily effective
for the annual period beginning on or after 1 May 2020 for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Definition of Material

Definition of a Business

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

In addition, the Group has early applied the Amendment to HKFRS 16
COVID-19-Related Rent concessions beyond 30 June 2021.

Except as described below, the application of the Amendments to References
to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards and the amendments to
HKFRSs in the current year had no material impact on the Groups’ financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the

disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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EEZERARAET WLS Holdings Limited

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (CONTINUED)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS
8 Definition of Material

The Group has applied Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 for the first time
in the current year. The amendments provide a new definition of material that
states “information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general
purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements,
which provide financial information about a specify reporting entity.” The
amendments also clarify that materiality depends on the nature or magnitude
of information, either individually or in combination with other information,

in the context of the financial statements taken as a whole.

The application of the amendments in the current year had no material impact

on the consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on early application of Amendment to HKFRS 16
COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021

The amendment extends the practical expedient available to lessees in
accounting for COVID-19-related rent concessions by one year. The reduction
in lease payments could only affect payments originally due on or before
30 June 2021 is extended to 30 June 2022. The amendment is effective for
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021, with earlier

application permitted.

The Group has early applied the amendment in the current year. The

application had no material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8
Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

2

3

4

Insurance Contracts and the related
Amendments'

Reference to the Conceptual Framework?

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2*

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture?

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretations 5 (2020)'

Disclosure of Accounting Policies’

Definition of Accounting Estimates'

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction'

Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds
before Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract?

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018 —
20207

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all the new
and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance and/or on the disclosures to the Group in

the foreseeable future.
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EEZERARAET WLS Holdings Limited

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (“GEM Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (“CO”).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical
cost basis except for investment properties and certain financial instruments
that are measured at fair values, as explained in accounting policies set out

below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given

in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable
or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of
the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics
into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based
payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment, leasing transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 16, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value,
such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS

36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market
participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its
highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would

use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which are transacted at
fair value and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs is to be used to
measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated
so that at initial recognition the results of the valuation technique equals the

transaction price.



B 7 S 5 R B

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. EEGHBR @

UEAh s B B ROE BT E - AP EF R
PO T(E R A B 2 T B TR R A
YR AR R B EEE A
TEEHORHEI R

. S OO BOR TR FE N E B T A5
Z M) R AR AE I R 2 R
(RAETAHE)

o ETHUE A BUR IR B — TSI
BEUShZ T E S B REE KA
Lz mA B &

s BEMWMAMBIEERAMRZIAN
LA A\ O -

EEGFBORHI T o
Bk Bk e

R BB R S AR A W) R 2 AR m) B Y
J& 2% R B 2 B R R AR AR T
B4 L HCAT 42 il B -

. HAHBBETNMES

o AZHEYAE I REB AT S S
EE JCE Wi

. A7 BE 7 9 T LR B (el -

il A7 35 T R DL R B b 9 = T R RO
o TEE DL B B A ) > A AR R AT A K
T AR BB E Ty

A A ) HE 15 WY TR > ) A o B e B L AR A
MR o T A 2 K 2 R JA > ) £ R HE IR 5 BOR
P HEG S AR BB S - B A B
i 2 ) I ME 2 FEEE > AR i B A
Jigj 2 ) 2 O B B STt BN R 1R AR B HeAth
AT AR R A 0 B A AR AR R P AR
FPERIREZ H Ak

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are
categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the
fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to

the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the

measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within
Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or
indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements
of the Company and entities controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.

Control is achieved when the Company:
. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with

the investee; and
. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three

elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over
the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary.
Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the

date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
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EEZERARAET WLS Holdings Limited

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-

controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into line with those used by

other members of the Group.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full

on consolidation.
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings, leasehold land (classified
as finance lease) held for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes, are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and

subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.
Ownership interests in leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for a property interest which includes both
leasehold land and building elements, the Group assesses the classification
of each element as a finance or an operating lease separately based on the
assessment as to whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group, unless it is
clear that both elements are operating leases in which case the entire property
is accounted as an operating lease. Specifically, the entire consideration
(including any lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated between the
leasehold land and building elements in proportion to the relative fair values
of the leasehold interests in the land element and building element at initial

recognition.

When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between the leasehold
land and building elements, the entire property is generally classified as if the

leasehold land is under finance lease.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Ownership interests in leasehold land and building (Continued)
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of property,
plant and equipment, less their residual values over their estimated useful

lives, using the straight-line method, at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold land and buildings Over the term of the lease

Plant and machinery 20%
Metal tubes and catwalks 20%
Gondolas’ related equipment 10%
Motor vehicles 20%
Furniture and fixtures 20%

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of the reporting period, with the effect of any changes in

estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use
of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item
of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit

or loss.
Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital
appreciation. Investment properties include land held for undetermined future

use, which is regarded as held for capital appreciation purpose.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any directly
attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are measured at fair values using the fair value model. All the
Group’s property interests held under operating leases to earn rentals or for
capital appreciation purpose are classified and accounted for as investment
properties and are measured using the fair value model. Gains or losses arising
from changes in the fair value of investment properties are included in profit

or loss for the period in which they arise.
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EEZERARAET WLS Holdings Limited

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Investment properties (Continued)

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment
property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits
are expected from the disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of
the property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period

in which the property is derecognised.
Intangible asset acquired in a business combination

Intangible asset acquired in a business combination is recognised separately
from goodwill and is initially recognised at their fair value at the acquisition

date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business
combination with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any subsequent

accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic
benefits is expected from use or disposal. Gains and losses arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in

profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
Interests in associates and a joint venture

An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over these

polices.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint
arrangement. A joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of
an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities

require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Interests in associates and a joint venture (Continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and a joint venture are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the equity
method of accounting. The financial statements of associates and the joint
venture used for equity accounting purpose are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Under the equity method, all investments in associates
or the joint venture are initially recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of associates or
the joint venture. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds
the Group’s interest in that associate or the joint venture (which includes any
long-term interest that, in substance, forms part of the Group’s net investment
in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. An additional loss is recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of that

associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for using the
equity method from the date on which the investee becomes an associate or
a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint
venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount
of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in

which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the interest in
an associate or a joint venture may be impaired. When any objective evidence
exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill)
is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised
forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that

the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.
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EEZERARAET WLS Holdings Limited

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Interests in associates and a joint venture (Continued)

When the Group retains an interest in the former associate or a joint venture
and the retained interest is a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9,
the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and the
fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition. The difference
between the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture at the date the
equity method was discontinued, and the fair value of any retained interest and
any proceeds from disposing the relevant interest in the associate is included
in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of that associate or joint
venture. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that associate or joint venture
on the same basis as would be required if that associate or joint venture had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or
loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate
or joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity
to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when the equity method is

discontinued.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or a joint
venture but the Group continues to use the equity method, the Group
reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had
previously been recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that
reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to

profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of the
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with that associate or
joint venture are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements

only to the extent of interests in the associate that are not related to the Group.

Assets classified as held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their
carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather
than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when
the asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present
condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary for sales of such
asset (or disposal group) and its sale is highly probable. Management must be
committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as

a completed sale within one year from the date of classification.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Assets classified as held for sale (Continued)

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control of a
subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are classified as
held for sale when the criteria described above are met, regardless of whether
the Group will retain a non-controlling interest in the relevant subsidiary after
the sale.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving disposal of an
investment, or a portion of an investment, in an associate or joint venture,
the investment or the portion of the investment that will be disposed of is
classified as held for sale when the criteria described above are met, and the
Group discontinues the use of the equity method in relation to the portion that
is classified as held for sale from the time when the investment (or a portion
of the investment) is classified as held for sale.

Assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale are measured at the
lower of their previous carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is
calculated using the first-in, first-out method.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments. All regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value
except for trade receivables arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at

FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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EEZERARAET WLS Holdings Limited

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost
of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest income and
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments (including
all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate,
a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest which are derived from the Group’s ordinary course of business are
presented as revenue.

Financial Assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured

at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to

collect contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured
at FVTOCI:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is

achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except that at
the date of initial application/initial recognition of a financial asset the Group
may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity
investment in OCI if that equity investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination
to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial Assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (Continued)

Financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

It has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near

term; or

On initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial
instruments that the Group manages together and has a recent actual

pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

It is a derivative that is not designated and effective as hedging

instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that are

required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured

at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting

mismatch.

()

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for
financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost. Interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost
of the financial asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period following the

determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial Assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (Continued)

(ii))  Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are subsequently
measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in
fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the FVTOCI reserve; and are not subject to impairment assessment.
The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on

disposal of the equity investments, and will continue to be held in the

FVTOCI reserve.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are recognised
in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the dividends is
established, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of

the cost of the investment. Dividends are included in the “other income”

line item in profit or loss.

(iii) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are measured at

FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit
or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any

dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the

“other gains and (losses)” line item.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial Assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”)
on financial assets which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9
including loan and interest receivables, trade receivables, contract assets,
other receivables and bank balances. The amount of ECL is updated at each

reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default
events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month
(“12m”) ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result
from default events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting

date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables and contract
assets. The ECL on these assets are assessed individually for debtors with
significant balances and collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate

groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12m
ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases

in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial Assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

®

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking

information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when

assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial

instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

. significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit
risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit

default swap prices for the debtor;

. existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant

decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating

results of the debtor;

C an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory,
economic, or technological environment of the debtor that results
in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt

obligations.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial Assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

®

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are past due based on the
contractual terms, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable

information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a
debt instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition
if the debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk
if 1) it has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower has a strong capacity
to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and iii)
adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer
term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers
a debt instrument to have low credit risk when it has an internal or
external credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as per globally understood

definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to
identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes

past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of
default occurs when information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial Assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of default
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is

credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

(a)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c¢)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons
relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted
to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not

otherwise consider;

(d) itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or

other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset

because of financial difficulties.

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery. Financial assets written off may
still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries

are recognised in profit or loss.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial Assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default,
loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined with the respective

risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective

interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases where
evidence at individual instrument level may not yet be available, the

financial instruments are grouped on the the following basis:

o Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group’s trade receivables,
and contract assets are each assessed as a separate group). Loan
and interest receivables, other receivables and bank balances are

assessed for expected credit losses on an individual basis);

. Past-due status;
o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
. External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk

characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in
which case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of the

financial asset.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial Assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to
the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset
and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to
recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for

the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the

consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument classified as at
FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the FVTOCI

reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the Group has
elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain
or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is not

reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to accumulated losses.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial

liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instrument

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the
assets of the group after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds received net of direct

issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the

effective interest method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of
a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash payments (including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a

shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the
Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference

between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the

consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for

consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business combinations
on or after the date of initial application, the Group assesses whether a
contract is or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract
will not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are

subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price
of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components, including contract for acquisition of ownership interests of
a property which includes both leasehold land and non-lease building

components, unless such allocation cannot be made reliably.

The Group also applies practical expedient not to separate non-lease
components from lease component, and instead account for the lease
component and any associated non-lease components as a single lease

component.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases
of some clinics that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. Lease payments on
short-term leases are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the

lease term.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

. any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any

lease incentives received;

. any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

O an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling and
removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which it is located
or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms

and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation

and impairment losses, and adjusted for any measurement at lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the lease term are
depreciated from commencement date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise,
right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of

its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the

consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 and initially
measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition

are considered as additional lease payments and included in the cost of

right-of-use assets.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities
At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and measures the
lease liability at the present value of lease payments that are unpaid at that
date. In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

. fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease

incentives receivable;

. variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially

measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date;

. amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value
guarantees;
. the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain

to exercise the option; and

. payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects

the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest

accretion and lease payments.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding adjustment

to the related right-of-use assets) whenever:

the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of
exercise of a purchase option, in which case the related lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised

discount rate at the date of reassessment.

the lease payments change due to changes in market rental rates
following a market rent review/expected payment under a guaranteed
residual value, in which cases the related lease liability is remeasured

by discounting the revised lease payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the consolidated

statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to

use one or more underlying assets; and

the consideration for the leases increases by an amount commensurate
with the stand-alone price for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the

particular contract.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modifications (Continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, the
Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease term of the modified
lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate

at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by making
corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset. When the
modified contract contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the modified contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative
stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price

of the non-lease components.
The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or operating
leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee,
the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as

operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term except for investment

properties measured under fair value model.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessor (Continued)
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
When a contract includes both leases and non-lease components, the Group
applies HKFRS 15 to allocate consideration in a contract to lease and
non-lease components. Non-lease components are separated from lease
component on the basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.
Refundable rental deposits
Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under HKFRS 9 and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition
are considered as additional lease payments from lessees.
Lease modifications
The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a new lease
from the effective date of the modification, considering any prepaid or accrued

lease payments relating to the original lease as part of the lease payments for

the new lease.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency (foreign
currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates
of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
at that date. Non-monetary items that are measured at historical costs in a

foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the
rationalisation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period

they arise.
Revenue from contracts with customers

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying

the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of goods
or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that are

substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant

performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

. the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits

provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs;

. the Group’s performance creates and enhances an asset that the

customer controls as the Group performs; or

. the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative
use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for

performance completed to date.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains

control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in exchange
for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a customer that is not
yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS
9. In contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before payment of that

consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or
services to a customer for which the Group has received consideration (or an

amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract are

accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress towards complete

satisfaction of a performance obligation
Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation is
measured based on output method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of direct measurements of the value of the goods or services transferred to the
customer to date relative to the remaining goods or services promised under
the contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring control

of goods or services.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration (to specify), the Group
estimates the amount of consideration to which it will be entitled using either
(a) the expected value method or (b) the most likely amount, depending on
which method better predicts the amount of consideration to which the Group
will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is included in the transaction
price only to the extent that it is highly probable that such an inclusion will
not result in a significant revenue reversal in the future when the uncertainty

associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates the estimated
transaction price (including updating its assessment of whether an estimate of
variable consideration is constrained) to represent faithfully the circumstances
present at the end of the reporting periods and the changes in circumstances
during the reporting periods.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added
to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready
for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are recognised in the

consolidated profit or loss in the period they incurred.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to directors and employees

Equity-settled share based payments to directors and employees are measured

at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments determined at the
grant date without taking into consideration all non-market vesting conditions
is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the
Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a
corresponding increase in equity (share options reserve). At the end of each
reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity
instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-market
vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any,
is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the

revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share
options reserve will be transferred to share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date,
the amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to

accumulated losses.
Share options granted to consultants

Equity-settled share based payment transactions with parties other than
directors and employees are measured at the fair value of the goods or services
received, except where the fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which
case they are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments granted,
measured at the date the entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders
the services. The fair values of the goods or services received are recognised
as an expenses, with a corresponding increase in equity (share option reserve),
when the Group obtains the goods or when the counterparties render services,

unless the goods and services qualify for recognition as assets.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered services entitling

them to the contributions.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and

deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated profit of loss because
it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been

enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements
and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can
be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary differences arise from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial

recognition of goodwill.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and an associate, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it
is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interest are only recognised to the extent
that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which
to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to

reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and it is reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the assets

to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects,
at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment properties that are
measured using the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such properties
are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption
is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment property is
depreciable and is held within a business model of the group whose business
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the investment property over time, rather than through sale.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions in which
the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the related lease liabilities,
the Group first determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the

right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they
relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business

combination.
Impairment on tangible and intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts
of its tangible and intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. The
reasonable amount of tangible and intangible assets are estimated individually,
when it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the
asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual CGUs, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and

consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been

adjusted.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Impairment on tangible and intangible assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to be less than
its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU) is reduced
to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount under
another standard, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation

decrease under that standard.

Where an impairment loss is subsequently reversed, the carrying amount of the
asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but to the
extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as
income immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount,
in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation

increase.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described
in note 3, the Directors are required to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be

relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future

periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the Directors have made in the process of

applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most significant

effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies (Continued)
Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities arising from investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the Directors have
reviewed the Group’s investment property portfolio and concluded that the
Group’s investment properties are not held under a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied
in the investment properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore,
in measuring the Group’s deferred taxation on investment properties, the
Directors have determined that the presumption that the carrying amounts
of investment properties measured using the fair value model are recovered

entirely through sale is not rebutted.
Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of

assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
Estimation of recoverability of loan and interest receivables

The Group assesses provision for impairment of loan and interest receivables
based on an estimate of the recoverability of these receivables. Provisions
are applied to loan and interest receivables where events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the balances may not be collectible. The
identification of impairment of loan and interest receivables under HKFRS 9
requires the use of estimates and judgement. Where the expectation is different
from the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying value of
receivables and provision for impairment losses in the period in which such
estimate has been changed. The Group uses judgement in making assumptions
and selecting the inputs to its ECL calculation, based on the Group’s past
history, existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the
end of each reporting period. Details of the key assumptions and inputs used

are disclosed in note 47.
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5. REVENUE

For the year ended 30 April 2021

(a) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

R4 “EFAE
2021 2020
T#5t TH#IT
HK$’000 HKS$’000
FHERBEAMRAEF GRS : Revenue from contracts with
customers from continuing
operations:
T A Rt TRRER LGN 2R 45 1 M B I Contract revenue in respect of
Ho At il B IR B 2 & &)l ER scaffolding, fitting out and other
auxiliary services for construction
and buildings work 96,601 92,690
B M 2E Assets management business 1,848 2,034
98,449 94,724
R HE H ALK Z WA : Revenue from other sources:
A Bl A Loan interest income 51,757 44,792
o 18 258 8 T 45 AU 25 Total revenue from continuing
operations 150,206 139,516
ZE 4 E R
2021 2020
T#5t TH#IT
HK$’000 HKS$’000
i e A T 1 R = ] Timing of revenue recognition
from continuing operations:
i I [ Over time 98,449 94,724

s R R &ﬁ%ﬁﬂl%‘%ﬁ?‘iﬂﬁ%
H & T A #U t B 784,0009 T ( T AR
457,00085 75 ) T4 4% IH7 [ BE 7 DL R o

Revenue from contracts with customer from discontinued operation of securities

brokerage and margin financing business amounted to HK$784,000 (2020: HK$457,000)

are recognised at a point in time.
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S.

REVENUE (conTINUED)

For the year ended 30 April 2021 (Continued)

(b)

Performance obligations for contracts with customers from

continuing operations

Scaffolding, fitting out and other auxiliary services for construction and

buildings work

The Group provides scaffolding, fitting out and other auxiliary services
for construction and buildings work. Such services are recognised as
a performance obligation satisfied over time as the Group creates or
enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced. Revenue is recognised for these construction services based

on the stage of completion of the contract using output method.

Assets management business

Assets management services to customers are recognised over time
as the Group provides assets management services and the customers
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefit provided by the
Group. The assets management income is charged at a fixed percentage
per annum of the asset value of the accounts under management of
the Group. The Group is also entitled to a performance fee for certain
accounts when pre-set performance target for the relevant performance
period is met. The performance fee is recognised when it is highly
probable that a significant reversal in the revenue recognised will not
occur when the performance target is evaluated on an annual basis
for each of the account. Management fee is normally due on account
opening date and the subsequent anniversary date while performance

fee is normally due at the end of the relevant performance period.
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S. REVENUE (conTINUED)
For the year ended 30 April 2021 (Continued)

(c) Performance obligations for contracts with customers from

discontinued operation
Securities brokerage and margin financing

The Group provides securities brokerage and margin financing services
to customers. Commission income from securities brokerage and margin
financing is determined at a certain percentage of the transaction value
of the trades executed and is recognised as income on the date the trades
are executed. Normal settlement terms are one or two days after trade

date, unless specifically agreed with counterparties.

(d) Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligation
(unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) for contracts with customers

that remain outstanding as at reporting date and the expected

mE: timing at recognising revenue is set out below:
e 2 TE R
2021 2020
Tl Tt
HK$’000 HK$’000
e Continuing operations:
B Nk TR e 4 d B & Scaffolding, fitting out and
Al i B R % other auxiliary services for
construction and buildings work
— AR Within one year 80,113 283,168
— A DL AE S A W AR More than one year but not
more than two years 32,448 28,444
LY More than two years 783 1,511
Fatss Total 113,344 313,123
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group determines its operating and reportable segments based on the
reports, reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker (“CODM?”), that
are used for resources allocation and assessment of performance focusing
specifically on the revenue analysis by principal categories of the Group’s
business and the profit of the Group as a whole. For the year ended 30 April
2021, the Group has four operating and reportable segments — (i) scaffolding,
fitting out and other auxiliary services for construction and buildings work, (ii)
money lending business, (iii) securities investment business, and (iv) assets
management business. These segments are managed separately as they belong

to different industries and require different operating systems and strategies.

The segment information reported does not include any amounts for the
securities brokerage and margin financing business which are classified as

discontinued operation and described in more details in note 13.
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6. 7 EP =)
Va1 E W ES VG g L

A AR T 4 A8 TR 3 0 2 i i B SE AR DA
HERAAHMT -

BEF - ENA =T HILEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Segment revenues and results and segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results and assets and

liabilities by operating and reportable segment.

For the year ended 30 April 2021

BRERREE TR
SO
Wik B R
Al o oy e
Scaffolding, fitting HHERE BEEN
out and other [ e *% E3i
auxiliary services Money Securities Assets
for construction lending investment management Mt
and buildings work business business business Total
Tt Tt Ttz T Tt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
HERE: Continuing operations:
Wi REVENUE
ot External revenue 96,601 51,757 - 1,848 150,206
Hthlesi & (B18) Other gains and (losses) (433) (6,218) 17,577 - 10,926
HEMGEEERERZBAERERTH Net impairment losses recognised arising
from ECL (3,862) (54,420) - - (58,282)
HitgA Other income 4,331 - 17 812 5,160
At Total 96,637 (8,881) 17,594 2,660 108,010
SR Segment result (4,678) (46,976) 47,117 241 (4,296)
REMEZ A TEES Fair value changes on investment
properties (4,500)
i B O A Gain on disposal of subsidaries 12,255
B EE - B R 2 Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment 829
VEN VT va U] Loss on write-off of property,
plant and equipment (391)
& A Finance costs (9,775)
RARZATA Unallocated corporate income 1487
FARZ AR Unallocated corporate expenses (8,538)
WL Loss before taxation (12,929)
REZZ-ENA=TH At 30 April 2021
% ASSETS
SEE Segment assels 48313 504,836 82,527 1816 637,492
fld LIABILITIES
SHE R Segment liabilities 94,429 83,270 2,939 1,47 181,885
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6. 7 EP =) 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

vigi L E Y ES VY G ig N g VG- R Segment revenues and results and segment assets and liabilities
(%) (Continued)

BE-F BFENA=H LGS

For the year ended 30 April 2020

ARERBEIR
MRS
RBEER
HAh i B
Scaffolding, fitting BHE BEEH
out and other SR Eais £33
auxiliary services Money Securities Assets
for construction and lending investment management it
buildings work business business business Total
Tt T T T T#T
HK$'000 HKS’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
KRR Continuing operations:
i REVENUE
B External revenue 92,690 44792 - 2,034 139,516
Hillieds & UBR) Other gains and (losses) (385) - (17,793) (2,038) (20,216)
HEHGEEERER BRI S Net impairment losses rewgnised arising
from ECL (832) (57,146) - - (57,978)
PR SAN A Impairment loss recognised
in respect of intangible asset - - - (34,600 (34,600)
LN Other income 259 100 1,129 74 1,562
a5t Total 91,732 (12,254) (16,664) (34,530) 28,284
HHER Segment result (9.639) (38.599) 9,386 (38.761) (17.613)
REMELATEED Fair value changes on investment
properties (8,080)
HEE- R R 2 Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment 81
AMEERBEER Impairment loss recognised
in respect of goodwill (354)
VEN GV vk G Loss on write-off of property,
plant and equipment (25)
B A Finance costs (9,795)
FAEZATRA Unallocated corporate income 653
RARZ AT Unallocated corporate expenses (18,358)
BB i 1R Loss before taxation (113,91)
REZZZZENAZ4H At 30 April 2020
% ASSETS
G Segment assets 50,646 498,250 53,533 3.026 605,655
Al LIABILITIES
ViEBEY Segment liabilities 94,888 78,363 #3811 2,763 218,827
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Segment revenues and results and segment assets and liabilities
(Continued)

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated from external
customers. There were no inter-segment sales during the years ended 30 April
2021 and 2020.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as the Group’s
accounting policies. Segment results represent the profits earned by/loss
from each segment without allocation of fair value changes on investment
properties, gain on disposal of subsidiaries, gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment, impairment loss recognised in respect of goodwill, loss
on write-off of property, plant and equipment, finance costs, unallocated
corporate income and unallocated corporate expenses. This is the measure
reported to the CODM for the purpose of resources allocation and performance

assessment.

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources

between segments:

. all assets are allocated to reportable and operating segments other than
investment properties, certain right-of-use assets, certain deferred tax
assets, certain property, plant and equipment, certain prepayments and
deposits and other receivables and certain bank balances and cash and

assets classified as held for sale;

. all liabilities are allocated to reportable and operating segments other
than certain other payables, certain lease liabilities, certain tax payables,
certain other loan and other borrowings and liabilities associated with

assets classified as held for sale.
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6. & B s 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
A 43 5B & B Other Segment Information
BRERRETR
i P
Hi%BR
S 6 00 B¢
Scaffolding,
fitting out and L8213 B
other auxiliary fREH *#% 1%
services for Money Securities Assets
construction and lending investment management KaE fFis
buildings work business business business Unallocated Total
i Fit Tt T T Fit
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000

PIAGHEA A FHEE AN HESER  Major amounts included in the measure
AWEEMEKEH: of segment results and segment assets
from continuing operations:

REZZZHEMA=FHLEE  For the year ended 30 April 2021

BARRY Capital expenditure (1,819 - - - - (1819
VES AT b Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (1,381) - - (10) (637) (2,028)
SRR ESE Depreciation of right-of-use assets (3,346) - - - 872) (4,218)
fEREREREER Tmpairment loss of right-of-use assets - - - - - -
RENEZATHEED Fair value changes on investment properties - - - - (4,500) (4,500)
HENE- B Rtz Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment 829 - - - - 829
VES AT p& U i Loss on write-off of property,
plant and equipment (391) - - - - (391)
DATEF ARG SREREZ Fair value gain on financial assets
W B at FVTPL, net - - 18,059 - - 18,09
HEUATHEI ARG 2BER Loss on disposal of financial assets
¥4 i at FVTPL - - (483) - - (483)
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Other Segment Information (Continued)

BRERBELR
Rltmpsg.
REBR
SR R
Scaffolding,
fitting out and A BEE
other auxiliary HEER % %
services for Money Securities Assets
construction and lending investment management AR st
buildings work business business business Unallocated Total
TH#T Ti#T T T T TH#T
HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
PIAGHEA A FHEEEMAHESRL  Major amounts included in the measure
AREEMEKEH: of segment results and segment assets
from continuing operations:
REZZ-ZENA=FHLEE  For the year ended 30 April 2020
BARY Capital expenditure (2,104) - - (51) (83) (2.238)
VES AT b Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (4,039) - - (10) (539) (4,588)
EREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets (177 - - (897) (150) 23818)
fEREEEREER Impairment loss of right-of-use assets - - - (2,038) - (2,038)
RENEZATHEED Fair value changes on investment properties - - - (8,080) (8,080)
ENE- B Rtz Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment 81 - - - - 81
AR B Impairment loss recognised in respect of
goodwill - - - - (354) (354)
UES GYEL vE Cl i Loss on write-off of property,
plant and equipment - - - (25) (25)
DATEHARGZ AR Fair value loss on financial assets
LFHEER §H at FVTPL, net - - (16785) - - (16.785)
HELATEI ARG SBEE Loss on disposal of financial assets
ZE#R at FVTPL - - (1,008) - - (1,008)
o
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6. 7 EP =)
Mo 38 4y JH
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Y Y T TE MR AR R X R
B EE o

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Geographical segments

The geographical location of customers from continuing operations is based
on the location at which the services were provided or the goods were
delivered. The geographical location of the specified non-current assets is

based on the physical location of the asset.

W 25 1 I B s
Revenue Specified non-current assets

ZE TR TR SR TR TR

2021 2020 2021 2020

T#u T# T T# e T#IT

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’000

i Hong Kong 150,206 139,516 4,284 60,030
FHEEFEHR Information on major customers

BWEF - —HFWA=ZTHILFEE AEH
Bl (SR ZHAE ) A A AR ER AR
BERC R 10% BL B & F AT 22 5 o oK A i
S5 E R PR At i SR

During the year ended 30 April 2021, the Group had transactions with one
(2020: one) customer who contributed over 10% of the Group’s total revenue
for the year. A summary of revenue earned from these major customers is set

out below:

SRS CECRE
2021 2020
T#u T
HK$°000 HK$’000
0 7y A T AR R A Revenue earned from scaffolding, fitting out
BT 22 5 7 ~ K 26 A8 I L A ol B and other auxiliary services for construction
IR 355 0 45 i 4 - and buildings work:

FFE— Customer 1 53,679 66,599
g - Customer 2 12,218 7,930
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7. HAtA 7. OTHER INCOME
FERE Bk ik
Continuing operations Discontinued operation Consolidated
RO ZFCTE RO ZF0EE JF0F ZFCTE
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
Tt T Tt T Tt Tl
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
EET/ UN Rental income 881 432 - - 881 432
EMBRRA Management fee income 525 60 - = 525 60
MESE A Sundry income 339 427 = 59 339 486
B HEAE (HH5E) Government subsidy (note) 4,710 50 380 = 5,090 50
201938 R 55 25475 A1 A 7 4 36 COVID-19-related rent
concession 90 37 - - 90 37
LA Interest income 100 1,206 = 174 100 1,380
A1 Sl 4 5 VR Foreign exchange gains, net 2 3 = = 2 3
6,647 2,215 380 233 7,027 2,448

BE 3+ A A 4F B > AR 4 [ B 2 201956 IR % 7 9 4
B 149 BCRF 3 B14,710,0003 I€ > H: H14,556,000
5 0 B R SE ST B B > 124,000 JC B B %
B PE B A BH > EL i ) B A R AT IR T
i T 6 i 3 S A ) — A el AT B

Note: During the current year, the Group recognised government grants of
HK$4,710,000 in respect of COVID-19-related subsidies of which HK$4,556,000
relates to Employment Support Scheme, HK$124,000 relates to Anti-epidemic
Fund and the remaining relates to one-off subsidy for transport trades provided by
the HKSAR government.
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8. Hitilrsi & (M58 ) 8. OTHER GAINS AND (LOSSES)
FERE Bk ik
Continuing operations Discontinued operation Consolidated
RO ZFCTE RO ZF0EE JF0F ZFCTE
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
Tt T Tt T Tt Tl
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
AT ARG 2 SR E Fair value gain (loss) on financial
ZATEEE (E1R) o FE assets at FVTPL, net 18,059 (16,785) - - 18,059 (16,785)
HE AT EF AR Z Loss on disposal of
SMEEZER financial assets at FVTPL (483) (1,008) - - (483) (1,008)
17 FF 18 L 4R Impairment loss of right-of-use
assets - (2,038) - - - (2,038)
F 5 R T 5 Net impairment losses
T (ThERT ) 188 [0 360 1 (recognised) reversed arising
i R 1 from ECL on:
— R R A R — Loan and interest receivables (54,420) (57,146) - = (54,420) (57,146)
— e K - Trade receivables (3,649) (832) - - (3,649) (832)
ARG E — Contract assets (213) 23 - = (213) 23
R WS e 2 L e 4 [l Reversal of write-off of trade
receivables - 1,099 - - - 1,099
BHERE 2 MR Reversal of write-off of
contract assets - 200 - - - 200
JE N ik 2 R Write-off of trade receivables - (1,707) - = - (1,707)
HoA e i 3R 2 R Write-off of other receivables (432) - - - (432) -
JE M B B R B 7 iR Write-off of loan and
interest receivables (6,218) - - - (6,218) -
(47,356) (78,194) - - (47,356) (78,194)
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9. @l WA 9. FINANCE COSTS
FEKE Bk s
Continuing operations Discontinued operation Consolidated
RO ZFCTE RO ZF0EE JF0F ZFCTE
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
Tt T Tt T Tt Tl
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
ATIE B RARATE A E Interest on bank borrowings
and bank overdrafts 2,990 2,974 - - 2,990 2,974
Mo e S HoA B Interest on other loan and
other borrowings 6,450 6,536 - - 6,450 6,536
HEAKZHE Interest on lease liabilities 335 285 142 66 417 351
9,775 9,795 142 66 9,917 9,861
Bi | 10. TAXATION
Continuing operations Discontinued operation Consolidated
TR CFCRFE 2RI CF0FE ORI CFTFE
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
T#x T T#x T T#x T
HK$°000 HKS$’000 HK$°000 HKS$’000 HK$°000 HKS$’000
BITH L4 - Taxation comprises:
Bl FIEH Hong Kong Profits Tax
AR M Current year charged - 554 - = - 554
DVEAE B 2 Underprovision in prior year - 64 - - - 64
i AE BT Deferred tax
AR (HE4) Current year charged (credited) 6 (9,604) - = 6 (9,604)
6 (8,986) - - 6 (8,986)

WZE-NFEZA T —H FHB LGS
i CQOVTHERBLE (BFT) (BB75%) R 5 %)
(MBI ) > 5] AR 15 Bl B8 6 o 3% 16 6
HRANTE - NEZA AN REEBENK
37 7 28 H P o ARE RSB AR A s AR
¥ BT 18 152,000,000 7C i A 19 B 2R £58.25%
1M 48 32,000,000 7C i 1 1Y BL 2 £516.5% © N
F B R A o 9 A il 1) 56 T BT B 2 i P ot A A
$16.5% 2 45— Bl R B

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed The Inland
Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”) which introduces the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March
2018 and was gazetted on the following day. Under the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group
entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at
16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits

tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.
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10. BéJH (=)

R T M A B W AR B W & 2
HLAR S BB R T IR TR o A AR 4 L
Y R A5 B % i IR R B B 2 16.5% wHEE

A A A Y BR B AT 1R B AR A R AR R
B PTR 2 BUIRZ BHRIR

10. TAXATION (CONTINUED)

The Directors considered the amount involved upon implementation of the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime as insignificant to the consolidated financial
statements. Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated

assessable profit for both years.

Loss before taxation is reconciled to taxation in profit or loss in the

consolidated statement of profit or loss from continuing operations as follows:

SR CEOER
2021 2020
Tt T#IT
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
A& [ 5 A A 1 R BT R 1R Loss before taxation from
continuing operations (12,929) (113,991)
T A B W R 2 B ET E 2 BLIA Tax at tax rate applicable in
the relevant jurisdictions (2,133) (18,809)
ARA] B 2 B S 2 Bl R Tax effect of expenses not deductible
for tax purpose 169 9,494
PHERBL 2 WA Z Bl 5 5 2 Tax effect of income not taxable
for tax purpose (10,821) (4,972)
T WERR 2 B TE N 1B 2 B R Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 3,864 5,523
) F 8 A I o e 5T 2 B TE S 18 B RS R Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses
previously not recognised (52) (219)
TR 2 T 0BT N 2 R 2 B Y Tax effect of deductible temporary
differences not recognised 8,979 -
RO TR NG A A R T IRy 2 R 2 B e Tax effect of recognition of
temporary differences previously
not recognised - 124
DLA:AF FEHE A R R Under provision in prior year - 58
T 5% ) B 2R 2 ol S R Tax effect on two-tiered tax rate - (165)
o T Tax concession - (20)
AR AR H i RS R B IE Taxation for the year from continuing
operations 6 (8,986)
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’

(a) Directors’ emoluments

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant
to the applicable GEM Listing Rules, the Companies Ordinance and the

Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation

EMOLUMENTS

(Cap.622G), are as follows:

i R RN ]
T HA w34 %
Salaries, FH 4 Contribution to K &
#&  allowances and Discretionary retirement Total
Fee  benefits in kind bonus  benefit schemes emoluments
(Hit) i ik it Fib i Fib i
(Notes) HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
REZR- 4 For the year ended
PUH =4 H kAR 30 April 2021
B ES Executive Directors
1471 So Yu Shing (i) - 3,168 50 - 3,218
R itk Lai Yuen Mei, Rebecca - 1,836 50 - 1,886
L% Kong Kam Wang - 979 50 18 1,047
BRI So Wang Chun, Edmond - 696 38 35 769
e 5% i Yuen Chun Fai (ii) - 256 350 6 612
s Tse Fung Chun (iii) - 497 26 23 546
B g S Independent Non-Executive
Directors
Bk Law Man Sang 120 - - - 120
M Lam Wai Yu 120 - - - 120
el Lo KaKi 198 - - - 198
A5t Total 438 7432 564 82 8,516
B 51 Note:
(i) RV AR L E R~ =+ H 1k (i) The emoluments received by Dr. So Yu Shing for the year ended 30 April 2021
A T SCE 1 T < £ 5 A AR A R Ak 9 A G included housing allowance of HK$720,000 provided by the Group.
720,000 7t ©
(i) BPrEMEAEEERIHITES BT _FF (ii) ~ Mr. Yuen Chun Fai was resigned as an executive director with effect from
NHEHABE- 7 August 2020.
(i) WEREACEZEAAITESR B T (iii) ~ Mr. Tse Fung Chun was appointed as an executive director with effect from

TAENAEHBAER-

7 August 2020.

ZZZ—FF5  Annual Report 2021

137



B 7 S 5 e B

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11. #EH KIEBME w0

(a) EFEME (50

11. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Frd I R Bk
WA TR
Salaries, FEfEA Contribution to AT 4
4 allowances and Discretionary retirement Total
Fee benefits in kind bonus benefit schemes emoluments
T T T T#T THT
HKS$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$’000 HKS$’ 000 HKS$’000
BEZZZEHE For the year ended
WA=+ H kA E 30 April 2020
UiTES Executive Directors
B So Yu Shing - 3,168 75 - 3,243
(Note) (Ff&E)
R Lai Yuen Mei, Rebecca - 1,836 60 11 1,907
L% Kong Kam Wang - 979 30 18 1,027
B So Wang Chun, Edmond - 696 38 35 769
e B Yuen Chun Fai - 698 50 18 766
B EpgES Independent Non-Executive
Directors
& U Law Man Sang 120 - - 120
M Lam Wai Yu 120 - - 120
I % Lo Ka Ki 216 - - 216
At Total 456 7,377 253 82 8,168
BT Note:

TR LR E ~E RENA =+ H L ERE
WS T < L A AR 4R 4 04 £ B HE 720,000
jto

(b) T I 6 B O B

HEEZ - —FNAZ=Z+HIFE ALk
EHMA LA =4 (CF R )R
oy E) 3 S FLIH A RE G U R Bk AR T
WEM ) AEERTWE (ZFE %
W) BRIE AR A Al E R IR AT 2 A

The emoluments received by Dr. So Yu Shing for the year ended 30 April 2020 included
housing allowance of HK$720,000 provided by the Group.

(b) Five highest paid employees

During the year ended 30 April 2021, the five highest paid individuals
included three directors of the Company (2020: three), details of whose

emoluments are set out in note 11(a) to the consolidated financial statements

above. The emoluments of the two (2020: two) remaining individuals who

are neither directors nor chief executives of the Company for the year are as

Lz FHME T follows:

SR CF R
2021 2020
T o0 THs 7T
HK$’000 HK$’000
3 4 S HoAth A A Salaries and other benefits 1,714 1,714

AR B FE R Contribution to retirements
benefits schemes 36 36
1% fE AL Discretionary bonus 75 45
1,825 1,795
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11. #EH KIEBME w0

(b) HAE®mHMER (8

RN 44 e BN £ (N JEBE ) 2 35 Ak
AR -

11. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Five highest paid employees (Continued)

The emoluments of the two remaining highest paid individuals who are not the

Directors are within the following band:

SESE DR COEE
2021 2020
% 21,000,000 7T Nil to HK$1,000,000 2 2

A TE AR T AR SR T S 1) A ] 2 o AT Ao
T 4% do e B PN ST AT B < 4 AR
A 1 BN A IR 2 B8 i B 2 A A O
R AT T <

ESCHTR AT R e T A B A A
O R B A B T S ) R

SO B B ST IR AT I I A B
8 AT 28 2 10 RS

#HH LR B WG IEAL S & AR SR 2 108
SEA (RN 32 B K W] L s i A e T A E

W E AR R DE CRAEN A =+ H o
MEHERTT AR ES - 2R E k2
FEE B B 2 45 N 2 B HE R Kl H A R
by o

BEF - —HFWHA=THILEE ALH
PATEEGRE (SR _F _FFANALH
A A ) ol G 2% A A1 I Al B T AR 4 AR 4 D
R T 0 8 2 114 U T L 2 2 o T I ) )
w17 O B B R M R4 -

The Group did not pay any Directors or any of the five highest paid individuals
any emoluments for inducement to join the Group or upon joining the Group
or as compensation for loss of office, and none of the Directors has waived

any emoluments for both years.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the Company and

the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were

mainly for their services as Directors.

Discretionary bonus for Directors and employees were determined with
reference to the Group’s operating results, individual performance and

comparable market statistics.

As at 30 April 2021 and 2020, there are no loans, quasi loans and other
dealing arrangements in favour of Directors, controlled bodies and corporate

or controlled entities with such directors.

During the year ended 30 April 2021, the share option was granted to Mr. Yuen
Chun Fai, an executive director of the Company who resigned on 7 August
2020, was lapsed in respect of his services to the Group under the share option
scheme of the Company. Details of the share option scheme are set out in note

41 to the consolidated financial statements.
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12. AH R

12. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

FEKE BiERE ik
Continuing operations Discontinued operation Consolidated
RO ZFCTE RO ZF0EE JF0F ZFCTE
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
Tt T Tt T Tt Tl
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
AEFERD (GEA) BT Loss for the year has been arrived
B %5 : at after (crediting) charging:
2 M A5 R 2 IR Write-off of long-aged trade
payables - (40) - - - (40)
BTN 42 Auditor’s remuneration
—F AR - audit service 678 870 67 115 745 985
— R - non-audit service 125 170 - = 125 170
TR B B S 2 A B A Cost of inventories recognised
as an expense 9,318 4,624 - - 9,318 4,624
AT EFABE Z &M EE 2 Fair value (gain) loss on financial
AP Ofcds) a8 assets at FVTPL
—HEEE — Held for trading (18,059) 16,930 - = (18,059) 16,930
— 18 E AT HEF A RS - Designated as FVTPL - (145) - = - (145)
(18,059) 16,785 - - (18,059) 16,785
EN GG i Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment 2,028 4,588 - 231 2,028 4,819
HREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 4,218 2,818 - 467 4,218 3,285
Rz BRERA Gross rental income from
investment properties 881 432 - - 881 432
e AEEEEMSWAZEE  Less: direct operating expenses
WEFTEE 2 HEREH X incurred for investment
properties that generate
rental income during
the year (264) (120) - - (264) (120)
617 312 - - 617 312
BIHA (AEESEME) Staff costs including directors’
emoluments
— AR S LA HAbAEA S - Basis salaries, bonus,
SRR 3 other benefits and retirement
benefit scheme contributions 38,237 40,845 1,819 618 40,056 41,463
— ARG EZ FIRI L — Share-based payment expenses - 2,801 - = - 2,801
38,237 43,646 1,819 618 40,056 44264
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13, I8

WoE—-NEF A+ B ARE (A
o) BLAEE 2 M = O g A (fE
BEF) (BEFDiITHESE W& ([HE W
wl) PR A R HAEF S R ETE A
BHRIEBEARNFANHE EEHEAT 2
RO BATRA B EE B 22 G HE
T (TE B RME AR HRE s saa
RIFREEER) ([HMEFE])  HeNRE
£57,000,000% 76 53 i B H 8 B RS 43 | R 52 K
HMz EEFHE HEFHOR -F R4
AL HSER e B R A E I g 1 RE
7 P B RE32 o 5 A 4R A T HAth A T i 4 R
R B B L A s DA ST R ARk A
Z B 4 o

AAE B R E BB AR T

13. DISCONTINUED OPERATION

On 11 December 2019, the Company as vendor entered into a sale and
purchase agreement (the “S&P Agreement”) with Mr. Tsang Pui Lan
Patrick (the “Buyer”) as purchaser, being independent third party of the
Group, pursuant to which the Company conditionally agreed to sell, and
the Buyer conditionally agreed to buy the entire issued share capital of two
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company, together with their respective
wholly-owned subsidiaries (the “Disposed Subsidiaries”) which were engaged
in the securities brokerage and margin financing business (the “Disposal”),
for a cash consideration of HK$7,000,000 plus the net asset value of Disposed
Subsidiaries as at completion date. The disposal has been completed on
17 December 2020. Details of gain on disposal of subsidiaries are set out in
note 32. Comparative figures in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income have been restated to disclose separately the

profit or loss from discontinued operation.

The loss for the year from discontinued operation is set out below:

e 2 TE TR
2021 2020
Tt T# T
HK$°000 HK$°000
Wt Revenue 784 457
HAth g A Other income 380 233
i RATE R Operating and administrative
expenses (4,175) (6,378)
il 5 R AR Finance costs (142) (66)
AR BE AR R i 1R Loss for the year from discontinued
operation (3,153) (5,754)

BEF - —FWUA=+HILEE AEH
M 4 IE B8 A A8 SEHS O T P B 4 U
£515,000,000%5 76 ( — & —FF : frf Bl &
i i 414,505,000 8) > 78 % & 7 1 B
SERHELHZ(ZE_ZF HHESRE A
1,040,000%s 70 ) M £ il & 36 %5 J7 18 © 8 A
S8 & W& 41,317,000 00 ( . F T4
3,332,000 JC ) ©

During the year ended 30 April 2021, the discontinued operation of the Group
used cashflow of 15,000,000 (2020: generated cashflow of HK$14,505,000)
in respect of operating activities, cashflow of Nil (2020: used cashflow of
HK$1,040,000) in respect of investing activities and used generated cashflow
of 1,317,000 (2020: HK$3,332,000) in respect of financing activities.
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14. BB 14. DIVIDEND

MM EE T _—FWH =T HILFEN No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of the Company
AN F) 22 R R UR B A R R AR R for the year ended 30 April 2021, nor has any dividend been proposed since
IR B A 0 R DA SR R IR AT AT AR (- the end of the reporting period (2020: nil).

TR IE) o

15. &8 15. LOSS PER SHARE
5 JB B A B 8 Wl 1R Basic and diluted loss per share
(a) ZRAREZEERRILESR (a) From continuing and discontinued operations

AN TR N TRE A R B AR % T e 48 TS AR The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share attributable to the

LU BE A owners of the Company is based on the following data:
SR TR R
2021 2020
Tt T#IT
HK$’000 HK$’000
JH DG g I B A R T s 1R 2 AR Loss for the year attributable to
PEAT N AL 2 4F % 5 18 owners of the Company, for
the purpose of basic and diluted
loss per share 16,903 108,888
Jit 4y BCH e 3 B H
Number Number
of shares of shares

FH DA B B A gl 48 2 5 Tl e B H Weighted average number of ordinary

shares for the purpose of basic

loss per share 14,367,101,072 14,367,101,072
I8R5 1) T A 5 TR v 2 Effect of dilutive potential ordinary
shares in respect of share options 117,375,297 220,649,237

FA DG g e 4 v e 48 2 K A B R T Y Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purpose of diluted
loss per share 14,484,476,369 14,587,750,309

H A AR RREAT {60 1 IS R S19F 2L S0 g IS 8 T s 4R UL No diluted loss per share is presented for both years since the assumed
D WO AR 24 i 2 B g R T R 4 exercise of the share options would result in a decrease in diluted loss per
share.
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15. BB =)
A JBE B A B ¥ 9 0 48 ()
(b) KHBERE

A0 m A NBEAL 2 B Fr AE 8 2 45 R AR

15. LOSS PER SHARE (coNTINUED)
Basic and diluted loss per share (Continued)
(b) From continuing operations

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share from continuing

B R 18 T AR BE DA T SRR - operations attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the following
data:
TR T4 —E R
2021 2020
T T THs 7T
HK$’000 HKS$’ 000
A RS AR AR R T 1R Loss for the year from continuing
operations 13,750 103,134

Jv 4 R 22 43 B B S A A i B A B
15T i 1 A

R P B R AT 8 MR 17 2 S g i 48 0 s £ B8
Do HOR R AE L IR B SR A R E 2
i 4 3 e 1

() ZRAKILKLR

BEF - —FNA=ZtTHIEFEE - KHLK
- 588 2 4 AR G 18 2 B 10,0235 il (—
T EAE 004l > T AR BEA B £ b
% 7 A JE I 1H3,153,0000 00 (L F R AR
5,754,000%5 70) & b ORI 2 4y BE R

16. &M E

The denominators used are the same as those detailed above for both basic and

diluted loss per share.

No diluted loss per share from continuing operations is presented for both
years since the assumed exercise of the share options would result in a

decrease in diluted loss per share.

(¢) From discontinued operation

For the year end 30 April 2021, basic loss per share from discontinued
operation was HK$0.02 cents per share (2020: HK$0.04 cents per share),
which were calculated based on the loss from discontinued operation for the
year of HK$3,153,000 (2020: HK$5,754,000) and the denominators detailed

above.

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

T#IT
HK$’000
AR FAIR VALUE
AZE—JERLA—H At 1 May 2019 56,980

A8 g T RR 2 A T E D Decrease in fair value recognised in profit or loss (8,080)
MN-EZZENA=ZTHR-EZ_FFEHLHA—H At 30 April 2020 and 1 May 2020 48,900
IR SRR /N S E R R Decrease in fair value recognised in profit or loss (4,500)
S PR B E R (M EE31) Transfer to assets held for sale (Note 31) (44,400)

R -FMA=1H

At 30 April 2021 -
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16. B&EW¥E w0

EREEMARAR (NEESEM]) T LEH
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=t—H> HEEHD W -

AL MEHEHT N 2R EY K
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BOE W R UL AP EBEHE S I B A
HRIIME BB

WEWEH T EERARA A ([T
(B 74 A 6] 17 40 R 2 2 A 7 Y A S 2B (L)
AT E DR 2 B EY %
R TE T AR TR TFEP A = HRA
FAH o

TR A ) 3 2 o R R - ) 36 2 B BB AE
o T 7% FL B IE 2 i TSR L« A5 B B B T A
SN Ak (8L fis B2 4 5 AR B S i U8 T 2 AR (E
il B i A W o AR 4R BB W) SE B A A F-(E
AR S =M

il 1L 4 7§

FAEE H A B E Y EN A TETS
T8 LB 8 2 % B T ]
W2 G 2 v & LR 20T A B R
A F11,3887 7T 213,990k T ( & “E4E
14,0035 70 18,6154 70 ) 1Y 18 K LB R
S i A B I e

Ea e/ ESLEIENIINUIESE S NEIR iR A8 N3
R RE A B E YR E - BB R R
W EL AR G OB E F 2 TR R R[] 22 S AR A
1 A8 5 BE 52 B R MG o T T 9 9 B 58 ) M A
W 38 B B R MR N > R Z TR

L 4 B DK 988 T 4R JEE BT T 9 A6k (B4l

HRAAFACI LEEHEU L EREYE
AT I SIf7 418 B Th7 9 (R (% 4R £ 48,900,000
W o0) O K DL 3% 7 A 4R [ ) — R AT
FE (K EE42) o
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Wui Loong Holdings Company Limited (“WL Holdings”) has entered into the
S&P Agreement to dispose of the investment properties. The Disposal was
completed as at 31 May 2021.

All of the Group’s investment properties are under operating lease held for
earning rentals or for capital appreciation purposes. The Group’s investment
properties are measured using the fair value model and are classified and

accounted for as investment properties.

Valuation of investment properties was performed by Ascent Partners
Valuation Service Limited (“Ascent Partners”), an independent qualified
professional valuer not connected to the Group, to determine the fair value of
investment properties held by WL Holdings as at 30 April 2021 and 2020.

In estimating of the fair value of properties, the highest and the best use of
the properties is their current use. The management works closely with the
qualified external valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques
and inputs to the model. All of the fair value measurements of the Group’s

investment properties were categorised into Level 3.
Valuation techniques

The fair value of investment properties located in Hong Kong which were
tenanted as at the date of valuation is determined using market comparison
approach by reference to recent sales price of comparable properties on a price
per square foot ranges from HK$11,388 to HK$13,990 (2020: HK$14,003 to
HK$18,615) basis using market observable transactions of similar properties

and adjusted unobservable inputs.

The key unobservable inputs used was the adjusted transaction price after
taking into account the difference in location, size, condition and timing
difference between date of comparable transactions and date of valuation of
the investment properties. A slight increase in the adjusted transaction price

used would result in a significant increase in fair value, and vice versa.
There were no changes from the valuation techniques used in the prior year.

Since the Company has entered into a S&P Agreement to dispose of the
investment properties, no net book value (2020: HK$48,900,000) were
pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group (see Note
42).



17. Y3~ W5 Bt i

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

fo B V5 W A Fi
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i) mLER
R SRE  RHBERMG
Leasehold 7 & ##5 KR Gondolas RE HEREE
land and Plantand  Metal tubes  and related Motor Furniture Wt
buildings  machinery and catwalks  equipment vehicles  and fixtures Total
T TiT T T T T T
HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
A Cost
REZZ—NELH—H At 1 May 2019 9,829 700 29,880 4714 2,620 8,581 56,324
W Additions = 278 517 128 1,135 278 2,336
B — B 0 Acquisition of additional interest
moMER in a subsidiary = = = = 65 = 65
e Disposals = (12) (120) = (348) = (540)
s Written off = = = (101) = = (101)
EHNMERGEREEE  Reclassified as assets classified
( Kﬁ‘é‘ﬂl ) as held for sale (Note 31) (556) = = = = (524) (1,080)
CEZFENAZFH  At30 April 2020 9,273 906 30277 4741 3472 8,335 57,004
ﬁk EZZHAA—H  AtlMay2020 9,273 906 30,277 4,741 3472 8,335 57,004
RE Additions 6 844 820 = 149 1,819
& Disposals = = (4.827) = = = (4,827)
e Written off = = (1,185) = = = (1,185)
BEHNEEEEHELE  Reclassified as assets classified
(Fft3E31) as held for sale (Note 31) 9.273) = = = = (1,119) (10,392)
MZEZ-FEOA=TH  At30 April 2021 = 912 25,109 5,561 34T 7,365 42419
g Depreciation
BEF—-AELA—H  AtlMay2019 3,250 588 25,692 3,152 2,594 7,190 42,466
AR AR Provided for the year 369 103 3,169 527 86 565 4819
3B Eliminated on disposals = (12) (120) = (284) = (476)
s o Eliminated on written off = = = (101) = = (101)
BHABATELELE  Reclassified as assets classified
(HftzE31) as held for sale (Note 31) (556) = = S = (278) (834)
MZEZFFELA=4H  At30 April 2020 3,063 619 28,741 3,578 2,396 7471 45874
CECFERA-H AtlMay 2020 3,063 619 28,741 3,578 2,396 TATT 45874
ME%?& Provided for the year 229 98 589 462 232 418 2,028
8 i Eliminated on disposals = = (4.827) = = = (4,827)
B v Eliminated on written off = = (194) = = = (194)
THMEEGEREEE  Reclassified as assets classified
(H3E31) as held for sale (Note 31) (3,292) = = = = (854) (4,146)
MEEZ-FEOA=FH A0 April 2021 = 717 23,709 4,040 2,628 7,041 38,135
I i Carrying Values
RZZZ-FENMA=+H  At30April 2021 = 195 1,400 1,521 844 324 4,284
REFZFEMA=HH  At30 April 2020 6,210 287 1,536 1,163 1,076 858 11,130
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17. W3 KB Mk i om0

LT A b R M 0 A 7 > AR R R WA 40
o

MZEZ—4ENA=Z+H EHFHELYE
5,981,000k JC ( =& —F 4 16,210,000 5C)
R LB A b R B (A A BUA FRAE
EEE) DK DS R T ALY — K
ATRLE (R 5E42) -

18. i W& &

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(CONTINUED)

Leasehold land and buildings is located in Hong Kong held under long term
lease.

Leasehold land and buildings with net book value of approximately
HK$5,981,000, which was reclassified as assets classified as held for sale
(2020: HK$6,210,000) have been pledged to secure general banking facilities
granted to the Group as at 30 April 2021 (see note 42).

18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

HE W% e At
Lease properties Motor vehicles Total
S = e S R
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
Tl T#T T it T T T#T
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$'000
REA—A At1May
e (. Carrying amount 5,614 1,322 1,971 2,301 7,585 3,623
RMA=1R At 30 April
I i 1 Carrying amount 2,320 5,614 995 1,971 3315 7,585
BEMA =T LR For the year ended 30 April
TEEN Depreciation charge 3242 2,348 976 937 4,218 3,85
B R A HE  Expenses relating to short-term leases and
Flb IR EAE IG5 H S other leases with lease terms end within
1A MRz L E 12 months of the date of initial
HHZER application of HKFRS 16 - 3,626 - - - 3,626
MEZBERL A% Total cash outflow for leases 5,682 6,045 931 1,142 6,613 7,187
HREERERE Additions to right-of-use assets S 13,810 S 607 s 14417
B AL EEE Reclassified as assets classified as held
(Bt 3E31) for sale (Note 31) 5,132 5,132 = = 5,132 5,132
TR EER () Impairment loss recognised (Note) - 2,038 - = - 2,038
BETHE Lease modified 5 = = - 5 _

Mieh: B2 F - FENHA =+ HIHERE > EH M
EEEEHERRIXEAIBAGE LB
SWMAFHE - HIL R E WM HEE
A5 E TS AT I 08 R ME TR (o B (E
162,038,000 JG £ 74 18 45 T8 o

G T TP A A BE I LR T AR SR O B R
B J A B A0 > B AT 2 L B A A B T SE IR
BB (CERECWENSE) AR
R 7 i 7 AL VY % Al A AT R A S0 BRI - BR
J1 & % B 7E 2RI0 5 7 5 40 A R AT B IR

L R if

AR T —FWH =+ H o —H BN A A

B R B GG S Y BE R R FT S ALY A
AEEMR R A E A =+
H AL FT24F > AN 6 S S A T N I ER
TR IR AS T HTH A T A o G BB A i A
2,592,000 JC ©
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Note: During the year ended 30 April 2020, the Directors determined that the assets
management business was underperformed and would not generate cash inflow
in the future. Accordingly, the right-of-use assets related to assets management
business were impaired based on the assessment of the Directors. Impairment loss
of HK$2,038,000 has been recognised in the profit or loss.

For current year, the Group leases offices and warehouses for its operations.
Except for short-term leases, lease contracts are entered into for fixed term
of one to three years (2020: two to four years). In determining the lease term
and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the
definition of a contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

Leases committed

As at 30 April 2021, one of the subsidiaries entered into new leases for several
offices that have not yet commenced, with average non-cancellable period
ranging for a term of 2 years from 31 May 2021, excluding period under
extension options, the total future undiscounted cash flows over the non-
cancellable period amounted to HK$2,592,000.
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18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (coNTINUED)

The Group entered into short-term leases for offices and warehouses. As at
30 April 2021 and 2020, the portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the
portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-term expense included in

rental and related expenses and disclosed in above.

As at 30 April 2021 and 2020, the Group has no lease with variable lease
payment. The lease agreements do not impose any extension or termination
options which are exercisable only by the Group and not by the respective

lessors.

In addition, the Group’s lease liabilities of motor vehicles for the amount of
HK$995,000 (2020: HK$1,971,000) are secured by the lessor’s charge over

the right-of-use assets.

19. GOODWILL

T
HKS$’000
wzzlx COST
W _E—JERH—H At 1 May 2019 25,366
H o B — [ B RS 8 ) AR (B 5E22) Arising on acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 22) 354
W oECEBENA = FH A E - —FMNA = +H At 30 April 2020 and 30 April 2021 25,720
AR IMPAIRMENT
W _E—JERH—H At 1 May 2019 25,366
AT il R U (L R 4R Impairment loss recognised for the year 354
ATECTEPH=Z T H R E—FUNA = 1H At 30 April 2020 and 30 April 2021 25,720

JI 1 4
BEFZ—FENA=+H

AR TRAEMH =1 H

A T 2 B B ol R R R MR 21

W i 26 B A 2 T B R O SE RS H (R
G R EOR) fESE 2 A IR I 1R
() Sk -

0 L 0 A PR 0 G A T A A
1 2 Tih [7] 1 I 0 i 1) A= 52 11 5 8 B 6 o 7 B
A (BB 4 A B2 AL A ) - RIDAlE o &8 4 2R
TR Y B A T R AN R R A

CARRYING VALUE
At 30 April 2021 -

At 30 April 2020 =

Particulars of the impairment testing on goodwill are disclosed in note 21.

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as
established at the date of acquisition of the business (see the accounting policy

above) less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the
Group’s CGUs (or groups of cash generating units) that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, which represent the lowest level at
which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purpose and not

larger than an operating segment.

ZZZ—FF5  Annual Report 2021

147



B 7 S 5 e B

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19. F2 (m)

BB ReEESn (R eEEY
i AR ) B 45 4F B S0 B MR i B AT RE K
2 W G R A AT () A o I S 0 R o
=HTH A BRI O M LT B B &
A B I R 30D A R AT A AT 80 T o A
Bl AR B (BB AR B AR ) 2 ATk
Ia] < B D IS 5% AL M O C 2 AT AR T R R T
(B> R ez B (B A BEAL A A
&R 2 MR (E 2 He A 43 T 2 A

20. TP R

19. GOODWILL (conTINUED)

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently when there is indication that the unit
may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period,
the CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before
the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount of the CGU (or
group of CGUs) is less than its carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to
the unit and then to the other assets of the unit on a pro-rata basis based on the

carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group of CGUs).

20. INTANGIBLE ASSET

AR
Broker License
T
HK$’000
B AR COST
R -NEEA—H - ZFZRFEONA=+HH K At 1 May 2019, 30 April 2020 and 1 May 2020
CERCFERA—H 41,900
A IMPAIRMENT
R E—ERA—H At 1 May 2019 7,300
AR AR FE T e RR R (E i 18 Impairment loss recognised for the year 34,600
AZEZREMA=Z+HH R ZF 4N =1+H At 30 April 2020 and 30 April 2021 41,900
IR i CARRYING VALUE
W _—HMH=1TH At 30 April 2021 =
BRoZZFEMA=1H At 30 April 2020 =

TR W 48 A AT B IR o RS AT WU IR AT AR A IR
R A B A o SE R S A 4R IO A A
M A RE D AN AT 3 o AR SR I B O AT
BLAE T35 B 358 T AE 1N 10 2% REOE 7 > BFJE 3R 9
S S LU A S P A B O T A
U3 Sl T L 2 R A

DRI T 8 A AL T R A 7 A B A VR B
W HE o R 2 AR AL LR EL A R AR o
AR AS o B 2 BROE LT (8 4E 0 - A
o #E AL IR A5 4F A A B SR AT e
ol (L HRp A AT (L Tl o

702 ol 1 ok 2 AR R S R 21 e
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The intangible asset represents broker license. The license can be renewed
every year at minimal cost. The Directors are of the opinion that the Group
would renew the license continuously and has the ability to do so. Varied
studies including market and competitive have been performed by management
of the Group, which supports that the licence has no foreseeable limit to the
period over which the license are expected to generate net cash flows for the

Group.

As a result, the license is considered by the Directors as having an indefinite
useful life because it is expected to contribute to net cash inflows indefinitely.
The license will not be amortised until its useful life is determined to be finite.
Instead it will be tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an

indication that it may be impaired.

Particulars of the impairment testing on intangible asset are disclosed in note
21.
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21. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL
AND INTANGIBLE ASSET WITH
INDEFINITE USEFUL LIVES

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill and intangible asset with
indefinite useful lives related to assets management business set out in the
notes 19 and 20 have been allocated to CGU related to assets management

business.

During the year ended 30 April 2020, the Directors have consequently
determined impairment of intangible assets directly related to assets
management business. Impairment loss of intangible assets amounted to
HK$34,600,000 has been recognised in the profit or loss.

The Group acquired additional interests of an unlisted equity investment which
engaged in jewellery trading business and goodwill of HK$354,000 has been
recognised from the acquisition. As at 30 April 2020, the Directors considered
that the business of jewellery trading was underperformed and would not
generate a net cash inflow in the future, impairment loss of HK$354,000 has

been recognised against the goodwill.

The basis of the recoverable amounts of the CGU related to assets
management business and their major underlying assumptions are summarised

below:

The recoverable amount of this CGU has been determined based on a value in
use calculation. The calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management cover a 5-year period, and discount rate of
14% as at 30 April 2020. The revenue growth rate during the 5-year period
is nil which is based on the management’s estimation regarding human
resources capacity, future business plan and impact of COVID-19. Other
key assumptions for the value in use calculation relate to the estimation of
cash inflows/outflows which include budgeted revenue and gross margin,
such estimation is based on the CGU’s past performance and management’s
expectations for the market development. The management determines that
any reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions would not cause

the carrying amount of the CGU exceeds its recoverable amount.
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22. RBEEAVIAGEAFZ 22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND A JOINT
RYN
HE i VENTURE
(a) REEATFZHESR (a) Interests in associates
R4 —E R4
2021 2020
Tt T#s T
HK$’000 HK$°000
T /NI & < ¥ N Costs of investment in associates:
JE b Unlisted 200 200
BB A A B 1% i ) % fath A Share of post-acquisition profits and reserve 380 380
580 580
W BTk (E s 1E Less: accumulated impairment loss (580) (580)
TR AR A B A A A R Z RSN Details of each of the Group’s associates at the end of the reporting period are
as follows:
EBRMER AR B o A B A R R ML
T i) 4 18 Form of G 2 Proportion of equity interests and FEEHK
Name of associate business structure  Place of incorporation voting rights held by the Company Principal activity
I S 3 “EEE
2021 2020
K% Il % HE k3
directly indirectly directly indirectly
BM Technologies Limited ERLY A FRGTARE (ERETIBS]) 36.36% - 36.36% - REER
Incorporated British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) Investment holding
EREHARAR FE L Eit - 36.36% - 3636%  CHEELE
Waui Chun Building Material Limited Incorporated Hong Kong Dormant
(b) REEAVFZHESR (b) Interest in a joint venture
A4 B i — [ 4 % A B Favourite Number The Group holds 43% (2020: 43%) equity interest with investment cost of
Limited (— [H] A 2 J&§ 4 77 50 5 51 i s o 19 United States Dollar (“US$”) US$43 (equivalent to HK$335) in a joint venture
WA FE43% (K ZFAF 43%) A RE named Favourite Number Limited, which is a company incorporated in BVI.
fit o TEE A F543% 50 ([£50]) (33505 Based on the joint venture agreement, the Group and another shareholder
(B o AR4E A 2wl i o > A 4 [ B 5y — 44 i jointly control over the financial and operating policy of the joint venture.
S [a] B 1A 2N F) Y RS I UK o H No financial information of the joint venture has been disclosed in these
INEBAFRNEE B N F R consolidation financial statements as the joint venture did not commence

PO = B R AR R R B AR 8 S BT 0 business during the years ended 30 April 2021 and 2020.
fo o WS TR A BN R B S R
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23, $%& P wH A Atk 2 i 1 23. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FVTOCI
VA ] A
i 2 HE 4 T H
RO “ERIEE
2021 2020
T T
HK$’000 HK$’000
AW BT R AR E S (i iEa) Equity securities listed in Hong Kong (Note a) 3,446 2,761
WA TEFIAZIE TR E &4 Unlisted investment funds at fair value
(FfEEDb) (Note b) 6,406 6,494
9,852 9,255
PEHR S & A 2 AR IEHE - Analysed for reporting purposes as:
Fuim EE Non-current assets 9,852 9,255
B 5 Notes
(a) bl TR B A LR A (a)  The above listed equity investments represent ordinary shares of entities listed
MERETI SRR MR R in Hong Kong. These investments are held for long-term strategic purposes. The
IR MG L RRE R AR A TEF Directors have elected to designate these investments as equity instruments at
N H Al 2 i A FVTOCL
by WNZFZ—FR_FZFZFNONHA=+HIFEL (b)  The fair values of the unlisted investment funds as at 30 April 2021 and 2020 have
THRERSHAFHC S ERERGZ IS been determined by reference to the exit prices (i.e. net asset value per share)
AN R AR R0 T A (R provided by the fund manager of the investment funds at the reporting date. The
R R E - EHMGE GRS Directors believe that the estimated fair values provided by the fund manager of
S NPT B AR O A A SE Y S the investment funds are reasonable, and that is the most appropriate value at the
TR R 2 bl A - end of the reporting periods.
24. JE W £ Ak & A 24. LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES
R4 —EFAE
2021 2020
Tt T# T
HK$’000 HK$°000
O Wi A 3R M ) Loan and interest receivables 598,401 536,489
ICRRENY kL Less: Allowance for credit losses (126,226) (74,047)
472,175 462,442

ZISE [9] PR A [ ) e £ 3 T S 7 ) 5L K The exposure of the Group’s fixed rate loan receivables to interest rate risks

HAEHBMA WT - and their contractual maturity dates are as follows:
2021 2020
T 0 THs T
HK$°000 HK$’000
—4F A 21 3 2K E Amounts fall due within one year 205,746 151,218
55— AF 2 AR N B W RE Amounts fall due within one to second year 185,107 101,899
O A A AR N B W R0 Amounts fall due within second to fifth year 81,322 209,325
472,175 462,442
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24, W EZ LA B )

TR H > R B A B LA

24. LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

(CONTINUED)

At the reporting date, loan and interest receivables consisted of:

SEOE CECER
2021 2020
T T T
HK$’000 HK$ 000
DAYE R AANESRHF 2 &40 Amounts secured with guarantor 34,471 20,688
DI R 2 &80 (Ktka) Amounts secured with securities (Note a) 98,960 123,870
DIy ZEEIR I 2 S8 (K 5Eb) Amounts secured with properties (Note b) 8,002 6,217
I 2 47 Amounts unsecured 330,742 311,667
472,175 462,442

B = Notes:

(a) A BRI RS B B A A 2 A o
(b) ARV

ZFE M A = H o AR A AR
) B A5 B AL 5 0 i H O 0 TR T AR
#9 £$52,759,000% 7 ( =& —F4F 1 16,171,000
W50 ) 1 B IR 3K > o £925,459,000%5 0 ( —
?*%E'mﬁsooo%fn 2 4 i > 30 H
#1655,0009 70 ( = F FAF 1 242,000 00) C
78 HA 30 H {H R B 90 H > £910,610,000%
J6 (T TR 416,000 9T) T @ B 90
HAH A H#E180H - £11,116,000% 7T ( —F —
FAF 1 11,481,000 70) £ %81 W M 180 H A AN
B> M %14,919,000% 06 ( & F AR
767,000%5 76 ) B %80 1 M 14F - B R Ao |
T H90 H A M Wit Bk e A B 2 M5 B L B
KR b Th K i% %5 B s ) 180 H 1 8 Wi &
KR AR 2 ) BLE T

A TR T AR A = A B RE K & A B
%Eﬁ@?ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%éﬂﬁﬁ*ﬁm226,000«%
IO ( ZF ZEA 74,047,000 70)

REEZ - —4FWA =1+ HIEEE Bk
AR M R B T #0055 2 B E A R s
B NP E4ETE £40.5H ( & “F4HE 75
JEZ18)H) o
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(a) The securities are ordinary shares of companies listed on the Stock Exchange.

(b)  The properties are situated in Hong Kong.

As at 30 April 2021, included in the Group’s loan and interest receivables
balance are debtors with aggregate gross carrying amount of approximately
HK$52,759,000 (2020: HK$16,171,000) which are past due as at the reporting
date, of which approximately HK$25,459,000 (2020: HK$3,265,000) has been
past due less than 30 days, approximately HK$655,000 (2020: HK$242,000)
has been past due more than 30 days but less than 90 days, approximately
HK$10,610,000 (2020: HK$416,000) has been past due more than 90 days but
less than 180 days, approximately HK$11,116,000 (2020: HK$11,481,000)
has been past due more than 180 days but less than 1 year, and approximately
HK$4,919,000 (2020: HK$767,000) has been past due more than 1 year. The
Directors consider credit risks of loan and interest receivables that are past
due more than 90 days have increased significantly and those past due more

than 180 days are considered as credit-impaired.

Included in the carrying amount of loan and interest receivables as at 30 April
2021 is accumulated allowance for credit losses of HK$126,226,000 (2020:
HK$74,047,000).

During the year ended 30 April 2021, loan and interest receivables were
charged on fixed interest rate mutually agreed between the contracting parties,
ranging from 7% to 40.5% (2020: 7.5% to 18%) per annum.
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25. TEAT #KE - ¥ 4 B i JE IR 25. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

Wk JH RECEIVABLES
TE A 3~ e S A ESGKIH Z FEIB R Details of prepayments, deposits and other receivables are as follows:
R4 e e
2021 2020
T THs T
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
BRTELKME AR —2ES Loans to staff and a director of a subsidiary
(BE3E) (Note) 194 347
AT R IE Prepayments 7,627 1,580
¥ 4 Deposits 1,445 1,174
FEAte A s B IH Other receivables 5,321 5,592
14,587 8,693
YR & o M 2y DL N JE E - Analysed for reporting purpose as:
IE B & Non-current assets 791 755
it B A Current assets 13,796 7,938
Bfsk: M oE R T FEWA =+ H o fr Note: As at 30 April 2021 and 2020, all of the loans are non-trade nature, unsecured and
BRI B G M EHCHR N 4 2R B repayable according to repayment schedule.
M o
26. JE WO 26. TRADE RECEIVABLES
B4R —E R
2021 2020
T o0 T#s T
HK$’000 HK$°000
B R B 25 TE BT A5 1 TR 3K Trade receivables from
— Jy R A e s AR A 4 — Scaffolding, fitting out and other auxiliary
& 5~ R G e HL A i 1 IR services for construction and buildings
(K3Ea) work (Note a) 33,537 28,657
Tk A5 B E A Less: Allowance for credit losses (7,875) (1,451)
25,662 27,206
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26.
3 -

(a)

JRE WL B K ()

T R e R AR AR A AR RSB
o FC AUl B ARBS 1 16 5 4 A 0 & R R A 2 A
R T AR B AT B 45 B A RT ) 2 A B
42 A3 o 7 i 35 0 R 7 98 5 1 R B
15 B s SRS A 2 R O B R 23 T A T

26.

Notes:

(a)

TRADE RECEIVABLES (conTINUED)

The credit terms given to each individual customer of scaffolding, fitting out and
other auxiliary services for construction and buildings work were in accordance
with the payment terms stipulated in the relevant tenders or contracts. The ageing
analysis of trade receivables as at the end of the reporting period, based on the
invoice date and net of allowance for credit losses is as follows:

R SRR

2021 2020

Tk Tk 0

HK$’000 HK$’000

90H A Within 90 days 21,943 24,092
91%180H 91 to 180 days 3,133 731
181%365H 181 to 365 days 236 381
R 1A Above 1 year 350 2,002
25,662 27,206

AR AR A = H o AR S R R R
#E AR TR N IR H ) ) R AR e AR A0
£525,463,000% 7t ( & F4F 1 3,330,000
JG) MBI IR K - N % F E M A B R 4
3,690,000 7 ( — & L 4F 1 3,086,000 70)
L4 0] AR 90 H > {H 3 R Wl A5 49> T5
A R% S5 FROE Y 5 R N B K s ) B
AT B A 2 WAL o A A O NI A0 ol 5% 5 465 R E
AT AT AR o

B ka2 d Ak B A d 4 Rl v AR SR AL 4
FAH R 18 B H A i B IR B 2 I i R 3K A
15,054,000% 7 ( & - F4E 1 417,738,000
W 0) O KA1 2y 32 T A S I — AR SR AT i
BZAER-
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As at 30 April 2021, included in the Group’s trade receivables balance are
debtors with aggregate carrying amount of approximately HK$25,463,000 (2020:
HK$3,330,000), which are past due as at the reporting date. Out of the past
due balances, approximately HK$3,690,000 (2020: HK$3,086,000) has been
past due more than 90 days and is not considered as in default as there has not
been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts are still considered

recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

Trade receivables from scaffolding, fitting out and other auxiliary services
for construction and buildings work of approximately HK$15,054,000 (2020:
approximately HK$17,738,000) are set out in note 42 have been pledged to secure
general banking facilities granted to the Group.
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27. CONTRACT ASSETS

/A et O A e 2
MA=+H /WH=+H
At 30 April At 30 April
2021 2020
T T IT
HK$’000 HK$’000
2 H 2 4 B R i TR BR R e Contract assets from scaffolding,
&~ R 5 15 B B fl v Bh IR B fitting out and other auxiliary services
HRIEE for construction and buildings works
Gy KT By T - Analysed as current:
APHE 55 (M5Ea) Unbilled revenue (Note a) 6,277 5,642
MEW AR 1E 4 (Bff 55D ) Retention monies receivables (Note b) 3,693 2,355
9,970 7,997

BRI -

(@)  EHEE PR AR S AR SR B 52 T
EL 14 2R BH B A TR i SOAR AR 0 RE A iR
A AR 5 2 5 A A 4 T 5E B A A T
T A% 7 Al AR HA B DA AL 5wl Al
TR A o G 40 Y A R A2 R AR I (7
W R AR 3 &P S RS B S T
K TR YRR IR ) A 2 UK

(b) A AT A B PR (] A A ) % B
0 I 5 JE A R B A ORS A8 R b i B
I 5 < #0163 T A 00 M S o SR T <
PR ) 102 2 S A0 1 IS 03 2 R OSSR A o B Wi R
W] < 7% SR ~ B E D B 8 I 7 &4 R B 3
A 9 465 R i [ o A B [ S 90 R 46 45 0 4
A7 AL T HE A o

AEEBZECHEEIBRRBEE T
P A S5 T T 00 7 JFG A O U T 5 B
GHE-

WEEEE42fr# o R —F Z—FWH =102
B A R TR (M R A s RS B
DA e Al il B IR S 0 G %0 7 49 £5813,00095
JC (% TUEAE 1509,0008 7T ) B WIS IR A
BF A 2 — R SRAT A E SR

B # BT BA 8AEL Al E  RORS B 547

Notes:

(a) Unbilled revenue included in contract assets represents the Group’s right to
receive consideration for work completed but not yet billed because the rights are
conditional upon the satisfaction by the customers on the contract work completed
by the Group and the work is pending for the certification by the customers or
external surveyors. The contract assets are transferred to the trade receivables
when the rights become unconditional, which is typically at the time the Group
obtains the certification of the completed contract work from the customers or
external surveyors.

(b) Retention monies receivables included in contract assets represents amounts not
yet billed to customers which is conditional until the expiry of defect liability
period in respect of scaffolding, fitting out and other auxiliary services contracts.
The retention receivables are transferred to the trade receivables when the rights
become unconditional. Retention monies receivables are unsecured, interest-free
and recoverable at the end of the defect liability period of individual contracts.
The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

The Group classifies these contract assets as current because the Group

expects to realise them in its normal operating cycle.

As at 30 April 2021, contract assets from scaffolding, fitting out and other
auxiliary services from construction and buildings work of approximately
HK$813,000 (2020: HK$509,000) which are set out in note 42 have been
pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group.

Details of the impairment assessment of contract assets are set out in note 47.
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28. i+ & 28. INVENTORIES
TR TRITRAR
2021 2020
Tt F ik oe
HK$’000 HK$’000
JE M4 F Raw materials 1,226 451

29. o PR AR 25 2 & @l
¥ E

29. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL

S®ooE B

2021 2020

T#0 T#IT

HK$’000 HKS$’ 000

FrEEHEAG LT RAES Hong Kong listed equity securities held for trading 64,643 22,686
R @A AL N IHE Analysed for reporting purpose as:

i B B A Current assets 64,643 22,686

ETTRE R A T TR IS R A
5

30. SITH AN E
AT B S — Sk P

7B ) A R T B S A R A 452,000 00 (
TR 12,0000 00) 2 ML HE T DU H R
EVMBE TR AEF G4 AEMIRC R
A HH B 5 5 e oAt A BE 5 P LA S L Al A
4D AE R R ASF B 3K o SR T » A 12 (8] 5 Ry i 0 ] 412
%55 B AT IR K B JUT A A A7 K B 22w o
TTHRER o

MATRI R A Bl & - —RIRP
SRAT R 0 S B B AR A SR BT o 2 B SR
B R R =R 7 BT 2 AW RAT A K o R

TR T0% £0.45% ( & ~F4E 0%
%£0.38% ) Z FFFHE -
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The fair values of listed securities are based on the bid prices quoted in active

markets in Hong Kong.
30. BANK BALANCES AND CASH
Bank balances and cash - trust account

The Group maintains segregated accounts with an amount of approximately
HK$2,000 (2020: HK$2,000) with authorised institutions to hold client
money in the normal course of business. The Group has also recognised
the corresponding trade payables to respective clients and other respective
clients and other institutions. However, the Group does not have a currently

enforceable right to offset those payables with the deposits placed.
Bank balances and cash — general accounts
Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and short term bank

deposit with an original maturity of three months or less. The bank balances
carry interest at rates ranging from 0% to 0.45% (2020: 0% to 0.38%).
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31. BB E I B G E
AN EEEMBZ
f1H

15 e S A R4

AN W AT SL W kDL B AT S 2R
Mgam-n - F - —FNA=+HRERHEE
A HH HERHEDEM -

W TF A T A VH S AN F B I M A
%Eﬁ@“ﬂ Wﬁﬁ%@%%%ﬁ)wa

VRISLE E ek ([EFH W] i &
“7%%#H &E ﬁaﬁﬁ%#ﬂ %
B T R AR T A A T (
R B A T ) Y AR EL B AT h$)¢
:—@mﬁz+aa§$%$ﬁﬁimm=
H 7 8 X A77,588,000% TCAE A ko O
Mg AFR —F - —FMA =+ W E A
FEEL o

31. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE/
LIABILITIES ASSOCIATED WITH ASSETS
CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

Disposal of WL Holdings Company Limited:

The Company entered into the S&P Agreement to dispose of the subsidiaries
which held the investment property. The Disposal was completed as at
30 April 2021 and up to the date of this report.

As at 8 February 2021, the Company has entered into the Sale and purchases
(the “S&P Agreement”) with Sun Wui Property Development Limited (the
“Buyer”) as purchases, being the related party of the Group, pursuant to which
the Company conditionally agreed to sell, and the Buyer conditionally agreed
to buy the entire issued share capital of the wholly-owned subsidiary (the
“Disposed Subsidiary”) of the Company which held the investment property.
As at 30 April 2021, the Disposal is not yet completed and the Buyer had paid
the Company a sum of HK$7,588,000 as deposit. The Disposed Subsidiary is
classified as held for sale as at 30 April 2021.

SR

2021

T

HK$’000

[ d<gES Investment property 44,400

L ENN & Property, plant and equipment

—FHE T R — Leasehold land and buildings 5,981

Y ERWSE N — Furniture and fixtures 265

4 b I H At 1 i 3 H Deposits and other receivables 817

SRAT A7 e Bl 4 Bank balances and cash 27

SRR RE Total assets classified as held for sale 51,490

JRE AT R 3K R LAt JRE A 3K Trade and other payables 204

HoAth £ 3K Other loans 6,000

R AT ot IH B i Deferred tax liability 101
O3B B AR AR R AR B 2 B AR Total liabilities associated with assets classified

as held for sale 6,305
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3. nEARELREEE &
HARELEEEMHBAZ
18 ()

il 8 Bright Advantage Limited J% /% 4 Il 4
M R w]

A3 T S 1 0 65 2 A
7 S 0 I 23 70 < 2%tk 9T E A
SEEE L R R

P FERFENA=Z+HH B AL MARA
X AF7,000,00095 IC AF £ 1% 4 o 3 F H1 1 b
A A] BE TS TE B e v (B R Ik T
— TR RGBT R E ) > R U I 5 EE 12
MARNTEREEREH - BB AR EREER
FEE T4 KE B R VR AR A B 2 BRI
BRI & FAEN A = H & A IR
WENKIEEEE T EEXARKNT

31. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELLD FOR SALE/
LIABILITIES ASSOCIATED WITH ASSETS
CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE (coNTINUED)

Disposal of Bright Advantage Limited and OX Financial Group Limited:

The Company entered into the S&P Agreement to dispose of the subsidiaries
which engaged in the business of securities brokerage and margin financing.

The Disposal was completed as at 17 December 2020.

As at 30 April 2020, the Buyer had paid the Company a sum of HK$7,000,000
as deposit. The Directors expect it is highly probable to obtain the approval
from SFC as required in one of the conditions precedent contained in the S&P
Agreement, and the Disposal to be completed within twelve months from
the end of the reporting period. The followings are assets and liabilities of
the discontinued operation that have been classified as assets held for sale or
liabilities associated with assets classified as held for sale and were presented

separately in the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 April

2020:

—E_FAE
2020
T
HK$’000
L EN N i Property, plant and equipment 246
il I RE ¥ Right-of-use assets 5,132
TEAT BT ~ 47 4 B L Atb R kg 3 TH Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 1,345
2 5 MEW AR K Trade receivables 533
SRATEE R M B & — {5 LIRS Bank balances and cash — trust account 6,259
SRATHR B S Bl — — AR P Bank balances and cash — general accounts 24,072
Oy SE R FRAE G A Total assets classified as held for sale 37,587
JRE A B 3 B JHL At 1R AT 5k T Trade and other payables 6,938
A Lease liabilities 5,097

O3 K8 7 R AR AR A B 2 B AR Total liabilities associated with assets classified
as held for sale 12,035
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32. B B R 2 vl i iR

R —NFET AT —H AR (R
BT ) B A B 2 B SL A = J7 WU R SR AR
(ERET) (TEFDELEREm® ([H
Bk 1) o A 0 AR 2 R W R TR] R R T
B AR TR AR A W R A
75 7] (RI Bright Advantage Limited ([ Bright
Advantage |) K/ & R LA RA A ([0
daMAEM]) ) 2 2 C ST R4 HE 5%
LEXEARFEBABERFTRAMEER 22
G @ AR (TEHEMRBAF]) ([HEHR
) - B4 AU 257,000,000 5T 55 N E
i g 2 A 58 i H B 2 E IE -

HERHOR “F -FF+ A HEHER-

H B B R 2 U 512,255,000 ST A AT U R -

32. GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 11 December 2019, the Company as vendor entered into a sale and
purchase agreement (the “S&P Agreement”) with Mr. Tsang Pui Lan Patrick
(the “Buyer”) as purchaser, being independent third party of the Group,
pursuant to which the Company conditionally agreed to sell, and the Buyer
conditionally agreed to buy the entire issued share capital of two wholly-
owned subsidiaries of the Company, namely as Bright Advantage Limited
(“Bright Advantage”) and OX Financial Group Limited (“OX Financial
Group”) together with their respective wholly-owned subsidiaries (the
“Disposed Subsidiaries”) which were engaged in the securities brokerage
and margin financing business (the “Disposal”), for a cash consideration
of HK$7,000,000 plus the net asset value of Disposed Subsidiaries as at
completion date.

The Disposal has been completed on 17 December 2020.

Gain on disposal of the subsidiaries amounted to HK$12,255,000 was
analysed as follows:

T#IT
HK$’000

B Consideration received 22,934
i e Bk A Plant and equipment 246
i I RE Right-of-use assets 5,132
SRATEE R M B & — {5 LR Bank balances and cash — trust account 2,074
WATHE G MR — — RIES Bank balances and cash — general accounts 7,755
HAth, R Wi 35 IE Other receivables 2,082
JRE A I 3 B H At JRE AT 35 I Trade and other payables (3,086)
& & i Lease liabilities (3,922)
B EEEGE Net assets disposed of 10,281
H s O R i A Gain on disposal of subsidiaries:
SR Consideration received 22,934
BB EEFE Net assets disposed of (10,281)
Gy WA Transaction costs (398)
B 2 W ik AR Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 12,255
A% A B A B A A 0 B 4 A AR Net cash inflow arising from disposal for the year:
2 g Consideration received 22,934
OIS Deposit already received in prior year (7,000)

15,934
Gy A Transaction costs (398)
W OB AT A R B Less: bank balances and cash disposed of: (7,755)
] — 24 55 = 07 BaR Advance to a third party (6,247)
HE WA T Net cash inflow 1,534
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X
33, M A R sk B 3L A FE £ 5% JH 33. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
=
2021 2020
Tt T#s T
HK$’000 HK$°000
JEAT IR (Kt iEa) Trade payables (Note a) 10,772 8,549
HAth, 1 AT 3 IE Other payables 7,616 5,880
ot S R 4 4 (B EE3 1) Deposit received from the Disposal (Note 31) 7,588 7,000
JE 5T 2 Accruals 5,096 6,820
JRE A B 3 B H At JRE AT 3 T 4 AR Total trade and other payables 31,072 28,249
Wi 5 - Notes:
(@)  LATR 2% HAl R B R HE N 2 A BRSO 5 o o (a)  The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables to other trade creditors
H 307 10 B 437 based on the invoice date:
SR TE R
2021 2020
T TH#IT
HK$’000 HKS$ 000
90 H 1A Within 90 days 7,103 5,472
91%180H 91 to 180 days 1,299 622
181%365H 181 to 365 days 195 2,455
£ ji*365H More than 365 days 2,175 -
10,772 8,549
R AT HRAR P35 A T30 KR E90K » The average credit period ranged from 30 days to 90 days. The Group has
A 4R T 1 E 5 B O - RE AR BT financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are settled
JREAST R I 1 400 R 0 within the credit timeframe.
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4. FHAME

34. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

SRS CECRE
2021 2020
T# T T
HK$’000 HK$’000
AH 2R R TR RO R Amounts due to customers of
WG 2 15 B B ik il b M 5 1) ME A & )5 3k 0H scaffolding, fitting out and
other auxiliary services for
construction and buildings work
AT B T B Analysed as current 6,767 9,097
TEHA I A A 4 Contract liabilities which are expected to be settled within the Group’s normal

IE# &AM KA T & &
BB RE A

%0 O R A0 R B — B A K
Pk E

R T TARSR B AR - R RS R
L fth l 3l e B5

fied A 4 7 s 225 ) B 4 T B FE&0  RCIBCTD
AR R B 4 AR G B S 5 A B R IR
AR B AR B A A SR A Ui AR B
B e RS 1k -

operating cycle, are classified as current.

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of
contract liabilities recognised are as follows:

Scaffolding, fitting out and other auxiliary services for construction and
buildings work

When the Group receives upfront payment or cash advances from its
customers before the construction activity commences, this will give rise to
contract liabilities at the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised on the

relevant contract exceeds the amount of the cash advance.
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35. HEfAME

35. LEASE LIABILITIES

B4 TR TRAR
2021 2020

T o T 7T
HK$’000 HKS$’000

JHE A A 5% 2 i Lease liabilities payable:
— 4N Within one year 3,809 5,084
A — A > (B 3 AR 2 0 ] Within a period of more than one year
but not more than two years 264 3,836
T T AT o (H S A T AR 2 0 [ Within a period of more than two years
but not more than five years 41 305
4,114 9,225

W ) AU T SR 2

Less: Amounts due for settlement within one year

A — IR &5 5 2 5OA shown under current liabilities (3,809) (5,084)
I B A AE AR 2 Amounts due for settlement after one year shown
R A 2 A under non-current liabilities 305 4,141

36. SRITMEELBITE L

ME-F R ZFZFENA =+ H-#
TEERRTELUAEHZ AAY R H
TR A T A A E KA F A
PRAE R34 o 3] SO0 M A5 3K IH T DA B 3K B ok O
F R R A B o

AZE D AER TR ERFEMA =1 H R

LETARATE S KRTE L% — A FH
AR AT ZEAR R (T RATIR PR E ) m
1.5 JE B A T s 0 o (8 BRI % (T IR s A =R )
F R SR Y VR B AR RS o AR
B SR AT 15 5 T SR AT 25 2 0 B IR R o [ 4 4
FI R 1.64)H 5258 (& “FAF L AR %334
JH%5.258) o

A BRSRAT (5 B S SRATIE SO RN B 2 W
5 S B RE42

A4 [ T A SRAT 1B R SR AT I SO K AR R
fEE B — 4F A R -
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36. BANK BORROWINGS AND BANK
OVERDRAFTS

As at 30 April 2021 and 2020, bank borrowings and bank overdrafts were
secured by the Group’s self-owned properties, certain trade receivables,
certain contract assets and the Company’s corporate guarantee. The amounts

due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements.

All the Group’s bank borrowings and bank overdrafts carried variable interest
at 1-month Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (the “HIBOR”) plus 1.5% per
annum or from Hong Kong Dollar Prime Rate (the “Prime Rate”) to the Prime
Rate minus 1% as at 30 April 2021 and 2020. The effective interest rate for
the Group’s bank borrowings and bank overdrafts ranged from 1.64% to 5.25%
per annum (2020: 3.34% to 5.25% per annum).

Details of the pledged assets for the bank borrowings and bank overdraft are

set out in note 42.

All of the Group’s bank borrowings and bank overdrafts are repayable on

demand or repayable within one year.
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37. HoAth 85k K H A £ B
ol f S0 A S 98 4T 2 B

RN AR E W EA RS A BERLS
A& R _FRET+A=Z+—H 8
17 A 4 %8 542,000,000 76 ~ 22 8 A 8JH 2~ fL
R AL HT AN F A Y R AR
o USSR ZF— /MEJLA 2 H BT
B AR 45 %8 £554,000,000% 7T~ ZZ B B 8JE 2 W
AR R AR R AT TR o AR & B
HBNH H AR B 5 R A A 253817 H
e — 4 1% LR 4R T B L B A

HE-E - —-FNUA=+HILEE &%
WoE—JLETA P NHBITHME S
20,000,000 76+ T HE A8.5)E 2 =AM B I
T AR > Y i AR A 2 R R R
o {5 Z5 R AT AN 0] BRGNS SR B8 4T H O — 41
% 4R T i

R ZZEZZAENA T ASAB BT ZEMES
18,000,000%5 7C 19 4 S AE SR 5 - % A 8847 H
WAL ES A B O o SCREAR PR R A
HET % A% AR SR 1R TR -

R A B R A B 2 AT (T
R il R A B < Ui 2 4 A U OR 2 R
35 M R A Bl 2 B E ) LR T (R R

2% S T 7 A 5 2 A £ 5 04 28 0 3 R
o — 4 R o

37. OTHER LOAN AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Other borrowings represented the coupon bonds issued by the Group.

Gold Medal Hong Kong Limited (“Gold Medal”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, issued a 5-year 8% coupon bond in the principal
amount of HK$42,000,000 on 31 October 2020 which were secured by the
Company’s corporate guarantee to refinance the 2-year 8% coupon bond in the
principal amount of HK$54,000,000 issued by Gold Medal on 12 September
2018. The whole principal amount is repayable at the date of its maturity. The
bondholder may request early redemption of the bond after one year of the

issuance date of the bond.

During the year ended 30 April 2021, a 3-year 8.5% coupon unlisted straight
bonds at a nominal value of HK$20,000,000 was issued by Gold Medal on 28
October 2019 which were secured by the Company’s corporate guarantee. The
bondholder may request early redemption of the bond after one year of the

issuance date of the bond.

A surety bond of HK$18,000,000 was issued on 16 September 2020 with no
interest bearing which will mature on the second anniversary date of the issue
date. Original bond can be returned to the Surety at sole discretion of Aeso
Ltd.

The Directors consider the fair values of the other loan and other borrowings
are determined based on the present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted using the prevailing market rate at the end of the reporting period,

approximate to their carrying amounts.

All other loan and other borrowings of the Group are either repayable on

demand or repayable within one year.
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38. MAEBEE R (AK)

38. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)

SR TR TR

2021 2020

T T

HK$’000 HKS$’ 000

I BT Deferred tax assets 9,793 9,874
I SiE A TH £ 1R Deferred tax liabilities (189) (365)
9,604 9,509

B A A B A AR A T O A B N RE 2
EEBLIHEE, (AR 25 :

Movements in deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised by the Group during
the current and prior years are as follows:

& g £ 3k K
Bz
o 32 At v B 5 i 0 s 4 958
Accelerated ECL provision of
Bt Y s 48 tax  loan and interest Bt
Tax losses depreciation receivables Total
T T T T T T T
HKS$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HKS$°000
hNoF—NERH—H At 1 May 2019 123 (218) = 95)
A8 g AR (B EE10) Charged to profit or
loss (Note 10) - 175 9,429 9,604
AZEEENH =4H At 30 April 2020 and
s J?EEH H 1 May 2020 123 (43) 9,429 9,509
PAEA (HE10) Credited to profit or loss
(Note 10) - (6) = (6)
EH OB A REE Reclassification to liabilities
B classified as held for sale - 101 - 101
MOEZ A =FH At30 April 2021 123 52 9,429 9,604

W oF T —ENA =+ H KEEE A
A S 8 R A e Ay oKk B OB JE SR A 2
259434000%75 TR TR 1 255,208,0000
EBEH@K{@%IJE{E/J?ZTTT:&@J@ Hor
z’sts 684,000%5 76 ( & 4 254,459,000
Wt A e R FaLL%ﬁE%‘F ﬂi@jﬂﬁ;ﬁ
TH 5 10 £9259,434,0003 G ( TR
255,208,000 7T) Tﬂt&fiﬁﬁﬁn\u%

i B R 5 A A [ A B A R e R B

2 T WIE B s 18 A A BE Y R R T?um
BT I 25 154,420,060 70 ( & R X
TG ) o 7% S [ A A AT R NI 4 A R A 0 4 B U
R s R O AR 4R ) OR AT RE R RE AN E SR B
T8 R LA 8l % 4 AT 0B RS A o
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At 30 April 2021, the Group had unused tax losses of approximately
HK$259,434,000 (2020: HK$255,208,000) that are available to offset against
future profits, of which amounts of approximately HK$258,684,000 (2020:
HK$254,459,000) have not been recognised as deferred tax assets because
of the unpredictability of future profit streams. The unused tax losses of
approximately HK$259,434,000 (2020: HK$255,208,000) may be carried
forward indefinitely.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unrecognised deductible
temporary differences of HK$54,420,060 (2020: HK$Nil) in relation to ECL
provision of loan and interest receivables. The Group has not recognised futher
deferred tax asset in the current year, as it is not probable that the Group
can generate additional taxable profit to utilise these deductible temporary
differences.
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39. A 39. SHARE CAPITAL
N T
Par value 2021 2021 Par value 2020 2020
®7 [ig T i e i T
HK$ No. of shares HK$’000 HKS$ No. of shares HK$'000
EE Authorised
REA—-ARNA=1H At 1 May and 30 April 0.01  40,000,000,000 400,000 0.01 40,000,000,000 400,000
CHIORER Issued and fully paid
REA—-ARNA=1H At 1 May and 30 April 0.01  14,367,101,072 143,670 0.01  14,367,101,072 143,670

40. A2\ B RO 3%

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

A2 A Hi R Z IR U % R

THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

m: Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:
SESE CECRE
2021 2020
T#5t TH#IT
HK$’000 HK$°000
I ik B Non-current assets
LENSE L Property and equipment 7 8
T A W 2 AR ' Investments in subsidiaries 396 396
403 404
B Current assets
TE A B > ¥ 4 S LAt B i 3 TH Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 3,056 1,139
R W B J 2 ) I Amounts due from subsidiaries 67,809 70,854
SRAT A BR Bank balances - 19,481
70,865 91,474
it B 1 Current liabilities
JREASF B J 2 ) I Amounts due to subsidiaries 18,033 18,694
HC At JRE A5 Sk I Other payables 8,129 7,535
BRATIE L Bank overdraft 1,730 -
27,892 26,229
it B & A A Net current assets 42,973 65,245
A Total net assets 43,376 65,649
JBE A B 4k i Capital and reserves
i &N Share capital 143,670 143,670
fith A Reserves (100,294) (78,021)
HE ik A8 Total equity 43,376 65,649
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40. A2 v B8R 0 # (a0 40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

AN M A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:
i 15 HHR 5% I ke Al
Share Contributed Share option Accumulated ok
premium surplus reserve losses Total
Tk T Ti#T Ti#T T
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’ 000
RZZ-NERLA—H At 1 May 2019 560,230 191,087 7,280 (230,041) 528,556
AAEERBRLAH LA Loss and total comprehensive
expense for the year - - - (609,378) (609,378)
TR R A% Lapse of share options - - (7,280) 7,280 -
e P A 4 S e 1 £ 3k Recognition of equity-settled
share-based payment - - 2,801 - 2,801
RZZZZEWA=Z+H At 30 April 2020 560,230 191,087 2,801 (832,139) (78,021)
Bk 1 i 160 HRE N i ok A
Share Contributed Share option Accumulated ok
premium surplus reserve losses Total
T#7 T#n T# T# T#7x
HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’000
REEZRERA—H At 1 May 2020 560,230 191,087 2,801 (832,139) (78,021)
AEFERR2H %% Loss and total comprehensive
expense for the year - - - (22,273) (22,273)
TE IR A Lapse of share options - - (1,422) 1,422 -
RZFBZHEMAZ+H At 30 April 2021 560,230 191,087 1,379 (852,990) (100,294)
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41. I JBERE 51 31

REALAFAR T ——FENA=ZTHRMZ
W P RE R (TREE]) 203 AN RIEEE
([FEE g ]) Al 2 REY A5 8 5 A 2 =) 3R AT A
Wi Ja 28 W) 2 2 MR B (LR A & W) BCHHAE f]
Wi JB 2~ ®1 AT ~ IR AT S 5L AT B
AR FIAT o] 8 B 2> w2 AT ] B R ) H Ak T
AN E BB R DL E R B
A% B % BT > S ) 07 < 3B AR 4R TR EDRK
RAE G B B AR 2 AT AT H A i e E 2 1
T 14 2R AT (8 2 7 A W W AT o 1 T DL 84T
R A SO ATF AR AR A T R B
FTIeAR30% st B 2 FMEHE —F ——F N
HZ T ILA Bk —HAR-

AR NAT (w1 BAS 2 ) R e 2w A
A L A S P HEE R B4 T 2 W AR (B4 2 AT
7 R 1 A AT 00 W JBERE ) i A Al {8 T 4
WEEAT RO T RAT 2R RHEAE A5G
AN T COBEAT A MR 2 1% - BRI AL T
&N IT ON-NETE VS INEE T 3 PN
o B LR ) R Ao R BR A > Ho A
R N = 45 ) S RO B OB B R A (LA R
S ) 2RI T SR 4 il 8 2 o AR 2 B AE
IR I8 A5F 19 7T 1 4% 8 AU -

B T o T MR AR () 1R
G e M 2 7 T 52 B 4 R SR BT R AR 2
Ji 453 GEM 2 W T {5 5 (b) B A A Al
S P AR ) S8 D T 1 L W S B 4 YRR
TR HRAS 2N B B 1 GEM -3 e i A 5 T
(c) R B 2 By (e > =& DA =i & /5
e M A R A > I AR I A R
T R AL

R = 8 2 Ak sk > T AR m] S S5 o 7 4
PE AR N 2 03T A0 T 2 S A 47
AR S B 2 A R AN 15 O B A % T
< FFE AR o AR PR RT3 2 A A 8 B R
TR A e B fo 4 SV 1] O RO AT S S BOME 2 — i
BE

41. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Under the terms of the Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company on
30 August 2011 (the “Option Scheme”), for the primary purpose of providing
incentives to Directors, eligible employees and consultants and rewarding
for their contribution to the Group, the board of directors of the Company
(the “Board”) may, at its absolute discretion, offer full-time employees of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, including executive, non-executive and
independent non-executive directors of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
or any consultants or advisors of any member of the Group, to take up options
to subscribe for ordinary shares of the Company. The maximum aggregate
number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company must not exceed 30% of the
issued share capital of the Company from time to time. The life of the Option
Scheme was effective until 29 August 2021.

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued on the exercise of
options granted under the Option Scheme or any other share option schemes
of the Company and its subsidiaries (including both exercised and outstanding
options) to a grantee in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the total
issued share capital of the Company in issue, unless separately approved by
the shareholders of the Company in general meeting with such grantee and
his associates abstaining from voting, and the number and terms (including
the subscription price) of the options to be granted to such person must be
fixed before the shareholders’ approval. A nominal consideration of HK$1 is
payable on acceptance of each grant.

The subscription price may be determined by the Board, provided that it shall
not be less than the highest of (a) the closing price of the Company’s shares on
the GEM as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date
of offer of the options; (b) the average of the closing prices of the Company’s
shares on the GEM as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of offer of the
options of the Company; and (c) the nominal value of the shares on the date of
offer provided that in the event of fractional prices, the subscription price per
share shall be rounded upwards to the nearest whole cent.

An option may be exercised in whole or in part in accordance with the terms
of the Option Scheme at any time during a period to be notified by the Board
to each grantee which shall not be more than 10 years from the date on which
the offer of the grant of the options is made in accordance with the terms of
the Option Scheme. There is no general requirement on the minimum period
for which an option must be held before an option can be exercised under the
terms of the Option Scheme.
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41. I JBERE 5T B (m)

R DL 0y 2y S B 00 2 PR  IRRE — %
TR TR TN A Z A H Ok B EUAE
2 B S [ AT 0 B S R R AT 38 OB
BUOHE R -

h AR A A AT (O R T ) A R AT o] F A
T S E T 1 52 T 2 A S I TR ME T T AT 2
ZWEE A BEEE T — \EILA
T H (B AR S R SR A T T B — i
Fh PR A 10% 09 H #1) 2350 028 17 B 0 4 8
210% > BP1,436,710,107 B B 44y » 4k A 4F ¥ H
WIE B AT R A B A910% -

MEE_F L -F_FFMHA=1H
Ik AF - AR A AR 2 SR B R T

41. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (coNTINUED)

In accordance with the terms of share-based arrangement, options issued prior
to or during the financial years ended 30 April 2021 and 2020 are fully vested

before the date of exercisable period.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Group must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number
of shares in issue as at 20 September 2018, being the date of approval of
the refreshment of 10% general scheme limit under the Option Scheme by
the shareholders of the Company (i.e. 1,436,710,107 shares, representing
approximately 10% of the total number of shares in issue as at the date of this

annual report).

Details of movements in the Company’s share options for the years ended
30 April 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

RER4
RERZRE MAZ+H
it frfif Ei i ER R ERREH LD W ARAT B
(HRMABRELM) ymkide A A7 6 Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed  Outstanding
e S Bl A Exercisable period Exercise price  Outstanding during during during during at 30 April
2021 Date granted (both dates inclusive) HK$/share at 1 May 2020 the year the year the year the year 2021
WiTES ZEZEE-AZFEH WZFZREZAAHE
Executive Director 23 January 2020 e Sl VKN
From 6 February 2020 to
5 August 2021 00212 143,671,010 - - (143,671,010 - -
fEg CRIRE-A4ER M-ZF-FEZANE
Employee 23 January 2020 ZERZ-FARLH
From 6 February 2020 to
5 August 2021 00212 143,671,010 - - - - 143,671,010
Fl
Total 287,342,020 - - (143,671,000) - 143,671,010
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41. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (coNTINUED)

s
REF-NE MAZ+H
i i LA—H FREH FRE BERES R AT
(EEMXGHEER) gk KA Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed  Outstanding
ZRCRE R EH Exercisable period Exercise price  Outstanding during during during during at 30 April
2020 Date granted (both dates inclusive) HK$/share  at 1 May 2019 the year the year the year the year 2020
ks SECRE-ACTER WCRCEECAARE
Executive Director 23 January 2020 R -FARLH
From 6 February 2020 to
5 August 2021 0.0212 - 143,671,010 - - - 143,671,010
I SECFFACEER BORRECAARE
Employee 23 January 2020 ZER--FARLH
From 6 February 2020 to
5 August 2021 0.0212 - 143,671,010 - - - 143,671,010
B “F-tERATEA HZF-tFAHZAARE
Consultants* 15 September 2017 ZE-NERAZTAH
From 29 September 2017 to
28 September 2019 0.0186  1,149,030,000 - - - (1,149,030,000) -
2y
Total 1,149,030,000 287,342,020 - - (1,149,030,000) 287,342,020
& G A B B A L HE il E = * The consultants are not connected parties of the Group and have provided

F-NEE-E-NFUA=F+HILFEES
S [ B A1 7 S el AR AR S

R E - —F WA = H Ik FE R
P2 0 B A RE

WEE T BENA =+ HIEEE A%
B —E A — A A = H AR A A EAT
R R BB R o R W% B A
BE 2 Al 512 F (8 552,801,000 7T > H LA B A
A 1EH) 37 0 ) A8 1) 8 S B O s S S A (R R S T
ST HEAT BN (8 2 SEVE ST B AT -

business relation services to the Group for the year ended 30 April 2019 and

2018.

the Group.

During the year ended 30 April 2021, no share options were granted.

During the year ended 30 April 2020, share options were granted on
23 January 2020 to an executive director of the Company and an employee
of the Group. The estimated fair values of share options granted on that date
is HK$2,801,000 which was arrived on the basic of valuation carries out by

Ascent Partners, an independent qualified professional valuer not connected to
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41. W% e ot B (w0 41. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

ZENTETIE N AR R G B o R

These fair values were calculated using the Binomial model. The inputs into

Y A B AT the model were as follows:
=y ot et Y

2021 2020
i 5 1 B WATHSE
Executive
Employee Employee Director
ANTH (HIT) Fair value (HKS$) 0.0096 0.0096 0.0099
THAE (#5oT) Exercise price (HK$) 0.0212 0.0212 0.0212
TE 1 % Expected volatility 115.68% 115.68% 115.68%
HFEHE (4F) Expected life (years) 1.53 1.53 1.53
91 B 1] Risk-free rate 1.66% 1.66% 1.66%
TR E R Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0%

TELII W T AR R AR 2 ) M A A A R i
SO0 4 07 J01 (] 22 TR S 30 W T 7 S o % L T
ZHFHE TR E B 2 AN A
AT AT PR S AT 2 R R T R R
T LR o 0 S M A (R T RE BB A T T BB L
PANGE2 VIPNEL I

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility of the
Company’s share price over a period approximate to the expected life of
share options. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based
on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise
restrictions and behavioural considerations. The value of an option could vary

materially with different variables of certain subjective assumptions.

L 7% SO R B AR 4> W) BT R o i TRORE A B Y
B 32,801,000 7T ©

42, & E

The Group had fully recognised the expense of HK$2,801,000 in relation to
share options granted by the Company in the year ended 30 April 2020.

42. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

PERE AR AL BN NI EEE /A
BB — IR SRAT RV 2 W 1R

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has pledged the following assets

as securities against general banking facilities granted to the Group:

R4 —E LR
2021 2020
Tt T#s T
HK$’000 HKS$’ 000
B 45 T 2 RR T H Carrying amount of:

wEYE Investment properties - 48,900
FHEE b S Leasehold land and buildings - 6,210
JRE IR Trade receivables 15,054 17,738
AHEE Contract assets 813 509

OB R R A Assets classified as held for sale
— Gy — Investment properties 44,400 —
— LB b KA — Leasehold land and buildings 5,981 =

170 sER#ZBEBRAR  WLS Holdings Limited




f 3 YA 5 H W k

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28 M 2 & BE
A 5 [ A 2 LN

TR T A = A B A AR S
AR AR AR T IH T S A A

43. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
The Group as lessor

As at 30 April 2021, the Group had contracted with tenants for the following

future minimum lease payments:

SETE CFOEE
2021 2020

T#ou T T

HK$’000 HK$’000

—4EN Within one year 1,121 384
BRBIAF (BT RME) In the second to fifth years inclusive 527 -
1,648 384

44. 38 1k 18 At 3

HOoZEZRES A —H®E AEHC A
ANE REEUEWEA R IA &% E L2
B W BB SRR AR B Y ETAE
B2 B ARG H AR R S A&
B R AR B A B N R vk a1 T
TEHAR B A 2 5% B wt# 4 A R
M E—AENA— H' LS A 1,500 ¢
PR > HAR (L3RI o R o

A8 25 40 BR 2 4R AR £91,211,000% 0C (. F
TR 471,359,000 7T ) 45 A 22 [ (5] 4 B 4
FH B AR 2 i

B 2 7 A S 9 A 7 5
M s il — SR A AT < 1E R
A A S 2 06K 2 T I
DR Sat SR St =t LHL)
=Rl A 2 KT A S
HORACAE FE 2 14 -

44. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

With effect from 1 December 2000, the Group has arranged for all qualifying
employees of the Company and its Hong Kong subsidiaries to join the
MPF Scheme. The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution scheme managed
by independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, both the Group and
the employees make monthly contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5% of
the employees’ earnings as defined under the Mandatory Provident Fund
legislation, subject to a cap of HK$1,500 per month effect from 1 June 2014

and thereafter contributions are voluntary.

The total cost charged to profit or loss of approximately HK1,211,000 (2020:
approximately HK$1,359,000) represents contributions payable to the MPF
Scheme by the Group.

The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in
an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme. No forfeited
contribution is available to reduce the contribution payable in the future years
as at 30 April 2021 and 2020.
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45. BN 1 B 45. RELATED PARTIES DISCLOSURES
AR AR BB E N LFT LTRSS ¢ During the year, the Group entered into the following transactions with related
parties:
o CEo%E
2021 2020
T THs T
HK$’000 HK$ 000
HETEME AW —ZERZ Interest income from staff and
FE A a director of a subsidiary 8 17
HKH—KBEARZ Management fee income from
BFIBEIRA (H5Ea) a related company (Note a) 120 -
HH—RKBEA A Z Commission fee income from
A (KfsEa) a related company (Note a) 569 388
l— R B A R A2 Commission expense paid to
Wa2ER (fika) a related company (Note a) (1,170) (1,014)
MIANF— 2 E R 2 Patent expense paid to a director of
HA 2 (MfsEb) the Company (Note b) - (1,200)
B — % BB 7 IO 2t Deposit received from
(M5Ec) a related party (Note c) 7,588 =
B 3 - Notes:
(a)  HAAS SR T — SR N W R R A A (a)  The amounts were received from or paid to a company which is a related company
) 4 AR R - WA TR K T T MR E B T to the Group as a director of a subsidiary of the Group is also the controlling
JB A B B B AN R A o shareholder in that company.
(b) 7 B ECTE T SR S RS SR A B AR ST A (b)  The amounts were paid to Dr. So Yu Shing, who is an executive director of the
T AN F AT E PRI Company in respect of the patented brand scaffolding system.
(c)  AAAERE AN E) O OBHT R A R R A PR A (c)  During the current year, the Company has entered into the Sale and purchases
A (fEAAREEMOBE ) (T'EhEvE with Sun Wui Property Developement Limited as purchases, being the related
B 0oh ek o WFAE LA B EESD o party of the Group. The details disclosed in note 31.

B A ) B 2N L 22 B R R G OB R A B Details of the balances with the Group’s related parties are set out in the
BEAR DL 2 S 25 Bt 5 o consolidated statement of financial position and respective notes.
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45. B N 1 B2 (w0

FEEHARME

AR L AT HE A T HoA AT B 2
[/

45. RELATED PARTIES DISCLOSURES

(CONTINUED)
Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of executive directors and other members of key

management during the year was as follows:

R TR

2021 2020

Tt T

HK$’000 HK$’000

S 1A A Short-term benefits 12,518 11,404
B ARAE Post-employment benefits 180 189
12,698 11,593

AAFPATESR (A EEERAR) Z W&
TIm B ZE B Gk LR g EMAK
B B 3 M 1% e E -

46. & A )8\ b A B

A R G DL e R A S B W A
25 7 B 4R - SR B AL R
M 2 70 » 6K TR I < B b AT -
5 0 5 0 A0 5

A% B2 ) AR S R A AR A TS R N 4 R Y
BB I A (EL3E A B 5E35 - 36 /L3707 B 75 1Y
PR £~ SRAT A5 68 SR AT I 30 S b 4 3k
R Al ~ B4 B & % (EIH H i3 L
AR TR AN REAGE RS (40 AR B it ffi) o

ERGEFHEARLN - FERZEFN B
i AR L E R R A TR AT
ARl RIBCR B2 FETHA - HHBFEA
JA K B A5 U A B 2 SR - N R
AT ORI ~ B AT R A B S ARUR B (BB
VLT i A% S [0 ) 8 R A JE 4

The remuneration of executive directors of the Company, who are also
members of key management is, recommended by the Remuneration
Committee and approved by the Board having regard to the performance of

individuals and market trends.

46. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company manages its capital to ensure that the Group and its subsidiaries
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The

Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt which includes
lease liabilities, bank borrowings and bank overdrafts, other loan and other
borrowings disclosed in notes 35, 36 and 37 respectively, net of cash and cash
equivalents, and equity attributable to the owners of the Company, comprising
share capital and reserves, as disclosed in the consolidated financial

statements.

The Directors review the capital structure annually. As part of this review, the
Directors assess the annual budget prepared by management of the Company.
Based on the proposed annual budget, the Directors consider the cost of
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. The Directors also
balance the Group’s overall capital structure through new share issuance, as

well as issuance of new debts and repayment of existing debts.
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46. & AR B B B ()

TR TZAE H = B AR R W B
28 E 2o e R I R A I A O

N

§ (RPBCER) BRI (MR85 8 (BPECER)
HURN ) 8y B BUE R E o AL 2 2B
T T A O R (BRI BRI
I AR AR A RE T U B e HE < IR
H 256 % U0 B 5 A A R B I & KT L
ORI 54 & 78 7 S B (BB R ) BB G
AR B B E o R B A W 2R
AR BE P A (BB % B RE32) - i B ZH M ST
% RLE

i

BAREH

A AR 0T A R H R (B AR B S A TR
DASHE £ ) B 1% AR o (R AU B (L 4 SR AT 1
T $RAT 955 32> oMl 8 30 B H A i 45 DA B 45 T
HEAFE -WMEMRZEEABLRNT

46. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

As at 30 April 2020, two subsidiaries of the Company are regulated by the
SFC and are required to comply with the financial resources requirements
according to the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Financial Resources)
Rules (the “SF(FR)R”). The Group’s regulated entities are subject to minimum
paid-up share capital requirements and liquid capital requirements under the
SF(FR)R. Management closely monitors, on a daily basis, the liquid capital
level of these entities to ensure compliance with the minimum liquid capital
requirements under the SF(FR)R. As the above subsidiaries were disposed
during the year which disclosed in note 32, no such requirements were

required.

Management of capital

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which arrives at total
interest-bearing debts divided by the total equity. Total debts include bank
borrowings and bank overdrafts, other loan and other borrowings, certain lease
liabilities. The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods were as

follows:

SETE CEOER
2021 2020
T o0 T#s T
HK$’000 HK$°000

M B A 1 Interest-bearing debts:
SRAT B S RAT I X Bank borrowings and bank overdrafts 69,672 64,509
At A5 R Al i Other loan and other borrowings 80,000 82,000
HEAME (KH5Ea) Lease liabilities (Note a) 625 1,513
TR B AR Total debts 150,297 148,022
HHERS (MEp) Total equity (Note b) 521,353 537,629
HEABLR Gearing ratio 28.8% 27.5%

B 5 - Notes:

(a)  ELFEHSTEE AR o HE A R
SR 42 AL 22 B SO0 R A A o AL

(b) R BT A R T AT AN B AR - B R AR
KRN
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(a) For the purpose of computation of the gearing ratio, lease liabilities only consists
of lease liabilities associated with acquisition of motor vehicles under lease
arrangement.

(b)  Equity includes all capital and reserves of the Group that are attributable to the
owners of the Company.
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47. & T H
a. LB THZEW

47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a. Categories of financial instruments

SR e e 2
2021 2020
Tt T oo
HK$’000 HK$’000
4 & Financial assets
AP HEF AR 2w EZ Equity instruments at FVTOCI
M TR 9,852 9,255
WATPFMEFIABRZ A E Financial assets at FVTPL 64,643 22,686
e Yk B AR At amortised cost
Fig 4 Fe HoAth R Wi 5 IE Deposits and other receivables 6,960 7,113
R Wi B 3K T A Loan and interest receivables 472,175 462,442
B 2k Trade receivables 25,662 27,206
SRITH R LBl & —fFREIRF Bank balances and cash — trust account 2 2
SRATHE R Bl —— R ARF Bank balances and cash
— general accounts 44,053 78,298
623,347 607,002
A 214 Financial liabilities
e Yl B AR At amortised cost
A R Tk B L At A+ 2 T Trade and other payables 18,388 12,788
JREASH {7 ] 485 3 IE Retention monies payables 3,411 1,642
SRAT (& Bank borrowings 47,859 45,113
At 45 8 A £ Other loan and other borrowings 80,000 82,000
AT X Bank overdrafts 21,812 19,396
171,470 160,939
GEN =K Lease liabilities 4,114 9,225

b. BB B PR AR R R

AL 2 FE M TR R 2% &
Al L T A% B L B o T SO A B A
il TR B 2 Ja B B o Ao e AR % 4 Ja By
BOSR o A R A B R B A 2 4 LR o LA OR Kt
R 40 A 280 B O 8 2 8 i

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments are listed in the above table. Details
of these financial instruments are disclosed in the respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.
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47. & T H (m)

b. WA )EBE A B H AR KR BUR ()

s B o B B ok AEL W Al
JE B R

A 3 PR S B RS > A 42 A B A S B
R Tt B o PR AR R Wi R A S A U A B
Bt o 5% Wl Ak 7 2 7 3 AT i B R 2 o U0
T it DA B A BRI 2 0 B B4 B o T R i
T RFE ZERIEE B KBRS
A ~ 1A 2 BE K 4R P R0 A DL R A MR
FLBKSE) o BUAh o A G2 B RE Y — MR 7 TR AR AR T
H3 05 B M 1R A 3 R i R A S ) AT
A A o AR o ) T S R R AR R R 1R A B
O 1K A 90 R 40 2 S (LAl AR s B K R A
9 A 4R 2% 3 o BRI FRAM R A% ik H I E R
HUE SRR SR HAEENGEE
JeRL B A A -

HLE 7 PRI AL & 79 7 A B JENHR 3K R 6 49 &
JEE

B IR R B AR 4R L E &R
MB ARMEREHERGEERE TR
AR B IR R A HC A B AR T o WE R PR OB
Fe5 i DA A [T 7 S99 6 0 o g A > A AR AR 9E TH
95 B Ml 4R IR (S A B S AT 369
a1 EL A BULE BE LB e AR 25 S BRUBS HEAT
G AT P 458 45 R 36 0 ) A6 B A T LB T A
TE 75 8 MR %~ JEE S0 B B8 A R B G Bk Ik
A I AR K G A R L AR - B A S A
T RIS B R AR o M RHE S R R E A
W26 ROE B F S BB H NS A
A7 AR P TR FE T 22 1 AR B SS ) EI &
R HL A SR A A0 v R AT S R T AR
BEE 1 B 5 &5 B B AT WA o Wl BT
TR0 A A SR T £ BB KW A
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47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
Loan and interest receivables

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has a policy
for assessing the credit risk of accounts and loan and interest receivables. The
assessment is based on a close monitoring and evaluation of collectability and
on management’s judgement, including the ageing analysis of receivables, the
current creditworthiness, account executives concentration analysis, collateral
distribution and concentration analysis and the past collection history of each
client, etc. In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under
ECL model on loan and interest receivables based on general approach. The
directors of the Company estimate the estimated loss rates of loan and interest
receivables based on historical credit loss experience as well as the fair value
of the colleterial pledged. In view of the ECL provision is made on each
of the reporting date, the Directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is

significantly reduced.

Trade receivables and contract assets arising from contracts with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has
delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits and credit
approvals. Other monitoring procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group performs
impairment assessment under ECL model on trade balances based on
provision matrix through grouping of various debtors that have similar credit
risk characteristics based on nature and industry of debtors. Internal credit
rating has been given to each category of debtors after considering aging,
historical observed default rates, repayment history and past due status of
respective trade receivables. Estimated loss rates are based on probability of
default and loss given default with reference to an external credit report and
are adjusted for reasonable and supportable forward-looking information that
is available without undue costs or effort while credit-impaired trade balances
were assessed individually. In this regard, the Directors consider that the

Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.
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47. & T H (m)

b. WA )EBE A B H AR KR BUR ()

s B B B o AFL W Al (%80)
Al JE e IH

A AR T AR R A R R A R At B i IR
Z B > A A A AR WAGROH  (E - EE E
RERy - BRI ERRAL - 3% S REMGRIE 15 B JE
B SIf B 5T 5 94 I - T AR AR 4R S B R LB
N TEL S AR ST 0 38 1 IBL A P 19 2 A0 SO AT A
A U 7 AE 223 2 AR 355y B R] AT B i
W P AT A R o AR A AR O AT R Bl
A EERAR _E - FER_ERF
P9 =t At R RO A A 0 RN A B s
R A B9 s £R B A AN EE R > TR A Sl 9 k£ A
Vi $R T B A AT 4B A

RBEEZFEEABRAR HAXSH TR
B PR A B A AR A T R A SRAT -
A G PR AE O A T B R SR A 2 BRAT Y
U B < 1 B A R R

R AR AW E AL R KREF &
Wi £ I K& P o0l B 2 el 5 Il TR Rt
B 50 45 g~ RGBS AR 2
WA R T B B A AR T 4 2 5 B8 JEL B 4 K T A
529% (F BF156%) MT75% (—F %
o 1T70% ) o i S BA R o AR 4 1 R AR AR Y
I KAEH N I W 4 I KAEHS A 43 il 728 A6 e
Wi 85 R I A SRR 2 A AR R 4R PR
5% (T F TEAE 6%) K10% ( K FAE
10%) °

47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Other receivables

The Group assessed the impairment for its other receivables individually
based on internal credit rating and ageing of these debtors which, in the
opinion of the Directors, have no significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. ECL is estimated based on historical observed default rates over
the expected life of debtors and is adjusted for forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort. Based on the impairment
assessment performed by the Group, the Directors consider the loss allowance
for other receivables within lifetime ECL as at 30 April 2021 and 2020 was

insignificant and accordingly no allowance for credit losses was provided.

Bank balances

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks
with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies. The
Group is exposed to concentration of credit risk on liquid funds which are

deposited with several banks with high credit ratings.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has a certain level of
concentration of credit risk as 52% (2020: 56%) and 75% (2020: 70%)
of the trade receivables and retention monies receivables arising from the
Group’s largest customer and the two largest customers from scaffolding,
fitting out and other auxiliary services for construction and buildings work
respectively. At the end of the reporting period, the Group has a certain level
of concentration of credit risk as 5% (2020: 6%) and 10% (2020: 10%) of the
total loan and interest receivables arising from the Group’s largest debtors and

the two largest debtors, respectively.
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47. & T H (m)

b. B R bR B H R B UK () b.
(Continued)
i Bl i B AL A (1)
A G TS 1 P B AT A AT A B DA
K - categories:
P B £ 5 B i
Internal credit rating Description

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

R WA B ik B A A
Trade receivables and
contract assets

47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the following

At 45 0

Other financial assets

{9

Low risk

B4 B

Watch list

Doubtful

i 18

Loss

i 8

Write-off

178 EmzZBRERAR

2 by 3 T3 40 L B A EL Sl 9 A o 00 O

The counterparty has a low risk of default

and does not have any past-due amounts

T o BT e RO E i (R EN F AR 5
AR I SRS IR AT B R S

The counterparty has amounts past-due but
is continuously settling after due date and
with continuous business transactions with

the Group

925 38 1 B A B 2 R B R R AT A
I e RBAR > 5 LR B B B - H A 5
T LA [ AT SE B L )

There have been significant increases in
credit risk since initial recognition through
information developed internally or
external resources while the counterparty
is with continuous business transactions

with the Group

AR SRS A B R B AR AR

There is evidence indicating the asset is

credit-impaired

AR B AUBE N B A e Y B S IR L
A G I R R A A% T i [l A B e OE

There is evidence indicating that the debtor is
in severe financial difficulty and the Group

has no realistic prospect of recovery

WLS Holdings Limited

M EHEE R
R H A

Lifetime ECL —

not credit-impaired

EWENEE R
AR BWE

Lifetime ECL —

not credit-impaired

W EYEERE -
R A HE

Lifetime ECL —

not credit-impaired

S MFHE R ER -
OB E R B E

Lifetime ECL —

credit-impaired

A B B

Amount is written off

121 A S H
#H

12m ECL

121 A T8 145 5 s
1

12m ECL

SR F e 1E —
R A B

Lifetime ECL —

not credit-impaired

M EIE R -
C B E 5 S (E

Lifetime ECL —

credit-impaired

i A B B

Amount is written off
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47. & T H (m)

b. BB B B PR AR RO ()

s B B B o AFL W Al (%80)

AR A AR AR B8 B B R AT A R B

47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s financial

il T ) A LB assets, which are subject to ECL assessment:
N o
hb ik £ R 1218 A g% 1 2021 2020
g i T B4 S T 480 e A 0
External credit Internal credit
rating rating 12m or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount Gross carrying amount
T#x T#x THT THT
HK$°000 HK$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000
JHE M B LB, A 1L B 12 A G RER
Loan and interest receivables N/A Low risk 12m ECL 70,905 162,836
A B4 B 121 I B85 B4
N/A Watch list 12m ECL 49,474 140,181
Nl ] TG EEH-
REEE E W
N/A Doubtful Lifetime ECL - 315,462 145,813
not credit-impaired
Nl f5 NG EEHR-
EHERHRE
N/A Loss Lifetime ECL - 162,560 598,401 87,659 536,489
credit-impaired
B R TR R A % B i EHENE SRR
AR REAEAE R AR B REEA R BBUE
R it M B (M)
Trade receivables from scaffolding, N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL - 200 24,008
fitting out and other auxiliary not credit-impaired
services for construction and Sl B4 E AT SR -
buildings work (Note) TS B
N/A Watch list Lifetime ECL - 22,896 112
not credit-impaired
A g EHFBEEREH-
KB HE U
N/A Doubtful Lifetime ECL - 6,139 163
not credit-impaired
Nl i EMEBEEEH-
CEEFABEA
N/A Loss Lifetime ECL - 4,302 33,537 4,374 28,657

credit-impaired
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47. & T H (m)
b.  BAW )R BE E PR H B R B (s

47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
e 85 B\ B B AR HE AN (%) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
SESS
Ah B £5 £ R £ £ 1218 A 24 W 2021 2020
b1 Fi3:1 TH WIS B E JUTTRAR W T 4 E
Gross Gross
External credit Internal credit carrying carrying
rating rating 12m or lifetime ECL amount amount
T 5 T
HK$’000 HK$°000
GRERE (M) AN 78 I B MG B EE—
B AR A BOWUE
Contract assets (Note) N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL — 10,266 8,028
not credit-impaired
oAb iR I 78 1% R B 1240 F FEAME S 1R
Other receivables N/A Low risk 12m ECL 6,960 7,113
SRATHE BR A2FEA-1+ Yy b 1211 A FH S Sl 18
Bank balances A-2 to A-1+ N/A 12m ECL 44,053 78,298
i Note:

S S R S A T - A B A T R
2 JI SO 5% T L i W R A T TE U 65 i 4R 0 s 1R
AR o B 5 AR 5 B0 U 1) B SR A S A0 R A
A S T BR P A o R A S SR % 2 AL O J5 R A
fift 7E % 45 O E I T A5 R 1

A R A I F A R E
FESRLES LIRS S CE ey
P A LB (3 25 A T R S A
AR L4l S T L2 SRR 1 B
B SRR

BEZE 4N =4 H RS S A B RE IR 3K
4D Uk (1 5 1L 38 A U 488 150 4,226,000 6 70 ( & R AR
(B TR 9% O 191153,0008 0) LA B A A K
JEE A R (s 1R T3 4 TR A 213,00088 7T (L F EAE
23,0009 70 ) A B A {5 BRI > 7 43 Al A 48 55 TR o
BEAh > B4 Al 18 25 W RR A B © 8 A I (E 2 e
AC SR 114 D6k M e 4 935 A 0% L 547,875,000 0T (&
TR (R M 1R 9 A VR 898 5,00095 U0 ) Kl A
B s S W 2 A A Y Tk (R TR A B
PR (D AR ) o
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For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group has applied the simplified approach
in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance of lifetime ECL. Except for trade receivables
and contract assets that are credit-impaired, the Group determine the ECL on these items

by using a provision matrix, grouped by past-due aging of receivables.

The management of the Group considers the loss allowance for trade receivables from
discontinued operation, securities brokerage and margin financing business, which
within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) as at 30 April 2021 and 2020 was insignificant
and with low credit risk. No allowances for credit losses is provided.

During the year ended 30 April 2021, net reversal of impairment loss allowance of
HK$4,226,000 (2020: net reversal of impairment loss allowance of HK$153,000) related
to trade receivables and net provision of impairment loss allowance of HK$213,000
(2020: HK$23,000) related to contract assets that are not credit-impaired was recognised
in profit or loss, respectively. In addition, net provision of impairment loss allowance
of HK$7,875,000 (2020: net provision of impairment loss allowance of HK$985,000)
related to trade receivables and there is neither provision or reversal of provision (2020:
nil) related to contract assets that are credit-impaired was recognised in profit or loss,

respectively.
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47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

b. WA )EBE A B H AR KR BUR () b.

s B B B o AFL W Al (%80)

RGN R T i R B R e SR A 2

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The following tables show reconciliation of loss allowances that has been

IR recognised for loan and interest receivables:
2 W 209
5 Bk R fi G 8
124 H # (A ;A (C#A
fa B 1 fr B A fa B WAE) fat
Lifetime ECL
(not credit- Lifetime ECL
12m ECL impaired) (credit-impaired) Total
T T T#T T
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
W_F—NFERA—H As at 1 May 2019 8,481 2,220 30,355 41,056
RHEA—HE®RZ Changes due to financial
SR 5 instruments recognised
as at 1 May:
—EE A AR — Transfer to credit
— impaired (1,828) (53) 1,881 -
— [ E R A — Transfer to not credit
— impaired (3,674) 3,674 - -
—EE 120 H FHEE — Transfer to 12m ECL
JE5 1R 6,617 (2,167) (4,450) -
— O AR el 1 s 1R — Impairment losses
recognised 7,829 31,328 24,867 64,024
— 5 [ (E 1 — Impairment losses reversed (5,656) - (1,750) (7,406)
— iR — Write-offs - - (24,155) (24,155)
AR M i New financial assets originated 55 - 473 528
AZETEFENH =+ H & Asat 30 April 2020 and
R EELA A 1 May 2020 11,824 35,002 27,221 74,047
WitHH—HEERZ Changes due to financial
T HZ &) instruments recognised
as at | May:
— 3 B A A B — Transfer to credit
- impaired - (18,258) 18,258 -
— M E R R E — Transfer to not credit
— impaired (11,769) 11,769 - -
— 4 0 H EI G & — Transfer to 12m ECL
JiEi 18 - - - -
— DR BUE G — Impairment losses
recognised 65,054 - - 65,054
— 58 10 3 (A 12 — Impairment losses reversed - - (10,987) (10,987)
— iR — Write-offs - - (2,241) (2,241)
B2 MEE New financial assets originated 353 - - 353
B2 -H#NH=1H As at 30 April 2021 65,462 28,513 32,251 126,226
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47. & T H (m)
b.  BAM )R BE P E R B (4

s B B B o AFL W Al (%80)

JRE i K I R S 2l AR A A ) T R

47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Changes in the loss allowance for loan and interest receivables are mainly due
to:

“ERZHFMA=TH
30 April 2021
Bom, (W) & W EYAE SOk R0, ()

Increase/
(decrease) Increase/(decrease) in lifetime ECL
1248 H
I REE RS AR %A A
Not credit-
In 12m ECL impaired Credit-impaired
T#t T# 5t TF#
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
KEBEHEANZEMmA(EA  Loan and interest receivables from
2,241,000 62 EUL 2K a debtor with gross carrying amount of
KA BB & - —4F approximately HK$2,241,000 has been
MU H = H &SR written off in full as at 30 April 2021 - - (2,241)

SERCFEMA=+H
30 April 2020
whn, Ged)  RHEBE R REEE N ()

Increase/
(decrease) Increase/(decrease) in lifetime ECL
121 J
GRS REAEENE 284 ERNIE
Not credit-
In 12m ECL impaired  Credit-impaired
T#: 7T T# 7T T#s T
HK$ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$°000

A [ R 2 IR T A E Loan and interest receivables from
#125,905,000% G 2 JE U a debtor with gross carrying amount of
B RE B Ui [ K approximately HK$25,905,000 has been
125 1] Gk (1 R 4L 92 445 written off in full as at 30 April 2020
1,750,0004% JC £ after recoveries and reversal of

ATFEHRFMHA =+ H  impairment loss allowance of

7 BRI HK$1,750,000
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TNRIUNRBEHE T ECR A EE R EE T
T R (300 225 A R A8 % L A il B AR 5 #)
R i B e R < A A TR (5 R TR A S )

47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

o B A 5 A W
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has been

recognised for trade receivables from scaffolding, fitting out and other

auxiliary services for construction and buildings work under the simplified

approach.
4z 1 ¥ 1 2 1 ¥ 1
e Bl 4 (GRS Fi]
(A %A (B4
e SEPAE ) fi B UAE ) ik
Lifetime ECL Lifetime
(not credit- ECL (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
T#: T T T#s T
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
W _E—JERH—H As at 1 May 2019 456 993 1,449
— I 5 A AR — Transfer to credit — impaired (139) 139 -
— O e R Uk M A 4R — Impairment losses recognised 1 937 938
— O 9% ] ok A s 4R — Impairment losses reversed (224) (101) (325)
— iR — Write-offs - (830) (830)
BE A 2 A A New financial assets originated 70 149 219
AT TEENHA =+ H K& As at 30 April 2020 and 1 May 2020
SERCEELH—H 164 1,287 1,451
— Wl S B A SR — Transfer to credit — impaired (22) 22 -
— & 52 el (B s 12 — Impairment losses recognised 151 3,460 3,611
— 98 [0 ek (L s 12 — Impairment losses reversed (49) (362) (411)
— R — Write-offs - (1,529) (1,529)
BE A 2 A Rl New financial assets originated 67 12 79
MR _—4MHA=+H Asat30April 2021 311 2,890 3,201
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47. &Rt T H (w0 47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

b. A% B B H AR K BUR (s b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

e 85 A\ B B AR BT A (%) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

G S Rl TR IR AL AR 95 2 M B I Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables from scaffolding, fitting
Lt i Bl I 5 1 JRE oA TR K 2 e AR A S ) out and other auxiliary services for construction and buildings work are
B mainly due to:

—E R
WH=1+H

30 April 2020
W EWIE

B I 1R D
Decrease in
lifetime ECL

OB A £ B
Credit-impaired
THs T
HK$’000

AR AR A = HMOR AR Written off of a trade debtor with a gross carrying
#{H1,768,000% TC 2 E 5 HE U IR K amount of HK$1,768,000 and accumulated loss
F619,000% 7C 2 2 5t 10 7 allowance of HK$619,000 as at 30 April 2020 619,000
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47. & T H (m)
b.  BAM )R BE P E R B (4

s B B B o AFL W Al (%80)

TNRIUNRBEHE T ECR A EE R EE T
T R (300 225 A R A8 % L A il B AR 5 #)
BREERRZ EMENERERN 2 -

47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has been
recognised for contract assets from scaffolding, fitting out and other auxiliary

services for construction and buildings work under the simplified approach.

2B

15 B 1H
(AR#EE

i BWAE)
Lifetime ECL
(not credit-

impaired)
TH#T
HK$’000
R E-ERA—H As at 1 May 2019 54
RHH—HEMR &M TR EE) Changes due to financial instruments
recognised as at 1 May:
— O WERR (A s 18 — Impairment losses recognised 6
— P8 [0 3 (L e 48 — Impairment losses reversed (33)
FEAE 2B R A New financial assets originated 4
At e =24 o 111 ) Sl = I ke ke 2 NS Rl = As at 30 April 2020 and 1 May 2020 31
RHH—HOMRZem TR . Changes due to financial instruments
recognised as at 1 May:
— O AR (A 1R — Impairment losses recognised 50
— 3 [l B 1R — Impairment losses reversed (43)
A W A New financial assets originated 206
WoFZ—HEMHA=+H As at 30 April 2021 244

ik A7 R B AR5 N IS e S A L SIE
906 BT B i ] T BB R (AN RS N AT M8
0 7 T M AR R T A A T L I R 9 T
AE(DLBCR Ry oE) ) o B A 4 T Al i R AR
KB # G o

The Group writes off a trade receivable and contract asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or when the trade
receivable and contract asset are over two years past due, whichever occurs
earlier.
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47. & T H (m)

b. WA )EBE A B H AR KR BUR ()

i 455 Jal B
R 5 B
B 4 Ui ) 5 JE B

AR B R B R R 2 R AT A S AT
BDL R RAT R BR R Z A R B B 2 BB R
IR0

A S T B I S 0 B P B R 3 B K B 4 O
BB B A B 2 AT A R R e SR o EE R
N B B A A T T B JEL B o SIGE ER RR
el R & LIRS

U o) H

VAR 9 B0/ BE 2 A 75 (B S0 ) 2 5 B % R Bt
JI R % A T R E - NI B T R LR R% BT T
E N s S R 9 R N JEER
N A M) 3 T B 4 7R S S R T R
1% - T4 4 50 I 5 R 52 0] RE 5 BLAE ) 2 B
fili

A A SR BN 1% T A H At 5 A
N REHBEE F - —4FENAH=+HI
A B 1 B AR S TR 88 98D £9362,0009 T
(R4 N, W) £127,00080C) ©

PR =R JE B
AR 22 1R 6 L B T B L S A1) A

B S L R B A AE A B (% 4 [
M R B TR GEE MR35 %37) -
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47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk
Interest rate risk
Cash flow interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk through the changes in
interest rates related mainly to the Group’s variable-rates bank overdrafts,

bank borrowings and bank balances.

The Group currently does not have any interest rate hedging policy in relation
to fair value interest rate risk and cash flow interest rate risk. The directors
monitor the Group’s exposures on an ongoing basis and will consider hedging

the interest rate should the need arises.
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined assuming that a change
in interest rates had occurred at the end of the reporting period and had been
applied to the exposure to interest rates for financial instruments in existence
at that date. A 1% increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate
risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s

assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 1% higher/lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s post tax loss for the year ended 30 April 2021
would have increased/decreased by approximately HK$362,000 (2020:
increased/decreased by approximately HK$27,000).

Fair value interest rate risk
The Group’s fair value interest rate risk relates primarily to fixed rate lease

liabilities and other loan and other borrowings (see notes 35 and 37 for details

of these fixed rate debt instruments).
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47. & T H (m)

b. WA )EBE A B H AR KR BUR ()

i 455 )l B (41)
S B

A R & 2 A0 W JE K B AR B AL 5y B
BB < 5 B B - A
R\ By 2 B W R AR W R T
A T 2 ] BE A IR AT ) — 11 WA B LR
i% JE B o R R AR R R S L
N R Je 38 o0 2 R A B« BRI > SORRBE 7 A
Az A F51

i B B < )l B

Ui B R B TG 16 4 I A SEAE B AT B i T
LA B 2 7R 5 I b 42 IR S 2 Ja o R B
4 e R B A A
fEUAR H B <l T

T VB S B AR AR T B o
A A ]y B K T HE TR I R 4B A A A
TG 2 SRAT R R R B KT

7 A (9] 97 3 TR 9T R B < AR % B R A A
BB A T T BLA R b
Bl 4 A B o DA £ BE 40 R AT 9T AT B B AR
o B51& 430Kk o M Ab > SR AT Al G 48k 4%
DERKZ®m R _F_—FMWA=+H
A% 45 B AT 2 SR AT Rl M RH £976,159,0009
JC (& TEAE 76,159,000 0) > H A&
13,529,000% ¢ ( & F4F 1 11,650,00045 55 )
AR AR A A o

47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily through transactions
that are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the
operations to which they relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are
primarily the Macau Pataca, Renminbi and US$. The Group mitigates this
risk by conducting transactions in the same currency, whenever possible.
The directors consider there is no material exposure to the Macau Pataca,
Renminbi and US$ as at the end of the reporting period. Accordingly,

sensitivity analysis has not been presented.
Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that a group entity will encounter difficulty in raising
funds to meet commitments associated with financial instruments. Liquidity
risk may result from an inability to sell a financial asset quickly at close to its

fair value.

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash. The
Group monitors and maintains a level of bank balances and cash deemed

adequate to finance the Group’s operations.

The Group employs projected cash flow analysis to manage liquidity risk by
forecasting the amount of cash required and monitoring the working capital
of the Group to ensure that all liabilities due and known funding requirements
could be met. In addition, banking facilities have been put in place for
contingency purposes. As at 30 April 2021, the Group’s total available banking
facilities were approximately HK$76,159,000 (2020: HK$76,159,000), of
which approximately HK$13,529,000 (2020: HK$11,650,000) were utilised at
the end of the reporting period.
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47. & T H (m) 47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

b. A% B B H AR K BUR (s b. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
B & AR B (40 Liquidity risk (Continued)

R IR R A R IT R B & WA

The maturity profile of the Group’s and Company’s financial liabilities,

A AR ) J A N ) 4 AR TR A lease liabilities and obligations under financial leases (prior to application
TR 7RG (E ) 7 v BA 55 ik o5 Y48 JI 56 1695 ) of HKFRS 16) as at the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
BB undiscounted cash flow, is as follows:
“ECK
2021
T3 B 8k
RS —MAR K8
Weighted On Ra&wat
average  demand or —~WAE ZMAZE-% —HEELE Total JR T
effective less than ZfA 3Imonths to 1to5 undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 month 1-3 months 1year years cash flow value
% Tt Tt Tt Tl T Tt
HK$000 HK$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
A5 ek R A A Trade and other payables
HH - 18,388 - - - 18,388 18,388
JEA {8l 42 308 Retention monies payables - 3411 - - - 3411 3411
BATIES (HEE) Bank borrowings (Note) 4.55% 23,549 17,659 859 7,294 49,361 47,859
RAEX Bank overdrafts 5.25% 21,812 - - - 21812 21,812
JAh B R A B Other loan and other borrowings 8.16% - - 5,060 88,420 93,480 80,000
67,160 17,659 5919 95,714 186,452 171470
HEAH Lease liabilities 5.10% 371 743 2,803 311 4,228 4,114
e St <2
2020
RT3 Bt
B —fi A i KB
Weighted On Ramast
average demand or —fiAE ZWAZ—4F —EREHE Total IR
effective less than =fEA 3 months to Ito5  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 month 1-3 months 1 year years cash flow value
% T Tt T T T T
HKS$000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000
B R A A Trade and other payables
HE - 12,788 - - - 12,788 12,788
@1 f# U Ed Retention monies payables - 1,642 - - - 1,642 1,642
BATIEE (M3 ) Bank borrowings (Note) 4.60 7,706 20971 10,614 7,294 46,585 45,113
%&ﬁ%ﬁi Bank overdrafts 525 19,396 - - - 19,396 19,396
oty B3 B H A Other loan and other borrowings 8.51 79 160 68,425 23,400 92,064 82,000
41,611 21,131 79,039 30,694 172,475 160,939
HEAH Lease liabilities 5.10 469 939 3,930 4224 9,562 9,225
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47. & T H (m)
b. WA )EBE A B H AR KR BUR ()

i B < el B (0

BfsE: MF_—FEMA =+ H ARG
A8 IR TE H 2 947,859,000 0 ( - F &
4 145,113,000 7C) © % 5E T A< 4L B 1 Bt
HER DL > R 5B B SR AT A AT LR
R I 38 3K 2 1Y 17 ME o 3 MM L AR SR AT AN
1 AR IR R R T A 1 T R R R o
WoFR—AENA = H KRB A G
%ME&*IJEIE%?%EUM'JWLMM 0003 JC
(=F T EA : 46,585,000% 70 )

. AFHfE

i — AR R B 2 A EE B 2 A A
B R B A P (E AR A

PR BB N 2 A R 2 T B R 2
][R 9 2 2 el A% T 06 0 5 B Ml i O 5 T
fEE R ATE

R E I ED UL T EANRZ &/
TH o NF B EFRIT

. HA TR B BB AR TE I T 4 A
(RABTIE) (5 —#Al)

. W 58— B BT EL 4 O AR A > W B (
I AE AR ) B (R A S AT AR %’ﬁm
Y E s A TR A (B (3 AR

. P B A0 A (BSR4 T B
WO MR (DR B A M%) (56
=&

47.

b.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Note:

C.

As at 30 April 2021, the aggregate carrying amounts of these bank borrowings
amounted to approximately HK$47,859,000 (2020: HK$45,113,000). Taking
into account the Group’s financial position, the Directors do not believe that
it is probable that the bank will exercise its discretionary rights to demand
immediate repayment. The Directors believe that such bank borrowings will
be repaid in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the
loan agreements. As at 30 April 2021, the aggregate undiscounted principal
and interest cash outflows amounts to approximately HK$49,361,000 (2020:
HK$46,585,000).

Fair value estimation

The notional amounts of financial assets and liabilities with a maturity of less

than one year are assumed to approximate their fair values.

The fair value of balances with related parties have not been determined as

the timing of the expected cash flows of these balances cannot be reasonably

determined because of the relationship.

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by

valuation method. The different levels have been defined as follows:

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities (level 1).

Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or

indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market

data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).
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47. &b TH () 47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
c. A-PEAE () c¢. Fair value estimation (Continued)
THRBEWMAEEPD T A N O F TR The following table presents the Group’s assets and liabilities that are
M H =4 H A PR R S E K AT measured at fair value at 30 April 2021 and 2020.
R &
2021
580N 580N =00 fat
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
TF#t T#t Tt T#t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
B Assets
NP EFFA AL 2T Equity instruments of
Wz s TH FVTOCI 3,446 6,406 - 9,852
AP EFE AR #7 Financial assets at FEVTPL
2 4G E 64,643 - - 64,643
CE
2020
56— 8 55 & =5 &k
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
T# T T # T TH#TT TH T
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
B Assets
e EE A A A2 T Equity instruments of
W it < B 4 TR FVTOCI 2,761 6,494 - 9,255
AP EF AR Financial assets at FVTPL
A P 22,686 - - 22,686
i IHG TR AR 45 FBE S0 [ ST MG 5 — - R These were no transfers between level 1, 2 and 3 during both years.
BN VNS
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47. & T H (m)
c.  AFAEMAE a)
A% JE B

R R AN AR F O R B R BUR B 4R (A0
R 5t 1) R A% o P (8 FE A A 2 T Ui AR %
i R B {2 A 42 o v B O L B 1) A B e S T
i (B ETTSCET R ) 2 & B Al AE A B i i B
HO AT Bh B )

47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
c. Fair value estimation (Continued)
Price risk

The following table indicates the approximate changes in the Group’s loss
after taxation (and accumulated losses) and FVTOCI reserve in response to
reasonably possible changes in the relevant stock market price (for listed
investments) to which the Group have significant exposure at the end of the
reporting period.

R
2021
A CFEFEA
o 6 1% e 4H B oAb 2
Mg s> BBz g8 W 4 Gkl A
¥,/ (W) (B &E) Z B
Effect on
loss after
Increase/ taxation and
(decrease) in accumulated Effect on
the relevant losses FVTOCI
risk variable (Note) reserve
Tt Tt
HK$’000 HK$’000
WA T RCE 2 H 5 E 4% © Market price of underlying listed
investments: 10 % 5,397 345
(10%) 5,397 (345)
e — e
2020
AT A
B ol 4% e 48 S HoAth 4> TH
AH ) L i %i Bt s Wi 4 ok
whn (b (B5E) 2R
Effect on
loss after taxation
Increase/ and
(decrease) in accumulated Effect on
the relevant losses FVTOCI
risk variable (Note) reserve
THs 7T THs 7T
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
W L& 2 884 © Market price of underlying listed
investments: 10% 2,269 276
(10%) (2,269) (276)

BFRE + A< 42 [ BR BE AR i 1R 2 3 BT ROBLIE R 1R 2
i -

AN TR

MW oFE - —FERFEFZFWUWA=Z+H 3
FHRERSE AT ET RN RS EE
TFE - 3l 8 2 25 A0 BH 138 416 09 T LA R A
(HRABE) B A7 B BH S22 o8 28 10 788 A o

Note: The effect in the Group’s loss after taxation has disregarded the utilisation of tax
losses.

Financial instruments in level 2

The fair value of the unlisted investments funds as at 30 April 2021 and 2020
was determined based on the net asset values of the funds, determined with
reference to observable (quoted) prices of underlying investment portfolio and
adjustment of related expenses.
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48. e W B E A 0 A6 B IR

R FE G A SR R A A TN T R A
MAEZE KPR E RIS -
Al B AR A B R R B R A SR
VR A B O AR 0 U O Y B AR B
iR R 2 AfR e

48. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the continuing operations of Group’s
liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be classified in the Group’s consolidated
statement of cash flows from financing activities.

JE A A B,
(A
G A R 5k B
oAl 8 5% K& Al
AT B HoAth i £ L5 £ 1 KW ) At
Interest
payables
(included
Other loan in trade
Bank and other Lease and other
borrowings borrowings liabilities payables) Total
Ff3t36 Wf5E37 Wf3E3s W3E33
Note 36 Note 37 Note 35 Note 33
T T T T T T TH# T T T
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HKS$°000 HKS$°000
RAFE—NFERLH—H At 1 May 2019 34,532 70,000 3,271 2,808 110,611
A& B Financing cash flows 10,581 12,000 (3,060) (7,439) 12,082
il A Finance costs - - 285 8,526 8,811
B4 TS Net cash generated from
(Jr ) B 4 v A (used in) financing
cash flows 10,581 12,000 (2,775) 1,087 20,893
BRI SE S New lease entered or modified - - 8,729 - 8,729
REZZZZENMA=+H At 30 April 2020 and
E-R-RFEHLH—H 1 May 2020 45,113 82,000 9,225 3,895 140,233
20197 R 975 7 95 AH B COVID-19-related rent
A 4 B8l concession - . (90) _ (90)
[Ci§= iR Financing cash flows 2,746 4,000 (5,296) 9,518) (8,068)
Al A Finance costs — - 335 8,431 8,766
il B 45 L U 1 Net cash generated from
(T ) B4 i 4 (used in) financing
cash flows 2,746 4,000 (5,051) (1,087) 608
KBETHE Lease modified = = (60) = (60)
T B R AR Reclassification to liabilities
ffi classified as held for sale = (6,000) = = (6,000)
RZZZ—EMA=1+H At 30 April 2021 47,859 80,000 4,114 2,808 134,781
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49. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries, which are limited liability companies,
at 30 April 2021 and 30 April 2020 are as follows:

HR
Ak MR/
at /A C#ITR
Place of N BRBA
incorporation/ EREA Issued and A B e A R R A R B ERE 2 L
it 5 2% ¥ 44 1 registration/ Form of fully paid up Proportion of equity interests and FEEHR
Name of subsidiary operations legal entity share capital voting rights held by the Company Principal activities
“Ek L
2021 2020
Hi% Ifl % H# Mtk
Directly  Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
HERRARAF KRBT AR LA % 100% - 100% - REER
Apex Gain Global Limited BVI Limited Company Ordinary US$1 Investment holding
BRI ARAR 4 £ HRAH LERAL1005% - 100% - 100% fEHER
Blue Pool Ventures Limited Samoa Limited Company Ordinary US$100 Investment holding
RESEARAR KRBETARE AR LA T 100% - 100% - EERE
Conkar Investments Limited BVI Limited Company Ordinary US$1 Securities investment
B EEARAT & ARAR TERA LT - 100% - 100%  #%5EE
First Occasion Limited Hong Kong Limited Company Ordinary HKS$1 Securities investment
SRFEARAT i ARAH LBBAET - 100% = 100% 5
Gold Medal Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong Limited Company Ordinary HK$1 Money lending
Instant Victory Global Limited AR B AR LA 100% - 100% - RERRK
BVI Limited Company 50,0003 7 Investment holding
Ordinary
US$50,000
HEEEHRAT SRR G AR LR A0 100% - 100% - BEER
Jubilee Treasure Investments Limited BVI Limited Company ~ Ordinary HK$780 Investment holding
(e EEERARA T i AR Efilies - 100% = 100% HEER
Mass Fidelity Asset Management Limited ~ Hong Kong Limited Company 200,000 76 Assets management
Ordinary
HK$200,000
FEGGT TRERARAE ((FE) K AR LA - 51% = 51% KRB
Sense Key Design Holdings Limited Hong Kong Limited Company 10004 ¢ Fitting out business
(“Sense Key”) Ordinary
HK$1,000
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49. A 2 ] F R 2§ RE 49. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
(#0) SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)
REMRAL/
AL/ B CHITR
Place of EA B RA
incorporation/ HREL Issued and TR T A7 W A R A B
it 6 % ¥ 45 1 registration/ Form of fully paid up Proportion of equity interests and FEEHK
Name of subsidiary operations legal entity share capital voting rights held by the Company Principal activities
gk “EF
2021 2020

H#% Il H& il &
Directly Indirectly Directly  Indirectly

ERTRARAT (TER]) i ARAT il - 0% - 0% RETHEEES st
1.226.667# ¢ W HERRE
DYk 2 A
BB LR
B Y8
Sinogain Engineering Limited Hong Kong Limited Company Ordinary Trading, design, sales,
(“Sinogain”) HK$1,226,667 repairs and maintenance

of gondolas and parapet
railings and access
equipment installation

and maintenance
services
KR A A R i AIRATH WA - 100% - 100% HEmHTER
10,0001 ¢
Skylon International Limited Hong Kong Limited Company Ordinary Gondolas rental
HK$10,000
REEHE HHRAA Fik HRAH T A - 100% - 100%  # {itHl o it o
10,000 72
Skyway Transport & Trading Company Hong Kong Limited Company Ordinary Provision of
Limited HK$10,000 transportation
services
REBEARAT PR AR ARAT L@ERAIET 100% - 100% - fEER
Starry Lake Investments Limited BVI Limited Company Ordinary US$1 Investment holding
RERBA R KRERARE AR LA 100% T 100% - 100% - REER
Talent Gain International Limited BVI Limited Company ~ Ordinary US$100 Investment holding
FEARAT AR AIRAT LERA1005% 100% - 100% - fEER
Up Billion Limited BVI Limited Company Ordinary US$100 Investment holding
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

49. A 2 ] F R 2§ RE

49. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

(#0) SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)
REMRAL/
AL/ B CHITR
Place of EA B A&
incorporation/ HREL Issued and TR T A7 W A R A B
[ TR registration/ Form of fully paid up Proportion of equity interests and FUEREH
Name of subsidiary operations legal entity share capital voting rights held by the Company Principal activities
gk “EF
2021 2020
H#% Il H# fif &
Directly Indirectly Directly  Indirectly
HEEARAR PR AR ARAH S § 1 ZSESH 100% - 100% - HENE
Upright Victory Limited BVI Limited Company Ordinary US$1 Securities investment
WLS (BVI) Limited KRERARE AR e 100% - 100% - REER
38,510% 7T
BVI Limited Company Ordinary Investment holding
US$38,510
HEABR AT A 7 KRR RS ARAR TER AT 100% - 100% - RERR
World Lion Global Limited BVI Limited Company Ordinary US$1 Investment holding
EEIREEERAR it HRAH LERA - 100% - 100%  SREER G AR
10,0001 7C
WLS Contractors Limited Hong Kong Limited Company Ordinary Provision of management
HK$10,000 contracting services
ERBMARL A it A LA - 100% = 100% B B P
100,000 72
Wui Loong Consultancy Company Hong Kong Limited Company Ordinary Provision of consultancy
Limited HK$100,000 services
TERESE A R 7 i AR e - 100% = 100%  WFEREA
100,000 ¢
Wui Loong Holdings Company Limited Hong Kong Limited Company Ordinary Property holding
HKS$100,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

49. A 2 ] F R 2§ RE 49. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
(%) SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)
aE ML/
GLVE & k] CHITR
Place of EA B RA
incorporation/ HREL Issued and TR T A7 W A R A B
it 6 % ¥ 45 1 registration/ Form of fully paid up Proportion of equity interests and FEEHK
Name of subsidiary operations legal entity share capital voting rights held by the Company Principal activities
gk “EF
2021 2020

H#% Il H& il &
Directly Indirectly Directly  Indirectly

TR (7l ) WA R/ Fik ARAH L@RAET - 100% - 100% AR A5 E T
Wui Loong (H.K.) Scaffolding Hong Kong Limited Company Ordinary HK$2 Scaffolding works
Works Company Limited business
ERERARLH it A TakA - 100% = 100% R4 IR IR
10,0007 2
Wui Loong Resources Limited Hong Kong Limited Company Ordinary Provision of management
HK$10,000 services
TR A IR 2 A Ei AR TiE AT - 100% = 100% R kR
ECRR
TR (W)
1,900,000% ¢
Wui Loong Scaffolding Works Company ~ Hong Kong Limited Company Ordinary HK$2 Scaffolding works
Limited Non-voting business
deferred (Note)
HK$1,900,000
BB AR T Fik ARAT il - 100% - 100% B
100,000 1T
Wui Luen Engineering Company Limited ~ Hong Kong Limited Company Ordinary Fitting out business
HK$100,000
R e 4R SRR IE R A A\ A IR B Note: The non-voting deferred shares carry no rights to dividends, no rights to attend
R P ROR o B AE o E AR IR AR A or vote at general meetings and no rights to receive any surplus assets in a return
2R W& 4 P AT A R R (ME Y bk of capital in a winding-up (other than one half of the balance of such assets after
T M A IR T AR AN ED A R R A 1,000,000 the sum of HK$100,000 billion has been distributed to the holders of the ordinary
T IO 2 B B ) — 2R A BR IR AL o shares of the Company in such winding-up).

R B E R EON Y BN A S A e The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion

B R E W TR A 2 AN ED M R S F e of the Directors, materially affected the results of the Group or formed a
TR A A A B A R 2 R A R TR substantial portion of the net assets. To give details of other subsidiaries
IR - would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

50 EA ERJEEEREAE 2 Ik 50. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY-OWNED
EEMB A ZFEE SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

FRBHEEERIFLERME S 2 AL L The table below shows details of non wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Group
o s m) 2 REA that have material non-controlling interests:

12 I W 4 £ B2 1 ST TP e 2 2

kM 3 5 HE & R B LAl 2 () AR
EX 3 -£41 Proportion of ownership Total comprehensive Rt e b 4
W 2 ) 44 1 Place of incorporation and  interests and voting rights held (income) expense attributable Accumulated
Name of subsidiary principal place of business by non-controlling interests  to non-controlling interests  non-controlling interests
TEROE CRCRE CRT DR CO%E DR DR CRE
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

T Tt T Tt
HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$°000

fos il 49% 49% (268) 1,868 6,373 6,641
Sense Key Hong Kong
P8 il 30% 30% 453 3 7,092 6,639
Sinogain Hong Kong

A% A B AT B ORI JRORE A 7Y — [H] K R Summarised financial information in respect of a material subsidiary of

2N T Y A BT R ME A8 4N TR o DA R AR Y BA B the Group that has material non-controlling interests is set out below.
AR R A AT 2 m R 4 The summarised financial information below represents amounts before

intra-group eliminations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

50. B4 K IR P RE A 2 50. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY-OWNED
2B W& A w25 w0 SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (CONTINUED)
FRER R LRERA R AT Sense Key Design Holdings Limited
—E T 515 — % = Eﬁ
2021 2020
T T THs 7T
HK$’000 HK$°000
I B Non-current assets 132 210
i B Current assets 1,484 3,303
mE A1 Current liabilities (14,623) (17,067)
EN/NEIER TSN R g Equity attributable to the owners of
the Company (6,634) (6,913)
Ik FE I ME 25 Non-controlling interests (6,373) (6,641)
A Revenue 10,649 9,697
L Expenses (10,103) (13,509)
AR A (EHR) B2 TH IR 58 Profit (loss) and total comprehensive
(i) % income (expense) for the year 546 (3,812)
DA N AL 4F B 3 R (s ) & Profit (loss) and total comprehensive
TE AR () M income (expense) for the year attributable to:
KA FRA N Owners of the Company 278 (1,944)
I P I RE 2 Non-controlling interests 268 (1,868)
546 (3,812)
AT (A B & Net cash generated from (used in)
operating activities 1,634 (1,496)
WESERS (TR TS 8 & A Net cash (used in) generated from
financing activities (1,588) 1,397
BHEemA i) F8 Net cash inflow (outflow) 46 (99)
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

B RESULTS
BEWA=1HIREE
Year ended 30 April
SERO ZERCRE ZE-E ZEF-NE ZF-LE
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
Tl T T T T T T T
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HKS$’000
(&HE )
(restated)
RERE Continuing operations
Wi 3 Revenue 150,206 139,516 179,503 152,175 185,633
B4 B A Cost of sales (78,164) (80,759) (119,351) (98,813) (138,499)
BH Gross profit 72,042 58,757 60,152 53,362 47,134
HAt g A Other income 6,647 2,215 1,898 3,462 12,456
HAbd £ K (F518) Other gains and (losses) (47,356) (78,194) (30,401) (108,401) 923
B RATEE Operating and administrative
expenses (42,680) (43,996) (41,000) (75,693) (70,811)
HEWMEZ NTE Fair value changes on
) investment properties (4,500) (8,080) 410 12,000 4,350
W EY) 3 WS S Gain on disposal of
Z W s property, plant and equipment 829 81 80 584 853
VES VT Loss on disposal and write-off of
2B TR R 1R property, plant and equipment (391) (25) (28) (1,190) (1,592)
& —RKEARZ  Gain on disposal of a subsidiary
i 4 12,255 = = = 2,309
T R A Impairment losses recognised
TesR 2 W fH 18 in respect of goodwill and
intangible asset - (34,954) (32,666) - -
Tl A Finance costs (9,775) (9,795) (8,565) (6,593) (5,232)
MEL T % A Fl 2 2E45 Share of results of associates - - - - 176
I B8 T M 4 Loss before taxation (12,929) (113,991) (50,120) (122,469) (9,434)
BiIH Taxation (6) 8,986 (463) (257) (5,211)
AR B R Loss for the year (12,935) (105,005) (50,583) (122,726) (14,645)
& kA ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
RWH=+H
At 30 April
TR ZF2FE R ZF-NFE ZF—LF
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
Tl T T T T T 7T T 7T
HK$’000 HK$"000 HKS$000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000
MEE Total assets 711,065 732,119 798,250 928,494 952,711
AR Total liabilities (202,177) (207,770) (163,620) (218,045) (170,454)
508,888 524,349 634,630 710,449 782,257
EN/NGIESZEDN Equity attributable to the owners
JRE A HE 4 of the Company 521,353 537,629 646,039 727,256 786,126
I e P 1 4 Non-controlling interests (12,465) (13,280) (11,409) (16,807) (3,869)
508,888 524,349 634,630 710,449 782,257
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SCHEDULE OF PROPERTIES

REoFZHNA=THZHRE

UES

o 3 At

Description

ik
Use

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AS AT 30 APRIL

2021

1B 40 8 8 1 A

(CEFMW)
Approximate ik B
saleable area Vacant
(square feet) Status

A K B Al

HMEEX BT A I
Held Percentage of the
under  Group’s interest

&k
A1
T M1 35 A 21082123 %
(75 it 1 Hh Bta23 %)
Unit 21-23 on 10/F,
Tower A, Southmark,
No. 11 Yip Hing Street,
Hong Kong
(Aberdeen Inland Lot No. 423)

2)  Hik
A1
T TE 15 35 A B 10125275
(75 it 1 Hh Btd23 %)
Unit 25-27 on 10/F,
Tower A, Southmark,
No. 11 Yip Hing Street,
Hong Kong
(Aberdeen Inland Lot No. 423)

[0l

Commercial

[0

Commercial

* HREWECR _E_—HERA=T—HE

o
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1,756 A
Rented

2,285 i
Rented

R#HE 100%

Long term lease

R#HE 100%

Long term lease

* The investment properties were sold on 31 May 2021.
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